

Fachbereich Mathematik und Informatik der Freien Universität Berlin

Elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.) eingereicht am Fachbereich Mathematik und Informatik der Freien Universität Berlin

von

Anna Fluder

Berlin

Juni 2014

Erstgutachterin: Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. mult. Hélène Esnault

Zweitgutachter:Professor Aise Johan de Jong

Tag der Disputation: 24.11.2014

Mojej mamie

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to have had Prof. Hélène Esnault as my thesis advisor. She has always been motivating, encouraging, enlightening, supportive, kind and very generous with her time. The subject of this thesis was given to the author by her.

I would like to thank Prof. Georg Hein for many enjoyable conversations on vector bundles and especially for the beautiful idea for the proof of Theorem 1.2.3.

I am very grateful to Dr. Kay Rülling for taking an interest in my work, his patience, flexibility, many helpful conversations and reading first drafts of this thesis. Ideas for proofs from Section 3.1 and Section 4.4 come partially from him.

I would like to thank Deutsche Forschungsgesellschaft for financing my studies in the framework of the transregional research project SFB/TR 45 "Periods, moduli spaces and arithmetic of algebraic varieties".

I also wish to thank Prof. Moritz Kerz and the University of Regensburg for the warm welcome and supporting a part of my Ph.D.

My time in Essen was made enjoyable in large part due to friends. I would like to give my thanks for the great atmosphere at the university. I also must acknowledge my deep thanks to Emel Bilgin, Gesa Terstiege and Franziska Schneider for their friendship.

I would like to thank Ivan Barrientos for his constant support and love.

I also owe my loving thanks to my family. Without their encouragement and understanding it would have been impossible for me to finish this work.

Contents

Ac	cknowledgements	vii	
In	troduction	xi	
Conventions and notations		xiv	
1	Vector bundles on elliptic curves	1	
	1.1 Vector bundles on curves	1	
	1.2 Semistability of tensor product on elliptic curves	4	
	1.3 Torsion sheaves on elliptic curves	6	
2	Elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves	9	
	2.1 The minimal model of a relative elliptic curve	9	
	2.2 The Weierstraß equation of a relative elliptic curve	12	
	2.3 Counting elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves	19	
3	The set $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$	23	
	3.1 Finiteness of the set $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$	23	
	3.2 Counting elements of the set $A_{C,\omega}$	32	
	3.2.1 Semistable case	37	
	3.2.2 Unstable case	47	
	3.2.3 Sum of three line bundles	57	
	3.3 The asymptotic limit	59	
4	Three kinds of sets	65	
	4.1 The set $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$	65	
	4.2 The set $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$	66	
	4.3 The set $C_{C,\omega}$	67	
	4.4 Maps between the three sets	69	
	4.5 $C_{C,\omega}$ and Mordell Weil groups	74	
Le	Lebenslauf		
Zusammenfassung		87	
Eic	Eidesstattliche Erklärung		

Introduction

Let *k* be a finite field. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over *k* and let k(C) be the function field of *C* over *k*. The main objects of study of this dissertation are elliptic curves over k(C). To begin, we wish to give the reader a small motivation for the problem we will consider.

Let f(x, y) be a polynomial in two variables with \mathbb{Q} coefficients and consider the algebraic curve given by the zero set of f, i.e.

$$C: f(x,y) = 0.$$

Suppose moreover that *C* has a rational point. It was already known to the ancient Greeks that if *C* is a conic (g(C) = 0) with a rational point, then *C* always has infinitely many rational points and it was proven by G. Faltings [Fal86] that a curve *C* of genus g(C) > 1 never does. The most interesting case is g(C) = 1, i.e for *C* an elliptic curve. Here the rational points are not completely understood.

Let us briefly recall what elliptic curves are. An elliptic curve (E, O) over \mathbb{Q} is the projective closure of a curve defined by an affine Weierstraß equation

$$E_{A,B}: \ y^2 = x^3 + Ax + B \tag{0.1}$$

for some $A, B \in \mathbb{Q}$ satisfying $4A^3 + 27B^2 \neq 0$. These curves are the simplest examples of projective algebraic groups of positive dimension. The abelian group $E(\mathbb{Q})$ of rational points on *E* is finitely generated [Mor22] and hence

$$E(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Z}^r \oplus (\text{ torsion })$$

for some nonnegative integer *r* and some finite abelian group (torsion). The torsion subgroup is well understood [Maz78]. The number *r* measures the number of points needed to generate all rational points on the curve and it is called the (Mordell-Weil) rank of an elliptic curve. Hence the rank carries information about the elliptic curve and its rational points. Already in 1901 H. Poincare asked [Poi01] an important question

"What is the range of possibilities for the minimum number of generators of $E(\mathbb{Q})$?"

There are algorithms that compute the rank for given *A* and *B* of bounded size, but no general method is known.

There are however some results about how the rank behaves on average. Consider the set \mathcal{E} consisting of elliptic curves $E_{A,B}$ given by the equation (0.1) and such that (0.1) is minimal (i.e. there is no $u \neq \pm 1$ such that u^6 divides A and u^4 divides B). We order these elliptic curves by their height, which we define as $H(E_{A,B}) = H(A;B) := \max\{4|A^3|, 27B^2\}$. Let $X \in \mathbb{R}$ and take $\mathcal{E}_{<X} := \{E_{AB} \in \mathcal{E} : H(E_{AB}) < X\}$. Consider the average rank

$$\rho \coloneqq \lim_{X \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{E_{A,B} \in \mathcal{E}_{
(0.2)$$

(if the limit exists). It is conjectured (Goldfeld, Katz-Sarnak) that $\rho = \frac{1}{2}$. Recently M. Bhargava and A. Shankar [BS10] proved, that

$$\limsup_{X \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{E_{A,B} \in \mathcal{E}_{$$

and that $\liminf_{X\to\infty}$ is non-zero (see [Poo12] for an overview about average ranks of elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q}).

It is natural to ask if one can obtain a result similar to the work of M. Bhargava and A. Shankar in the function field case. Let us first recall this set up. Let k be a finite field of characteristic $p \ge 5$. Let C be a smooth, geometrically connected, projective curve over k and let k(C) be the function field of C over k. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C), i.e. a curve of genus 1 defined by an affine Weierstraß equation

$$y^2 = x^3 + A_4 x + A_6 \tag{0.3}$$

with $A_i \in k(C)$ and $\Delta = 4a_4^3 + 27A_6^2 \neq 0$. Néron [Ner] proved that the Mordell-Weil group E(k(C)) of k(C)-rational points on E is finitely generated. And therefore we can consider the (Mordell-Weil) rank r(E(k(C))) of E over k(C). Again the torsion subgroup is well understood, see [KM, Theorem 2.3.1]. To define the average rank we need the notion of a height of an elliptic curve over a function field. It is a little more complicated compared with the height over \mathbb{Q} . Every elliptic curve (E,O)over a function field k(C) has its minimal model i.e. an elliptic surface $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$, where \mathcal{E} is a unique smooth and proper surface over k admitting a flat and relatively minimal morphism f to C with generic fiber E/k(C). We define the height h(E,O) of an elliptic curve (E,O) as the degree of the line bundle $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}$. The height is defined as $h(E,O) = \deg_C(f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C})$. Now we can consider the average rank of elliptic curves over k(C) of height d

$$AR_{d} = \frac{\sum_{\substack{[(E,O)];h(E)=d}} r(E(k(C)))}{\sum_{\substack{[(E,O)];h(E)=d}} 1}$$

The closest result to the work of M. Bhargava and A. Shankar in the function field case is a theorem of of A. J. de Jong who proved that in the case $C = \mathbb{P}_k^1$ and $p \ge 7$ we have

$$\limsup_{q \to \infty} \limsup_{d \to \infty} AR_d \le \frac{3}{2}.$$
 (0.4)

Remark 0.0.1. We would like to mention that de Jong's work predates the work of M. Bhargava and A. Shankar.

The crucial part of the paper [deJ02] consists of showing that the following bound holds

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d-1} \sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E(k(C)))} - 1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \le \frac{3q^9}{(q^3 - 1)(q^2 - 1)^2(q - 1)^2} dq^{-10d-1}$$

which he obtains by counting integral models of geometric objects representing elements of Mordell-Weil groups (In fact A. J. de Jong proves a stronger result, namely he bounds the average 3-Selmer rank, however as we are only interested in average ranks we do not recall it here). For an overview about average ranks over function fields see [Ulm04].

In this dissertation we treat the case when C = (C, O) is an elliptic curve over k. The main result the author has obtained is the following bound

Theorem 4.5.10 Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field $k = \mathbb{F}_q$ with q elements and of characteristic p > 7. Let $\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^n})$ denotes the number of \mathbb{F}_{q^n} -rational points of C. Then

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \left(\sum_{[(E,O)], h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)} - 1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \right) \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) A}{(q-1)^5 (q+1)^2 q}, \tag{0.5}$$

where the sum is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height d and the number A is given by

$$A = 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)q^8 + (2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2)q^7$$

$$+ (\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}}) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{3}})^{3} + 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q}) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}})^{2})q^{6} + (-2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}})^{2} - 4\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})^{2})q^{4} \\ + (-2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{3}})^{3} - 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q}) - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}})^{2} - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}}))q^{4} \\ + (\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}})^{2} + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})^{2} + 4)q^{3} \\ + (\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{3}})^{3} + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}})^{2} + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})^{2} - 1 + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q}) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^{2}}))q^{2} - 2q + 1$$

Remark 0.0.2. We would like to mention that as much as for the function field case of \mathbb{P}^1_k (de Jong) there is a corresponding statement over rational numbers (Bhargava-Shankar). We do not have a corresponding bound on the number theory side.

To prove the theorem we apply the construction of A. J. de Jong from [deJ02]. We first define a set $A_{C,d}$, whose elements are elliptic families. We prove that it is finite and bound its number of elements. Then we show that $A_{C,d}$ has a subset whose elements correspond to elements of Mordell-Weil groups.

Observe that the polynomial A in the variable q has degree 8 (as well as the dominator of (0.5)) and leading coefficient $2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)$. The main difference between the rational function field case and the case of the function field of an elliptic curve is that in our case, the number of the \mathbb{F}_q -rational points of the elliptic curve contributes to the limit. This is due to the fact that we can identify an elliptic curve with its dual and therefore the number of line bundles of a given degree is equal to the number of its k-rational points.

Furthermore, the author believes that the bound

$$\limsup_{q \to \infty} \limsup_{d \to \infty} AR_d \le \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) \tag{0.6}$$

holds. One should be able to write and solve a recurrency similar to [deJ02, Proposition 4.12] and get a lower bound for the number of weighted number of ismorphism classes of elliptic curves over k(C) of a given height d. This bound should be $\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)q^{10d-1}F(q)$ where F(q) is some rational function in q and then by a similar argument as in the proof of [deJ02, Corollary 1.3] (0.6) should hold. As the group of k-rational points of C can be large, this bound would not be comparable to any of the bounds of M. Bhargava and A. Shankar or A. J. de Jong, but no other precise information in this case is known.

Let us give a few words about the structure of the thesis. In Chapter 1.3 we introduce basic facts about vector bundles on elliptic curves, which we need especially in Chapter 3. In Chapter 2 we give necessary definitions and prove important results, about elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves and give

an upper bound the weighted number of their isomorphism classes. Chapters 3 and 4 are the ingredients to prove the main result. In particular Sections 3.1, 3.2 of Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 are theoretical and Sections 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3 and 3.3 are computational.

Conventions and notations

- (i) We denote by *k* a finite field with $q = p^e$ elements of characteristic $p \ge 5$ and we work in the category of schemes of finite type over *k*. For a finite set *X* by #*X* we denote, the number of elements in *X*.
- (ii) A curve is a geometrically integral variety over *k* of dimension 1, similarly a surface is a geometrically integral variety of dimension 2.
- (iii) An elliptic curve defined over a field *K* is a couple (*C*, *O*), where *C* is a smooth projective curve of genus 1 defined over *K* and *O* is a fixed *K*-rational point of *C*. By Aut(*E*, *O*) we denote the group of automorphisms of the elliptic curve *E*, that preserve the rational point *O*.
- (iv) An elliptic surface is a morphism $f : X \to C$ of a smooth projective surface to a smooth projective curve *C* whose generic fibre X_{η} is a smooth curve of genus 1 over $\kappa(\eta)$. An isomorphism of elliptic surfaces $f_1 : X_1 \to C$ and $f_2 : X_2 \to C$ is an isomorphism of surfaces $\phi : X_1 \to X_2$ such that it commutes with maps to *C*, $f_1 = f_2 \circ \phi$. If $f : X \to C$ admits a section σ (a map $\sigma : C \to X$ such that $f \circ \sigma = id_C$), then by Aut $(f : X \to C, \sigma)$ we denote the group of automorphisms $\phi : X \to X$ over *C*, that preserve the given section $\sigma, \phi \circ \sigma = \sigma$.
- (v) Let *X* be a smooth surface. A (-1)-curve in *X* is a closed sub scheme $C \subset X$ such that $C \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{k'}$ for some field extension $k \subset k'$ and such that $\mathcal{N}_C X \cong \mathcal{O}_C(-1)$.
- (vi) An elliptic surface $f: X \to C$ is called relatively minimal if there are no (-1)curves contained in the fibers of f. This is equivalent to saying, that every birational morphism of elliptic surfaces $\varphi : X_1 \to X_2$ over C is an isomorphism.

Chapter 1

Vector bundles on elliptic curves

This chapter contains basic facts about vector bundles on elliptic curves, which we use in later chapters, especially in Chapter 3. Section 1.1 includes general informations about vector bundles on curves, we give definitions of a semi-stable vector bundle, globally generated vector bundle, and their properties. We recall Riemann-Roch Theorem and vanishing of cohomology of semi-stable vector bundles. In Section 1.2 we show that on an elliptic curve over a finite field tensor product of semi-stable vector bundles is semi-stable. This is a well known fact, see [Sun99], [IMP03] however we include our proof here as it is elementary and uses only geometry of an elliptic curve. The idea of the proof comes from Georg Hein. In Section 1.3 we recall some facts about torsion sheaves on elliptic curves. The reader familiar with those notions may skip this chapter. We would like to point out, that in this chapter *k* is a field of an arbitrary positive characteristic *p* (not necessarily $p \ge 5$).

1.1 Vector bundles on curves

Let *k* be a finite field of characteristic p > 0. Let *C* be a smooth projective curve of genus *g* over *k*. If *E* is a vector bundle on *C*, we define the slope $\mu(E)$ of *E* as $\mu(E) = deg(E)/rk(E)$. Moreover we define the (semi)stability condition as follows.

Definition 1.1.1. A vector bundle E on C is stable, if for all proper subbundles $E' \subsetneq E$ we have the inequality $\mu(E') < \mu(E)$. A vector bundle E on C is semi-stable, if for all subbundles $E' \subseteq E$ we have the inequality $\mu(E') \le \mu(E)$.

If *E* is not semi-stable, we say *E* is unstable.

Remark 1.1.2. In general one defines (semi)stability condition for subsheaves, however since we are dealing with vector bundles on smooth projective curves, instead of subsheaves we are allowed to restrict ourselves only to subbundles, see page 73 of [LeP].

Suppose now that *K* is an extension field of *k*. Let *E* be a vector bundle on *C*. Form

the base extension



The degree and rank are preserved under the base extension $k \rightarrow K$ [Lan75, page 97], hence is the slope $\mu(v^*E) = \mu(E)$.

Definition 1.1.3. A vector bundle E on C is geometrically stable, if for any base field extension $C_K \rightarrow C$ the pull back $E \otimes_k K$ is stable. A vector bundle E on C is geometrically semi-stable, if for any base field extension $C_K \rightarrow C$ the pull back $E \otimes_k K$ is semi-stable.

Proposition 1.1.4. [Lan75, Proposition 3] Let E be a vector bundle on C. Then

E is semi-stable \iff *E* is geometrically semi-stable

However there exist vector bundles that are stable but not geometrically stable (see: [ArEl92]).

We use the convention from [HL, Notation 1.2.5]. If in a statement both (semi)stable and (\leq) appear, then the statement stands for two, one with stable and strict inequality and the other with semi-stable and the non-strict inequality.

One can consider quotients $E \twoheadrightarrow E'$ to obtain an equivalent statement of (semi)stability.

Lemma 1.1.5. [*Hei10*, *Proposition 2.6*] A vector bundle on C is (semi)stable if and only if for all quotients $E \rightarrow E'$ we have

$$\mu(E)(\leq)\mu(E').$$

We also recall the Riemann-Roch theorem and Serre duality for curves.

Theorem 1.1.6. For a vector bundle E on C we have

$$h^{0}(C, E) - h^{1}(C, E) = \deg(E) - \operatorname{rk}(E)(g-1).$$

The $h^1(C, E)$ *-dimensional vector space* $H^1(C, E)$ *is dual to* $H^0(C, \omega_C \otimes E^{\vee})$ *.*

Lemma 1.1.7. *Let E be a vector bundle on C. For any subbundle* $F \subseteq E$

$$\mu(F) \le h^0(C, E) + (g - 1). \tag{1.2}$$

Proof. If *F* is a subbundle of *E*, then

$$H^0(C,F) \subseteq H^0(C,E).$$

Moreover by Riemann-Roch we have

$$h^{0}(C, F) = \deg(F) - \operatorname{rk}(F)(g-1) + h^{1}(C, F) \ge \deg(F) - \operatorname{rk}(F)(g-1).$$

Hence

$$\mu(F) \le h^0(C, E) + (g-1)$$

(1.1)

An unstable vector bundle contains subbundles, that destabilize it, among those we distinguish the unique one of the maximal slope.

Definition/Proposition 1.1.8. [HL, Lemma 1.3.5] Assume that *E* is not semi-stable. There exists a subbundle $E_1 \subset E$ of the maximal slope among (1.2) and the maximal possible rank. It is unique and semi-stable. The vector bundle E_1 is called the maximal destabilizing subbundle of *E*.

One of the most important facts in the theory of vector bundles is that, every vector bundle can be uniquely classified by semi-stable bundles.

Theorem 1.1.9. [LeP, Proposition 5.4.2] Each vector bundle E on C has a unique filtration

$$0 = E_0 \subsetneqq E_1 \subset E_2 \subset \dots \subset E_m = E \tag{1.3}$$

such that all the factors

 E_i/E_{i-1}

are semi-stable bundles with

$$\mu(E_1) > \mu(E_2/E_1) > \dots > \mu(E/E_{m-1}).$$

The filtration (1.3) is called the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of E.

The basic properties of semi-stable vector bundles are collected in the following proposition.

Proposition 1.1.10. [*Hei10*, *Proposition 2.6*] Let *E* and *F* be two vector bundles on a smooth projective curve C of genus g over k. Then

i)
$$\mu(E \otimes F) = \mu(E) + \mu(F)$$

- *ii)* E is (semi)stable $\iff E^{\vee}$ is (semi)stable.
- *iii)* If E is semi-stable of slope $\mu(E) < 0$, then $h^0(C, E) = 0$.
- *iv)* If M is a line bundle on C, then E is (semi)stable $\iff E \otimes M$ is (semi)stable.
- *v*) If *E* is semi-stable and $\mu(E) > 2g 2$, then $h^1(C, E) = 0$.

Definition 1.1.11. A vector bundle *E* is generated by its global sections at a point $P \in C$ (or globally generated at *P*) if the images of the global sections of *E* (i.e., elements of $\Gamma(C, E)$) in the stalk E_P generate that stalk as a $\mathcal{O}_{C,P}$ -module.

Definition 1.1.12. *A vector bundle E is generated by its global sections (or globally generated) if it is generated by its global sections at each point* $P \in C$.

This is equivalent to the surjectivity of the map

$$\Gamma(C,E)\otimes_k \mathcal{O}_C \to E,$$

and to the fact that *E* is a quotient

$$\mathcal{O}_C^{\oplus M} \to E \to 0$$

where *M* is a positive integer.

Proposition 1.1.13. *Consider the diagram* (1.1). *Let E be a vector bundle on C.*

E is globally generated $\iff v^*E$ is globally generated.

Proof. Assume, that *E* is globally generated. Since $\Gamma(C, E) \otimes_k \mathcal{O}_C = f^* f_* E$, the vector bundle *E* is globally generated if and only if the adjunction morphism

$$f^*f_*E \xrightarrow{\phi} E \tag{1.4}$$

is surjective. The morphism v is faithfully flat, therfore (1.4) is surjective if and only if the map

$$v^* f^* f_* E \xrightarrow{v^* \phi} v^* E \tag{1.5}$$

is surjective. As *u* is flat, from [Har, Proposition 9.3] we have

$$v^*f^*f_*(E) = (f \circ v)^*f_*(E) = (u \circ g)^*f_*(E) = g^*u^*f_*(E) = g^*g_*v^*(E).$$

Hence the map (1.4) is surjective if and only if the map

$$g^*g_*v^*(E) \xrightarrow{\phi} v^*(E)$$

is surjective, however this is the condition that $v^*(E)$ needs to satisfy to be globally genereted. This finishes the proof of the proposition.

1.2 Semistability of tensor product on elliptic curves

Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over k. In this section, using elementary methods, we prove that the tensor product of semi-stable bundles on C is semi-stable. We also show, that the symmetric powers of a semi-stable vector bundle on C are semi-stable. The idea of the proof comes from Georg Hein.

Let us start with the following two lemmas.

Lemma 1.2.1. Let *F* be a semi-stable vector bundle on *C*, and *L* a line bundle on *C*. If $deg(L) \ge \lfloor \mu(F) \rfloor + 2$, then there exists an embedding

$$F \hookrightarrow L^{\oplus M}$$
,

for some positive integer M.

Proof. The condition for the degree of *L* and semi-stability of *F* imply that the vector bundle $F^{\vee} \otimes L$ is semi-stable of slope

$$\mu(F^{\vee} \otimes L) = \deg(L) - \mu(F)$$

> deg(L) - $\lfloor \mu(F) \rfloor$ - 1 \ge 1,

therefore $\mu(F^{\vee} \otimes L) > 1$. We claim that $F^{\vee} \otimes L$ is globally generated: By Proposition 1.1.13 it is enough to prove it for $v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)$ over C_K , where K is an algebraic closure of k. By Proposition 1.1.4 for any $P \in C_K$, the vector bundle $v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)(-P)$ is semi-stable of slope $\mu(v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)(-P)) = \mu(F^{\vee} \otimes L) - 1 > 0$, therefore

$$H^{1}(C_{K}, v^{*}(F^{\vee} \otimes L)(-P)) = 0$$
 (by Proposition 1.1.10).

Thus the long exact cohomology sequence coming from the exact sequence

$$0 \to v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)(-P) \to v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L) \to v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L) \otimes k(P) \to 0.$$

gives a surjection

$$H^0(C_K, v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)) \to H^0(C_K, v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L) \otimes k(P)).$$

Therefore by Nakayama's lemma $v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)$ is globally generated at every $P \in C_K$, and therefore $v^*(F^{\vee} \otimes L)$ is globally generated. Hence we proved the claim. Since $F^{\vee} \otimes L$ is globally generated, we have a surjective map

$$\mathcal{O}_C^{\oplus M} \to F^{\vee} \otimes L$$

Twisting with L^{\vee} and taking dual, give the desired injective map.

Lemma 1.2.2. Let F, F' be two vector bundles on C. For any subbundle G of $F \otimes F'$ we have the estimate

$$\mu(G) - \mu(F) - \mu(F') \le 4.$$

Proof. Let *L*, *L'* be line bundles on *C* with deg $L = \lfloor \mu(F) \rfloor + 2$ and deg $L' = \lfloor \mu(F') \rfloor + 2$. By Lemma 1.2.1 we get embeddings

$$F \hookrightarrow L^{\oplus M}$$

and

$$F' \hookrightarrow L'^{\oplus M'}.$$

Therefore every subbundle G we can ambed into the direct sum of line bundles

$$G \hookrightarrow F \otimes F' \hookrightarrow (L \otimes L')^{\oplus M \cdot M'}$$

The vector bundle $(L \otimes L')^{\oplus M \cdot M'}$ is a direct sum of line bundles of the same degree, hence is semi-stable of slope

$$\deg(L) + \deg(L') = \lfloor \mu(F) \rfloor + \lfloor \mu(F') \rfloor + 4.$$

Thus

$$\mu(G) - \mu(F) - \mu(F') \le \mu(G) - \lfloor \mu(F) \rfloor - \lfloor \mu(F') \rfloor \le 4.$$

and we obtain the result.

In the proof of the below theorem we use Lemma 3.2.1 and Lemma 3.2.2 from [HL]. In this reference the authors assume characteristic 0, however if we assume additionally that f is separable, then the proof works as well in finite characteristic.

Theorem 1.2.3. Let F and F' be two vector bundles on C. If F and F' are semi-stable, then $F \otimes F'$ is semi-stable.

Proof. Let ℓ be a prime number different from *p*. Consider the multiplication by ℓ map on *C*

$$[\ell] : C \to C$$
$$P \mapsto \ell P.$$

The morphism [ℓ] [KM, Theorem 2.3.1] is a degree ℓ^2 separable morphism of smooth curves, therefore

F is semi – stable $\Leftrightarrow [\ell]^* F$ is semi – stable (by Lemma 3.2.2 from [HL]).

Suppose that $F \otimes F'$ is not semi-stable. Let *G* be the maximal destabilizing subbundle of $F \otimes F'$. This gives

$$\mu(G) - \mu(F) - \mu(F') > 0.$$

Moreover [HL, Lemma 3.2.2], the vector bundle $[\ell]^*G$ is the maximal destabilizing subbundle of $[\ell]^*(F \otimes F')$ with slope $\mu([\ell]^*G) = \ell^2 \mu(G)$ [HL, Lemma 3.2.1]. Therefore using Lemma 1.2.2 we get

$$0 < \ell^2(\mu(G) - \mu(F') - \mu(F)) \le 4.$$

Taking ℓ large enough gives a contradiction and proves the result.

Theorem 1.2.4. Let *E* be a semi-stable vector bundle on *C*. Then for any *n*, the symmetric tensor $Sym^n E$ of *E* is semi-stable.

Proof. Let *E* be a semi-stable vector bundle on *C* of rank *r*. By [HL, page 65] the rank of Sym^{*n*}(*E*) is equal $rk(Sym^{n}E) = \binom{n+r-1}{r-1}$ and the determinant of Sym^{*n*}*E* is equal det(Sym^{*n*}*E*) = det $E^{\otimes \binom{n+r-1}{r}}$. Therefore

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{n} E) = \operatorname{deg}(E) \frac{(r-1)!n!}{(n-1)!r!} = n\mu(E) = \mu(E^{\otimes n}).$$

Hence the map

$$E^{\otimes n} \to \operatorname{Sym}^n E$$

is a surjective map of vector bundles of the same slope. Assume $\text{Sym}^n E$ is not semi-stable, then there exists a vector bundle *G* and a surjective map $\text{Sym}^n E \twoheadrightarrow G$ with $\mu(\text{Sym}^n E) < \mu(G)$. However this gives a surjective map $E^{\otimes n} \twoheadrightarrow G$, where $\mu(E^{\otimes n}) = \mu(\text{Sym}^n E) > \mu(G)$ and this contradicts the semistability of $E^{\otimes n}$.

1.3 Torsion sheaves on elliptic curves

References for the proposition below are [HP05, Proposition 4] and [Pol, Theorem 14.7, Remark on page 179].

Proposition 1.3.1. Let S(r, d) be the set of all isomorphism classes of semi-stable bundles of rank r and degree d. There is an isomorphism between S(r, d) and $\text{Torsion}_{\text{length}=(r,d)}$

$$\mathrm{FM}_{\mathcal{G}}$$
: Torsion_{length=(r,d)} $\rightarrow \mathcal{S}(r,d)$.

Moreover for semi-stable vector bundles F and F', such that $F = FM_G(T)$ and $F' = FM_G(T')$ we have

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{i}(F, F') = \operatorname{Ext}^{i}(\operatorname{FM}_{\mathcal{G}}(T), \operatorname{FM}_{\mathcal{G}}(T'))$$
$$= \operatorname{Ext}^{i}(T, T').$$

Here $\text{Torsion}_{\text{length}=(r,d)}$ denotes the set of isomorphism classes of coherent torsion sheaves *T* on *C* of length (r,d). As *T* is a dimension zero sheaf on a curve, it can be therefore written as a finite direct sum of coherent skyscraper sheaves $k_{P_i}^{m_i} = \mathcal{O}_{C,P_i}/\mathfrak{m}_{P_i}^{m_i}$ each supported at a closed point P_i of *C*

$$T = \bigoplus_{i=1}^m \mathcal{O}_{C,P_i} / \mathfrak{m}_{P_i}^{m_i}.$$

By the length of *T* we mean the length of *T* as $H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$ module, and hence $\ell(T) = \text{length}(T) = \chi(T)$, where the Euler characteristic is taken with respect to the base field *k*.

Proposition 1.3.2. *Let G be a semi-stable vector bundle on C of rank r and degree* 0*. Then we have the following estimate*

$$\dim_k \Gamma(C,G) \leq r.$$

Proof. Let $G = FM_{\mathcal{G}}(T)$, where *T* is a torsion sheaf of length $\ell(T) = \chi(G) = r$. By Proposition 1.3.1 we have

$$H^{0}(C,G) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_{C},G)$$

= $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{FM}_{\mathcal{G}}(k_{P_{0}}),\operatorname{FM}_{\mathcal{G}}(T))$
= $\operatorname{Hom}(k_{P_{0}},T).$

where k_{P_0} is a torsion sheaf of length 1 (P_0 is a *k*-rational point of *C*) associated to the line bundle \mathcal{O}_C . From the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(-P_0) \to \mathcal{O}_C \to k_{P_0} \to 0$$

we obtain the inclusion

$$0 \rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(k_{P_0}, T) \rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, T)$$

As

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{C}},T)=H^0(\mathsf{C},T)=k^{\oplus r}$$

we have $\dim_k \operatorname{Hom}(k_{P_0}, T) \leq r$.

Chapter 2

Elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves

In this chapter we focus on elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves over finite fields. We fix an elliptic curve (C,O) defined over a finite field k. By k(C) we denote the function field of C over k and (E,O) will always indicate an elliptic curve defined over the function field k(C). Firstly, this chapter provides the reader basic facts about elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves. For any (E,O) over k(C) we will define a smooth projective surface \mathcal{E} over k with a morphism $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ whose generic fiber is E. We will describe the connection between the arithmetic of \mathcal{E} and that of E. Although \mathcal{E} has a higher dimension than E, it is defined over the finite field k and as a result we have better control over its arithmetic. The results contained here are used in the later chapters and necessarily to prove the main result in Section 4, Chapter 3. Secondly, we will show, that the following bound holds.

Proposition. 2.3.1 *Let d be a positive integer and let* #C(k) *denote the number of k-rational points of C. Then*

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \le \#C(k)\frac{q^{10d}}{q-1},$$

the sum is taken over isomorphism classes [(E,O)] of elliptic curves (E,O) of height d over the function field k(C) and #Aut(E,O) denotes the number of automorphisms of (E,O).

In other words we give an upper bound for the number of isomorphism classes of elliptic curves of height $d \ge 0$ defined over k(C), where we always count [(E, O)] with the weight 1/#Aut(E, O). It is clear, that the number of automorphisms is preserved in the isomorphism class. The definition of the height of an elliptic curve can be found in Definition 2.1.10.

2.1 The minimal model of a relative elliptic curve

Let *k* be a finite field. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over *k* and let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C).

Proposition 2.1.1. [Liu, Chapter 10, Theorem 2.8] Let (E,O) be as above. Then

(i) For any field extension $k(C) \rightarrow K'$, and for any $(P, P') \in E(K') \times E(K')$, there exists a unique point $m_{K'}(P, P') \in E(K')$ such that

$$m_{K'}(P,P') + O \sim P + P'$$

as Cartier divisors on $E_{K'}$. The map $m_{K'}$ makes E(K') into a commutative group, with the unit element O. Moreover if $K' \subseteq K''$, then $m_{K'}$ is the restriction of $m_{K''}$.

- (ii) E has a structure of an abelian variety over k(C) such that O is the unit element and that for any extension K' of k(C), the group law on E(K') is induced by the algebraic group structure on E.
- (iii) Let $P \in E(k(C))$. Then there exists an automorphism of k(C)-schemes $T_P : E \to E$, called the translation by P, such that for any extension K' of k(C) the map $E(K') \to E(K')$ induced by T_P is the translation by P. Moreover by considering P as a point $P' \in E(K')$, $T_{P'}$ is obtained from T_P by a base change.

An elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) we can naturally associate with an elliptic surface $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ (the Kodaira-Néron model of E/k(C)), whose generic fibre is E.

Proposition 2.1.2. [Ulm, Lecture 3, Proposition 1.1] Let *E* be an elliptic curve over k(C), there exists a surface \mathcal{E} defined over *k* and a morphism $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ with the following properties: \mathcal{E} is smooth, absolutely irreducible, and projective over *k*, *f* is surjective and relatively minimal, and the generic fiber \mathcal{E}_{η} of *f* is isomorphic to *E*. The surface \mathcal{E} and the morphism *f* are uniquely determined up to isomorphism by these requirements.

The generic fibre of $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ means, the fiber product



Remark 2.1.3. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C). Since g(C) = 1 > 0 by [Liu, Section 9.3, Corollary 3.24] the relatively minimal surface $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ from Proposition 2.1.2 is in fact minimal.

Let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be the minimal elliptic surface associated with an elliptic curve E/k(C) (as in Proposition 2.1.2) and let $\mathcal{E}(C)$ denotes the set of sections of the structure morphism f:

 $\mathcal{E}(C) := \{ \text{ morphisms } \tau : C \to \mathcal{E} \text{ defined over } k \text{ such that } f \circ \tau = \mathrm{id}_C \}.$

Then every $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(C)$ defines an effective Cartier divisor in \mathcal{E}/C (which we also denote by τ) that is proper over *C* and has degree 1 (see: [KM, Lemma 1.2.7]). Moreover elements of $\mathcal{E}(C)$ are in a natural one-to-one correspondence with the k(C)-rational points of *E*.

Proposition 2.1.4. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C). Let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be the associated minimal elliptic surface from Proposition 2.1.2, then there is a bijection

$$\mathcal{E}(C) \cong E(k(C)).$$

Proof. Let $\tau : C \to \mathcal{E}$ be a section of f ($f \circ \tau = id_C$), then the restriction $P := \tau|_{\text{Spec}(k(C))}$ is a k(C)-rational point of E. Conversely, take a point $P \in E(k(C))$ and let $\overline{\{P\}}$ be the Zariski closure of $\{P\}$ in \mathcal{E} , endowed with the reduced subscheme structure. Then the restriction

$$f|_{\overline{\{P\}}}:\overline{\{P\}}\to C$$

is a proper birational morphism onto a non-singular curve *C*, which by Zariski's Main Theorem [Liu, Corollary 4.6] is an isomorphism. By taking the inverse we obtain a unique morphism

$$\tau:C\to \mathcal{E}$$

such that $\tau(C) = \overline{\{P\}}$ and then the equality

$$\tau \circ f = \mathrm{id}_C$$

follows automatically.

Definition 2.1.5. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C). Let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be the associated minimal elliptic surface from Proposition 2.1.2 and let $\sigma : C \to \mathcal{E}$ be the section of f associated with the k(C)-rational point O of E. The pair

$$(\mathcal{E},\sigma) \coloneqq (f:\mathcal{E} \to C,\sigma)$$

is called the minimal model for (E, O).

Furthermore the following proposition relates the automorphism group of (E, O) and the automorphism group of its minimal model (\mathcal{E}, σ) .

Proposition 2.1.6. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) and let (\mathcal{E}, σ) be the minimal model for (E, O). Then there is a bijection

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{E},\sigma) \cong \operatorname{Aut}_{k(\mathcal{C})}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\eta(\sigma)) \cong \operatorname{Aut}(E,O).$$

Proof. Every automorphism $\varphi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ over *C* of the minimal model \mathcal{E} is compatible with the *C*-scheme structure of \mathcal{E} . If $\varphi \circ \sigma = \sigma$, in particular we get $\varphi(\sigma(\eta)) = \sigma(\eta)$. Conversely, let $\alpha : \mathcal{E}_{\eta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\eta}$ be an automorphism over k(C), such that $\alpha(\sigma(\eta)) = \sigma(\eta)$. It then induces a birational morphism $\alpha' : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ and as $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ is minimal α' is a morphism. Applying the same argument to α^{-1} , we see that α' is an automorphism. The equality $\varphi \circ \sigma = \sigma$ follows from the separateness of *f*.

Proposition 2.1.7. [*Liu*, *Chapter* 10, *Theorem* 2.14] Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C). Let (\mathcal{E}, σ) be its minimal model over C. Then the open subscheme \mathcal{N} of smooth points of \mathcal{E} over C is the Néron model of (E, O) over C.

Proposition 2.1.8. [*Liu*, Chapter 10, Lemma 2.12] Let (E,O) be an elliptic curve over k(C), \mathcal{E} its minimal model over C and \mathcal{N} its Néron model over C. Then the following are true.

- (*i*) The canonical maps $\mathcal{N}(C) \to \mathcal{E}(C) \to E(k(C))$ are bijective.
- (ii) For any section $\tau \in \mathcal{E}(C)$, the translation $T_{\tau_{k(C)}} : E \to E$ associated with $\tau_{k(C)} \in E(k(C))$ extends to an automorphism $T_{\tau} : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$.
- (iii) Let $m : E \times_{k(C)} E \to E$ be the algebraic group law on E. Then the automorphism $t = (m, pr_2) : E \times_{k(C)} E \to E \times_{k(C)} E$, where $pr_2 : E \times_{k(C)} E \to E$ is the second projection, extends to an automorphism $t : \mathcal{E} \times_C \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{E} \times_C \mathcal{N}$.

(iv) Let $pr_1 : \mathcal{N} \times_C \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N}$ be the first projection. Then t induces an automorphism $\iota : \mathcal{N} \times_C \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N} \times_C \mathcal{N}$ and $pr_1 \circ \iota$ defines a smooth group scheme structure on $\mathcal{N} \to C$.

Let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be a relatively minimal elliptic surface with a section $\sigma : C \to \mathcal{E}$. The sheaf $\mathbb{R}^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ is a line bundle on *C* (see Proposition 2.2.3 (iii)). Moreover Grothendieck's Duality ([Con, Theorem 5.1.2]) gives a canonical isomorphism

$$(\mathbf{R}^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}})^{\vee} = f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{C}},$$

where $\omega_{\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{C}}$ is the relative dualizing sheaf for $f : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{C}$.

Definition 2.1.9. *Let* $\mathcal{E} \to C$ *be a minimal elliptic surface with a section. Let*

$$\omega \coloneqq \left(\mathrm{R}^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \right)^{\vee} \in \mathrm{Pic}(C).$$

We define the height of the pair (\mathcal{E}, σ) *by*

 $h(\mathcal{E},\sigma) = \deg_{\mathcal{C}}(\omega).$

Definition 2.1.10. *Let* (E, O) *be an elliptic curve defined over* k(C)*. The height* h(E) *of the elliptic curve* (E, O) *is the height of the minimal model* (\mathcal{E}, σ) *of* (E, O)

$$h(E) \coloneqq h(E,O) \coloneqq h(\mathcal{E},\sigma).$$

Lemma 2.1.11. The height h(E,O) of an elliptic curve (E,O) over k(C) is non-negative.

Proof. Let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be the minimal model of (E, O). It suffices to check, that $\deg_C \omega \ge 0$ after the base change of \mathcal{E} to the algebraic closure \bar{k} of k, i.e. for $\mathcal{E} = \overline{\mathcal{E}} \to \overline{C} = C$. There we have $\deg_C \omega = \chi(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}})$ and $\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = f^*\omega$. Furthermore the formula $\chi(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{1}{12}(K_{\mathcal{E}}^2 + c_2(\mathcal{E}))$ (see e.g. [Har, App A, Example 4.1.2]) yields $\deg_C \omega = \frac{1}{12}c_2(\mathcal{E})$, which is non-negative by [CD, Proposition 5.1.6].

Remark 2.1.12. Every minimal elliptic surface $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ of height *d* determines a unique up to isomorphism elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) (its generic fiber) of height *d*. Moreover by Proposition 2.1.2 and Proposition 2.1.4 every elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) determines a minimal elliptic surface (\mathcal{E}, σ) of height *d*, that is unique up to isomorphism. That gives the following one-to-one correspondence



2.2 The Weierstraß equation of a relative elliptic curve

In this section we recall how to obtain the Weierstraß equation of a minimal pair (\mathcal{E}, σ) .

First of all we recall the standard result about the Picard group of an elliptic curve.

Theorem 2.2.1. [KM, Theorem 2.1.2] Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over k. Then for any *integer d there is a bijection*

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)(k) \cong C(k).$$

Let #C(k) be the number of *k*-rational points of *C*. Take an integer *d* and fix line bundles $\omega_{d,j}$; $j \in \{1, ..., \#C(k)\}$ on *C* such that

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)(k) = \{\omega_{d,1}, ..., \omega_{d,\#C(k)}\} /_{\cong}.$$
(2.1)

Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over k. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C)and let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be the minimal model of (E, O). By [Liu, Corollary 3.6, Chapter 8] for each closed point $c \in C$ the fiber \mathcal{E}_c is a geometrically connected projective curve over k(c) of arithmetic genus 1. Moreover the existence of the section σ ensures reduceness of the fibers. Indeed, by [Liu, Corollary 1.32, chapter 9] $\mathcal{E}_c \cap \sigma$ is reduced to a point $p \in \mathcal{E}_c(k(c))$, that belongs to a single irreducible component of the fiber \mathcal{E}_c and is of multiplicity 1 in \mathcal{E}_c , hence \mathcal{E}_c is reduced and as k_c is perfect it is geometrically reduced. Moreover as \mathcal{E} is regular [Liu, Corollary 3.6, Chapter 8] the morphisms $\mathcal{E} \to C$ and $\mathcal{E}_c \to \text{Spec} k(c)$ are local complete intersections and we have $\omega_{\mathcal{E}_c/k(c)} = \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}|_{\mathcal{E}_c}$ for the dualizing sheaves. Furthermore, by [Liu, Chapter 7, Corollary 3.31] for each closed point $c \in C$ the degree of $\omega_{\mathcal{E}_c/k(c)}$ is equal deg $(\omega_{\mathcal{E}_c/k(c)}) = 2(p_a(\mathcal{E}_c) - 1) = 0$ (as the arithmetic genus p_a of \mathcal{E}_c is 1). Moreover, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let X be a projective, geometrically connected and geometrically reduced 1– dimensional Gorenstein scheme over a perfect field k and assume that its dualizing sheaf is trivial. Let D be an effective Cartier Divisor of positive degree on X. Then

$$H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$$
 and $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = 0$.

Proof. First we prove, that $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = k$. Indeed since X is projective $A := H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ is an Artin k-algebra. Since $X \to k$ is geometrically connected and factors as $X \to A \to k$, it follows that A is a local Artin ring whose residue field is purely inseparable over k. Since k is perfect and X is reduced we get A = k. Since D is effective we have an injective map $s : \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X(D)$. Assume, that $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D))$ is not zero, then using Serre-Duality and the fact $\omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X$ we get a non-trivial section of $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-D))$ i.e. a map $\mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X(-D)$ which gives a map $t : \mathcal{O}_X(D) \to \mathcal{O}_X$ and since $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is an invertible sheaf $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{O}_X(D), \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$. The map s is injective and t is not zero, therefore st is a multiplication by a non-zero scalar. In particular t is injective, and in the same way we conclude, that ts is a multiplication by a non-zero scalar. Thus $\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_X(D)$. In particular we get, that D is sent to zero under the degree map

$$\operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^{1}(X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Z} = \operatorname{CH}_{0}(k)$$

which is a contradiction to the assumption, that *D* has a positive degree.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let $\mathcal{E} \to C$ be a minimal elliptic surface with a section σ . Then

- (*i*) For $n \ge 1$ the sheaf $f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)$ is locally free of rank n.
- (ii) $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) = (0)$ for n > 0, and locally free of rank 1 for n = 0.
- (iii) For i > 1 and all n we have $R^{i}f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) = (0)$.

Proof. For dimension reasons $R^i f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) = (0)$ for all $i \ge 2$ and all n. Assume $n \ge 1$ as $R^2 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) = (0)$, then by [Mum, Corollary, page 47] for all $c \in C$ we have an isomorphism

$$R^{1}f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}} k(c) \cong H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}).$$

Let *p* be the k(c)-rational point of the intersection $\mathcal{E}_c \cap \sigma$, then Lemma 2.2.2 leads

$$\dim_{k(c)} H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}) = \dim_{k(c)} H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(np)) = 0,$$

Thus the coherent sheaf $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)$ has all fibers zero and hence it vanishes by Nakayama Lemma. This implies [EGA III, Exp. II, Corollaire (7.9.10)] that $f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)$ is locally free of formation compatible with arbitrary change of base. By Riemann-Roch theorem and Lemma 2.2.2 we have

$$\dim_{k(c)} H^{0}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}(np)) = \dim_{k(c)} H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}(np)) + \deg(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}(np)) = n,$$

Therefore the rank of $f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)$ is *n*. Assume n = 0, then as $R^2f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} = (0)$ by [Mum, Corollary, page 47] we have

$$R^{1}f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}}k(c)\cong H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c},\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}).$$

Furthermore Serre-Duality and the fact that $\omega_{\mathcal{E}_c/k(c)} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}_c}$ for all $c \in C$ implies

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}) = H^{0}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \omega_{\mathcal{E}/k(c)}|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}) = H^{0}(\mathcal{E}_{c}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}/k(c)}|_{\mathcal{E}_{c}}) = k(c)$$

and hence by [Mum, Corollary, page 47] the sheaf $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ is a locally free sheaf on *C* of formation compatible with arbitrary change of base and hence necessary of rank 1. This leads to an isomorphism

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} k(c)\cong H^0(\mathcal{E}_c,\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}|_{\mathcal{E}_c}).$$

Furthermore ([Liu, Corollary 3.6, Chapter 8]) $H^0(\mathcal{E}_c, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}|_{\mathcal{E}_c}) = k(c)$ for all $c \in C$ and hence the sheaf $f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ is locally free of formation compatible with arbitrary change of base, thus necessary of rank 1

Proposition 2.2.4. With notation as above for $n \ge 2$ the sequence

$$0 \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) \to \omega^{-\otimes n} \to 0$$

is exact.

Proof. For $n \ge 2$ the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(-\sigma) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\sigma} \to 0$$

is an exact sequence of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ modules. By twisting with $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma)$ we obtain the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) \to \mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(n\sigma) \to 0.$$
(2.2)

Applying f_* to (2.2) with n = 1 yields

$$0 \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(\sigma) \xrightarrow{\beta} f_*\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\sigma) \xrightarrow{\gamma} R^1 f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \to R^1 f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(\sigma) \to \dots \ .$$

By Proposition 2.2.3 $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(\sigma) = (0)$ and $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}$ is an invertible sheaf on *C*. Hence γ is a surjective map of line bundles, which clearly needs to be an isomorphism. This forces the map β to be zero and α to be an isomorphism. Hence

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \cong f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(\sigma) \text{ and } f_*\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\sigma) \cong R^1 f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}.$$

Assume $n \ge 2$, then by applying f_* to the short exact sequence (2.2) we obtain the long exact sequence of higher direct images

$$0 \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(n\sigma) \to R^1f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) \to \dots \ .$$

By Proposition 2.2.3 for $n \ge 2$ we have $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) = (0)$. Furthermore it is clear, that

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(n\sigma) = (f_*\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\sigma))^{\otimes n}$$

and as $(R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}})^{\otimes n} = \omega^{-\otimes n}$ the statement follows.

Proposition 2.2.5. For n = 2,3 the exact sequence

$$0 \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}((n-1)\sigma) \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(n\sigma) \to \omega^{-n} \to 0$$

splits.

Proof. For $k = \overline{k}$ the proposition is proven in [CD, Rmk 5.5.2] and the proof works as well for non-algebraically closed fields.

Definition 2.2.6. Let G be a vector bundle on C. Assume moreover, that G is a direct sum

$$G = L_0 \oplus L_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus L_n$$

with $L_i \in \text{Pic}(C)$. Let $P = P_G$ be the projective bundle $P_G = \text{Proj}_C(\text{Sym}^*(G))$ and let

$$\pi: P \to C$$

be the structure morphism. For each *i* let $\eta_i \in H^0(C, G \otimes L_i^{\vee})$ be the section, that corresponds to the inclusion of L_i into G under the natural isomorphism

$$G \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} L_i^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_C}(L_i, G).$$

Then for each *i* the canonical epimorphism $\pi^* G \to \mathcal{O}_P(1)$ induces a homomorphism

$$\pi^* \left(G \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} L_i^{\vee} \right) \cong \pi^* G \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_P} \pi^* L_i^{\vee} \to \mathcal{O}_P(1) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_P} \pi^* L_i^{\vee}.$$

If $X_i \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(1) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_P} \pi^* L_i^{\vee})$ is the image of η_i by this homomorphism, then $(X_0, ..., X_r)$ is called the global coordinate system of P relative to $(L_0, L_1, ..., L_r)$.

Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) and let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be its minimal model with $\omega = f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}$ of degree *d*. Let $\sigma = \sigma(C)$ be the effective Cartier divisor associated with the section σ of *f*. We fix an isomorphism

$$\omega \cong \omega_0 \tag{2.3}$$

where $\omega_0 \in {\{\omega_{d,j}\}_{j \in \{1,...,\#C(k)\}}}$. By Proposition 2.2.5 the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(2\sigma) \to \omega_0^{\otimes -2} \to 0$$
(2.4)

and

$$0 \to f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(2\sigma) \to f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \to \omega_0^{\otimes -3} \to 0$$
(2.5)

split. After choosing splittings we obtain an isomorphism

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \cong \mathcal{O}_C \oplus \omega_0^{\otimes -2} \oplus \omega_0^{\otimes -3}.$$
(2.6)

Furthermore the natural map

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{3} f_{*} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \to f_{*} \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)^{\otimes 3} \right) = f_{*} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(9\sigma)$$
(2.7)

is surjective. As $\operatorname{rk}\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)\right) = 10$ the kernel of (2.7) is a line bundle on *C*. By filtering $f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(9\sigma)$ by the pole order along σ we deduce, that det $(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(9\sigma)) = \omega^{\otimes -44}$, similarly det $\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)\right) = \omega^{\otimes -50}$. Thus the kernel of (2.7) is canonically isomorphic to $\omega_{0}^{\otimes -6}$. Now, by twisting

$$0 \to \omega_0^{\otimes -6} \to \operatorname{Sym}^3 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \to f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(9\sigma) \to 0$$

with $\omega_0^{\otimes 6}$ we obtain an injective map

$$\mathcal{O}_C \to \operatorname{Sym}^3 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \otimes \omega_0^{\otimes 6}$$

of vector bundles and therefore a global section

$$F \in H^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3 f_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \otimes \omega_0^{\otimes 6}).$$

Consider the vector bundle

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma) \cong \mathcal{O}_C \oplus \omega_0^{\otimes -2} \oplus \omega_0^{\otimes -3}$$

and the smooth projective threefold

$$P = \operatorname{Proj}_{C}\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma))\right) \xrightarrow{\pi} C$$

Let $\mathcal{O}_P(1)$ be the invertible sheaf on P such that $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) = f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)$ and let (z, x, y) be the global coordinate system of P relative to $(\mathcal{O}_C, \omega^{\otimes -2}, \omega^{\otimes -3})$. Recall, that by the projection formula for any line bundle $M \in \text{Pic}(C)$ we have

$$H^{0}(P, \mathcal{O}_{P}(n) \otimes \pi^{*}M) = H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{n}(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)) \otimes M),$$

hence

$$H^{0}(P, \mathcal{O}_{P}(3) \otimes \pi^{*}\omega_{0}^{\otimes 6}) = H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}}(3\sigma)) \otimes \omega_{0}^{\otimes 6}).$$

and we can write F as

$$F = A_{-3}y^3 + A_{-2}xy^2 + A_{-1}x^2y + A_0zy^2 + A_0x^3 + A_1xyz + A_2x^2z + A_3yz^2 + A_4xz^2 + A_6z^3$$

with $A_i \in H^0(C, \omega_0^{\otimes i})$. Furthermore it is shown in [KM, (2.2.5), (2.2.6)] that we can take $A_0 = A'_0 = 1$ as well as $A_1 = A_2 = A_3 = 0$, then the polynomial *F* has the standard familiar shape

$$F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z,$$

with $A_i \in H^0(C, \omega_0^{\otimes_i})$ and

$$4A_4^3 + 27A_6^2 \neq 0 \text{ in } \Gamma(C, \omega_0^{\otimes 12}).$$
(2.8)

Definition 2.2.7. *A Weierstraß polynomial for a minimal elliptic surface* $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ *is any section*

$$F \in H^0(C, f_*\mathcal{O}_C(3\sigma) \otimes \omega_0^{\otimes 6})$$
(2.9)

that arises via the choice of an isomorphism $\omega \cong \omega_0$ and of splittings of (2.4) and (2.5) as above and which has the form

$$F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z$$

with $A_i \in \Gamma(C, \omega_0^{\otimes_0 i})$.

A section F of the above form is called a (minimal) Weierstraß polynomial if and only if there exists an (minimal) elliptic surface for which F is a Weierstraß polynomial.

The pair of sections (A_4, A_6) is called the Weierstraß coefficients of the Weierstraß polynomial F. Moreover we define the discriminant of the polynomial F to be the global section

$$\Delta = 4A_4^3 + 27A_6^2$$

in $\Gamma(C, \omega_0^{\otimes 12})$.

Remark 2.2.8. [Kl11, Page 2, Paragraph 3]Let *F* be a Weierstraß polynomial

$$F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z$$

with invertible $\Delta = 4A_4^3 + 27A_6^2$. Then the minimality condition of *F* is equivalent to non-existence of a function

$$f \in \left(\bigoplus_{n \ge 0} H^0(C, \omega_0^{\otimes n}) \smallsetminus k\right)$$

such that f^4 divides A_4 and f^6 divides A_6 .

Proposition 2.2.9. Let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be a minimal elliptic surface. Then minimal Weierstraß polynomials for $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ exist. Further, given a minimal Weierstraß polynomial

$$F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z$$

the minimal Weierstraß polynomials constructed via different choices are of the form

$$F_u = x^3 + u^4 A_4 x z^2 + u^6 A_6 z^3 - y^2 z,$$

for $u \in k^*$.

Proof. The first statement is a standard result, see [CD, Prop. 5.5.1]. For the second statement, let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be a minimal elliptic surface with $f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = \omega \cong \omega_0$. Let

$$F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z (2.10)$$

be an associated minimal Weierstraß polynomial with $A_i \in \Gamma(C, \omega_0^{\otimes i})$. We claim, that any other polynomial is related by a linear transformation of the form

$$[z, x, y] \mapsto [z, u^{-2}x, u^{-3}y]$$
(2.11)

or

$$[z, x, y] \mapsto [z, x + B_2 z, y + B_1 x + B_3 z]$$
(2.12)

with $u \in k^*$ and $B_i \in \Gamma(C, \omega^{\otimes i})$. The first transformations come from the choice of the isomorphisms (2.3) and the second from the choice of (2.6). Indeed, the hypersurface V(F) is embedded in P, therefore if F' is another minimal Weierstraß polynomial associated with $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$, then the schemes V(F), V(F') are isomorphic over C if the polynomials F, F' are related by an automorphism of P, which for $d \ge 1$ are precisely transformations given above;

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{C}(P) = \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(\pi_{*}\mathcal{O}_{P}(1))/k^{*} = \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(\mathcal{O}_{C} \oplus \omega^{-2} \oplus \omega^{-3})/k^{*}.$$

The case d = 0 follows from [Sil1, Proposition] as we have $A_i, B_i \in H^0(C, \omega_0^{\otimes i}) = k$ (see also Proposition 2.3.6). Now, apply (2.5) to the polynomial *F*, then we obtain a polynomial

$$F_u = yz^2 - x^3 - u^4 A_4 x z^2 - u^6 A_6 z^3.$$

To finish the proof we need to show, that application of (2.12) to *F*, will imply $B_1 = B_2 = B_3 = 0$. Indeed in the new coordinates *F* has the equation

$$F' = y^{2}z - x^{3} + (B_{1}(B_{1}B_{2} + B_{3}) - A_{4} + 3B_{2}^{2})xz^{2} + (A_{4}B_{2} - B_{2}^{3} - (B_{1}B_{2} + B_{3})^{2})z^{3}$$
$$-B_{1}x^{2}z - 2(B_{1}B_{2} + B_{3})yz^{2} + 2B_{1}xzy + 3B_{2}x^{2}z.$$

ans the coefficients of x^2z , yz^2 , xyz, x^2z have to vanish as F' needs to be a Weierstraß polynomial again, hence $B_1 = B_2 = B_1 = 0$ and the statement is proven.

Let *d* be a non-negative integer. Let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be a minimal elliptic surface of height *d*. Let *F* be a corresponding Weierstraß polynomial, then *F* defines a hypersurface $\mathcal{W} = V(F)$ in

$$P = \operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{C}}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \omega^{\otimes -2} \oplus \omega^{\otimes -3}))$$

and we have the following proposition.

Proposition 2.2.10. [Ulm, Proposition 1.4] Let $d \ge 0$ and let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) of height d, let (\mathcal{E}, σ) be its minimal model and let F be a Weierstraß polynomial associated with (\mathcal{E}, σ) . Then $\mathcal{W} = V(F)$ is a closed subscheme of

$$P := \operatorname{Proj}(\operatorname{Sym}^*(\mathcal{O}_C \oplus \omega^{\otimes -2} \oplus \omega^{\otimes -3})).$$

Let $g: W \to C$ be the structure morphism, then W is normal, absolutely irreducible, and projective over k, g is surjective, each of its fibers is isomorphic to an irreducible plane cubic, and for its generic fiber we have

$$\mathcal{W}_{\eta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\eta} \cong E.$$

Moreover the point O of E defines a section $\sigma' : C \to W$ *of g.*

Lemma 2.2.11. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C). Let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be its minimal model. Then the number of Weierstrass polynomials corresponding to (\mathcal{E}, σ) is

$$\frac{q-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E},\sigma)}$$

Proof. Let $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ be the minimal model of (E, O) with $\omega = f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}$. Let *F* be an associated minimal Weierstraß polynomial. Proposition 2.2.9 implies, that every invertible scalar $u \in k^*$ gives a minimal Weierstraß Polynomial

$$F_u = yz^2 - x^3 - u^4 A_4 x z^2 - u^6 A_6 z^3$$

and there is at most q - 1 of them. Observe, that some of those scalars may give the same polynomial and it happens exactly when

$$A_4 = u^4 A_4$$
 and $A_6 = u^6 A_6$.

This is equivalent to *u* being a root of unity

$$\begin{cases} u \in \mu_2(k) \text{ if } A_4 \neq 0 \text{ and } A_6 \neq 0 \\ u \in \mu_4(k) \text{ if } A_4 \neq 0 \text{ and } A_6 = 0 \\ u \in \mu_6(k) \text{ if } A_4 = 0 \text{ and } A_6 = 0 \end{cases}$$

here $\mu_n(k)$ denotes the set of *n*th roots of unity of *k*. Furthermore we have

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{C}(\mathcal{E}, \sigma) = \operatorname{Aut}_{k(\eta)}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta))$$
 (by Proposition 2.1.6).

and as the generic fiber of $\mathcal{E} \to C$ is an elliptic curve *E* over the field k(C) given by the equation

$$y^2 z = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3,$$

(here we treat A_4 , A_6 as functions) and hence [Sil1, Chapter 3, Theorem 10.1]

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{k(C)}(E,O) = \begin{cases} \mu_2(k(C)) \text{ if } A_4 \neq 0 \text{ and } A_6 \neq 0\\ \mu_4(k(C)) \text{ if } A_4 \neq 0 \text{ and } A_6 = 0\\ \mu_6(k(C)) \text{ if } A_4 = 0 \text{ and } A_6 = 0 \end{cases}$$

The curve *E* is geometrically connected and geometrically integral, moreover *k* is perfect and therefore *k* is algebraically closed in k(C), hence $\mu_n(k(C)) = \mu_n(k)$ and the result follows.

2.3 Counting elliptic curves over function fields of elliptic curves

Let *d* be a non-negative integer. As in the previous section $\omega_{d,j}$; $j \in \{1, ..., \#C(k)\}$ are chosen line bundles on *C* such that

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)(k) = \left\{ \omega_{d,1}, \dots, \omega_{d,\#C(k)} \right\} / \cong.$$

For each $\omega_{d,i}$ we define the set of all minimal Weierstraß polynomials as follows

$$\mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,j}} := \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{minimal Weierstrass polynomials} \\ F = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3 - y^2 z \\ \text{with} \quad A_i \in \Gamma(C, \omega_{d,j}^{\otimes i}) \end{array} \right\}.$$

Each $\mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,j}}$ is finite, as *C* is a projective curve and we are over a finite field *k*. Furthermore for $d \ge 1$ and $i \ge 1$, we have $\dim_k H^0(C, \omega_{d,j}^{\otimes i}) = id$. Denote by $\#\mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,j}}$ the number of elements in $\mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,j}}$, then

$$\#\mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,i}} \le q^{10d}.\tag{2.13}$$

For $d \ge 0$ let N_d denote the number of minimal Weierstrass polynomials; as in the formula.

$$N_d \coloneqq \sum_{\omega_{d,j} \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} \# \mathcal{N}_{\omega_{d,j}}.$$
(2.14)

and consider the weighted number of isomorphism classes of elliptic curves of height *d*:

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)}.$$
(2.15)

In the following proposition we give a trivial upper bound for the number (2.15).

Proposition 2.3.1. *Let* $d \ge 1$ *, then*

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{1}{\# \text{Aut}(E,O)} \leq \# C(k) \frac{q^{10d}}{q-1}.$$

Proof. Remark 2.1.12 and Proposition 2.1.6 lead

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} = \sum_{[(\mathcal{E},\sigma)];h((\mathcal{E},\sigma))=d} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E},\sigma)}.$$

Proposition 2.2.11 gives

$$\sum_{[(\mathcal{E},\sigma)];h((\mathcal{E},\sigma))=d}\frac{q-1}{\#\mathrm{Aut}(\mathcal{E},\sigma)}=N_d$$

and hence

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)}=\frac{N_d}{q-1}.$$

Since the number of $\omega_{d,i}$ is #C(k), the inequality (2.13) gives the desired result. \Box

Remark 2.3.2. We have the Hasse-Weil inequality for elliptic curves

$$\#C(k) \le 2\sqrt{q} + q + 1,$$

and therefore

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \le (2\sqrt{q}+q+1)\frac{q^{10d}}{q-1}.$$

The case d = 0 is a little different. Let us first recall the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3.3. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) of height d and let (\mathcal{E}, σ) be its minimal model with $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega_{d,j}$. If h(E) = 0, then $\omega_{d,j}$ is torsion in $\operatorname{Pic}^0(C)$ of order 1,2,3,4 or 6.

Proof. Recall that for a line bundle *L* of degree zero on an elliptic curve *C* we have

$$H^0(C,L) \neq 0 \iff L \cong \mathcal{O}_C.$$

As in the Weierstraß equation

$$y^2 z = x^3 + A_4 x z^2 + A_6 z^3$$

of (\mathcal{E}, σ) at least one of the coefficients $A_4 \in H^0(C, \omega_{d,j}^{\otimes 4})$ or $A_6 \in H^0(C, \omega_{d,j}^{\otimes 6})$ needs to be nonzero, hence

$$\omega_{d,j}^{\otimes 12} \cong \mathcal{O}_C$$

This implies, that the possible orders are 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6.

Definition 2.3.4. We say that an elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) is constant if there is an elliptic curve (E_0, O) defined over k such that $E = E_0 \times_k k(C)$.

Equivalently, (E, O) is constant if the coefficients A_i of the Weierstraß equation of (\mathcal{E}, σ) are in k.

Theorem 2.3.5. [*KM*, Theorem 2.3.1] Let *C* be an elliptic curve defined over a finite field *k* of characteristic *p*. Let *n* be a non zero integer, such that (n, p) = 1. Then over \overline{k} we have an isomorphism

$$C[n](\overline{k}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}.$$

Proposition 2.3.6. For d = 0 we have

$$q \leq \sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=0} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \leq 5q + 61.$$

Proof. This case is special, because as we have mentioned before, for a line bundle of degree zero the dimension of its global sections is either 1, if the line bundle is trivial, or it is 0 otherwise. Moreover it can happen that a line bundle is non trivial, but some tensor power of it will be. In this situation the Theorem 2.3.5 implies that, for a given ℓ , coprime to the characteristic of k, we have at most ℓ^2 of such line bundles and by Lemma 2.3.3 the possible orders of $\omega_{d,i}$ are 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6. The height 0 surfaces correspond to elliptic curves with constant coefficients, hence they are minimal (see Remark 2.2.8). Fix an $\omega_{d,j} \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$. The case $\omega_{d,j} \cong \mathcal{O}_C$ gives q^2 polynomials (choices of A_4 and A_6), among of which q have zero discriminant, hence the number of minimal polynomials is $q^2 - q$. Now fix $\omega_{d,j}$ in Pic⁰(*C*) such that the order of $\omega_{d,i}$ is 2. Since $\omega_i^4 \cong \omega_i^6 \cong \mathcal{O}_C$, we get the same number of polynomials as in the case of order 1. Since the number of such line bundles is at most 4, the number of minimal Weierstrass polynomials will be at most $4(q^2 - q)$. Let $\omega_{d,j} \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$ be of order 3. Since $\omega_{d,i}^4$ is non trivial we conclude that $\Gamma(C, \omega_{d,i}^4) = 0$. Hence we have q choices of A_6 and only 1 is singular. Since we have at most 9 choices for $\omega_{d,i}$, we see that the number of minimal Weierstrass polynomials is at most 9(q-1). Using the same argument for the cases of order 4 and 6, we conclude that

$$N_0 \le (q-1)(5q+61).$$

The lower bound comes from the known fact, that the number of points on the stack of elliptic curves over *k* is *q* \Box
Chapter 3

The set $A_{C,\omega}$

Let *d* be a non-negative integer. Let C := (C, O) be an elliptic curve over $k = \mathbb{F}_q$. In this chapter for a line bundle ω of degree *d* on *C* we define the set $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Its elements, as we will see in the first subsection, are "Weierstraß polynomials" of more general form then in Chapter 2. We will prove that $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ is finite and as the main result of this chapter (see: Proposition 3.3.7) we will show that

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega} \le \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)A}{(q-1)^5(q+1)^2q}$$

where $A_{C,\omega}$ denotes the "weighted" number of elements in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$, $\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)$ denotes the number of \mathbb{F}_q -rational points of *C* and *A* is a polynomial of degree 8 in *q* with the leading coefficient $2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

3.1 Finiteness of the set $A_{C,\omega}$

Let *C* be an elliptic curve over *k*. Fix a non-negative integer *d* and a line bundle ω on *C* of degree *d*. We start the construction of $A_{C,\omega}$ with defining its elements.

Definition 3.1.1. *Let* A *denote the set, whose elements are pairs* $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$ *with the following properties:*

- (a) the morphism $Y \xrightarrow{g} C$ is flat, proper and its generic fibre is a smooth curve,
- (b) the equality $g_*\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_C$ holds universally,
- (c) the fibres of g are Gorenstein and $\omega_{Y/C} \cong g^* \omega$,
- (d) $D \subset Y$ is an effective Cartier divisor, flat over C such that D.F = 3, where F is a fibre of g,
- (e) the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{Y}(D)$ is relatively very ample for g, i.e., we obtain a canonical closed immersion over C

$$Y \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Proj}_{C}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(g_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(D)))$$

Remarks 3.1.2.

(i) Let $(g : Y \to C, D)$ be an element of A then using the condition (c) for every closed point $c \in C$ we have

$$\omega_{Y/C}|_{Y_c} \cong \omega_{Y_c/k(c)} \cong \mathcal{O}_{Y_c}.$$

(ii) Let $(g : Y \to C, D)$ be an element of A then Y is integral. Indeed its generic fiber is a smooth projective curve, hence integral. Furthermore if we take an open affines Spec (*B*) in *Y* and Spec (*A*) in *C* such that the morphism *g* induces a flat map $A \to B$ then after tensoring the inclusion $A \hookrightarrow k(C) =: K$ with *B* over *A* the flatness yields an inclusion $B \hookrightarrow B \otimes_A K$. Since $B \otimes_A K$ is integral, so is *B*.

Definition 3.1.3. Two elements $(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)$ and $(Y' \xrightarrow{g'} C, D')$ of A are called equivalent if and only if there exists an isomorphism $\psi : Y \to Y'$ over C such that we have the following rational equivalence relation of divisors on Y

$$\psi^* D' \sim D + g^* D_C \tag{3.1}$$

for some $D_C \in \text{Div}(C)$.

Remark 3.1.4. Observe that the divisor g^*D_C is a sum of fibers with multiplicities, for that suppose $D_C = \sum_i n_i P_i$ for points $P_i \in C$ since g is flat, we have $g^*D_C = \sum_i n_i g^*(P_i) = \sum_i n_i (F_{P_i})$. Furthermore the relation (3.1) can be equivalently written in terms of isomorphism of line bundles

$$\psi^* \mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(D) \otimes g^* L$$

for $L = \mathcal{O}_C(D_C) \in \operatorname{Pic}(C)$.

Remark 3.1.5. The relation (3.1) is indeed an equivalence relation on the set of pairs $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$.

- 1. It is easy to check, that it is reflexive.
- 2. It is symmetric: let $(g : Y \longrightarrow C, D)$ and $(g' : Y' \longrightarrow C, D')$ be pairs as above, that are equivalent. Then there exists an isomorphism $\psi : Y \rightarrow Y'$ such that we have a rational equivalence of divisors $\psi^*D' \sim D + g^*D_C$. The inverse $\psi^{-1} : X' \rightarrow X$ is an isomorphism over *C*. Moreover

$$\psi^{-1*}D \sim \psi^{-1*}(\psi^*D' + g^*D_C)$$
$$= (\psi \circ \psi^{-1})^*D' + (g \circ \psi^{-1})^*D_C = D' + g'^*D_C$$

3. To see transitivity, take $(g_1 : Y_1 \rightarrow C, D_1)$ equivalent to $(g_2 : Y_2 \rightarrow C, D_2)$ and $(g_3 : Y_3 \rightarrow C, D_3)$ such that $(g_2 : Y_2 \rightarrow C, D_2)$ is equivalent to $(g_3 : Y_3 \rightarrow C, D_3)$. By definition we get an isomorphisms $\psi : Y_1 \rightarrow Y_2$ and $\varphi : Y_2 \rightarrow Y_3$ over *C* with rational equivalence relations

$$\psi^* D_2 \sim D_1 + g_1^* D_C$$
 and $\varphi^* D_3 \sim D_2 + g_2^* G_C$,

for some D_C , $G_C \in Div(C)$. The composition

$$\alpha = \varphi \circ \psi : Y_1 \to Y_3$$

is an isomorphism over *C* and

$$\alpha^* D_3 = \psi^* (\varphi^* D_3) \sim \psi^* D_2 + (g_2 \circ \psi)^* G_C \sim D_1 + g_1^* D_C + g_1^* G_C = D_1 + g_1^* (D_C + G_C)$$

Thus $(g_1: Y_1 \longrightarrow C, D_1)$ and $(g_3: Y_3 \longrightarrow C, D_3)$ are equivalent.

Definition 3.1.6. A pair $(g : Y \to C, D)$ is called degenerate if there exists a divisor D' of degree 1 on the generic fiber Y_{η} such that $D_{\eta} \sim 3D'$ (rational equivalence).

Definition 3.1.7. Let $A_{C,\omega}$ denote the set

$$\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} equivalence \ classes \left[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \right] \ (Definition \ 3.1.3) \\ of \ non-degenerate \ (Definition \ 3.1.6) \\ pairs \ (Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \ satisfying \ properties \ (a)-(e) \ (Definition \ 3.1.1) \end{array} \right\}$$
(3.2)

Definition 3.1.8. The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)$ of a pair $(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \in \mathcal{A}$ (Definition 3.1.1) we define as the set of automorphisms $\psi : Y \longrightarrow Y$ over C such that

$$\psi^* D \sim D + g^* D_C$$
 (rational equivalence)

for some $D_C \in Div(C)$.

We will see in Section 3.2 that the set $A_{C,\omega}$ is finite. We set

$$A_{C,\omega} := \sum_{[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)] \in \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)}$$
(3.3)

for the weighted number of elements of $A_{C,\omega}$.

Remark 3.1.9. Observe, that Aut($Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D$) $\neq \emptyset$ as the identity automorphism id_Y satisfies the requirements in Definition 3.1.8.

Remark 3.1.10. Observe, that the sum (3.3) is well-defined. If $(g' : Y' \to C, D')$ is another representative in the equivalence class $[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)]$ then each equivalence $\psi : Y \to Y'$ (in the sense of (3.1)) induces an isomorphism of automorphism groups

$$\operatorname{Aut}(g: Y \to C, D) \cong \operatorname{Aut}(g': Y' \to C, D')$$

as follows. Let $\psi : Y \to Y'$ be an isomorphism over *C* with $\psi^*(D') \sim D + g^*D_C$ for some $D_C \in \text{Pic}(C)$. Then every $\alpha \in \text{Aut}(g : Y \to C, D)$ gives an automorphism of Y' over *C* by setting $\alpha' := \psi \circ \alpha \circ \psi^{-1}$,



Moreover

$$\alpha'^{*}(D') = (\psi \circ \alpha \circ \psi^{-1})^{*}D'$$

= $(\alpha \circ \psi^{-1})^{*}(\psi^{*}D')$
~ $(\alpha \circ \psi^{-1})^{*}(D + g^{*}D_{C})$
= $\psi^{-1^{*}}(\alpha^{*}D + (g \circ \alpha)^{*}D_{C})$
~ $\psi^{-1^{*}}(D + g^{*}(D_{C} + G_{C}))$
~ $(D' - g'^{*}(D_{C}) + g'^{*}(D_{C} + G_{C}))$
= $D' + g'^{*}(G_{C})$

for some $G_C \in Pic(C)$ with $\alpha^* D \sim D + g^* G_C$ and hence $\alpha' \in Aut(g : Y \to C, D)$. It easy to check, that this defines an isomorphism.

We have defined the set $A_{C,\omega}$ to understand its elements we will need the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.1.11. [*de*]02, Lemma 8.4] Let X be a projective Gorenstein curve over a field k such that $\omega_{X/k} \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ and $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$. Let $D \subset X$ be an effective Cartier divisor.

- (a) If $\ell(D) \ge 2$ then $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is globally generated and $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = (0)$.
- (b) If $\ell(D) \ge 3$ then the graded k-algebra $R := \bigoplus_{n\ge 0} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D))$ is generated in degree 1.

Lemma 3.1.12. [*de*]02, Lemma 8.5] In the situation described in (b) of lemma above, the scheme $Y = \operatorname{Proj}(R)$ is a Gorenstein curve with $\omega_{Y/k} \cong \mathcal{O}_Y$ and $H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = k$. The morphism $\varphi : X \to Y$ is dominant and induces an isomorphism of an open subscheme of X with a dense open subscheme of Y.

Remark 3.1.13. [deJ02, Remark 8.6] With notation as in Lemma 3.1.11 and Lemma 3.1.12. By Serre-Duality we have $\dim_k H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 1$. The relevant terms of the Leray spectral sequence for the map φ are

$$0 \rightarrow E_2^{10} \rightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \rightarrow E_2^{01} \rightarrow E_2^{20}$$

which for us is

$$0 \to H^1(Y, \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to H^0(Y, R^1\varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \to H^2(Y, \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X).$$

As $\mathcal{O}_Y = \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X$ we have $\dim_k H^1(Y, \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X) = \dim_k H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 1$ furthermore by Serre-Duality and the fact, that $\omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X$ we have $\dim_k H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 1$ and as *Y* is a curve the last term is zero. It follows, that $R^1 \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X = (0)$ and the canonical map

$$H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

is an isomorphism. The dual of this map is canonical isomorphism $\Gamma(X, \omega_X) = \Gamma(Y, \omega_Y)$.

Proposition 3.1.14. Let $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)$ be a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ then

- (a) The sheaf $f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is locally free of rank three on C of formation compatible with arbitrary change of base, and $R^1 f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) = (0)$.
- (b) The natural maps

$$f^*f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)\to \mathcal{O}_X(D)$$

and

$$\bigoplus_{m\geq 0} \left(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)\right)^{\otimes m} \to \bigoplus_{m\geq 0} f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X(D)^{\otimes m}\right)$$

are surjective.

Proof. To prove (a) observe, that the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is an invertible sheaf on X fiberby-fiber of degree 3. First of all we show that $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D) = (0)$. We know, that $R^2 f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D) = (0)$ hence by [Mum, Corollary, page 47] the formation of $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is compatible with arbitrary change of base moreover, as by Lemma 3.1.12(a) the sheaf $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is a coherent sheaf on C with all fibres zero, it vanishes by Nakayama's lemma. Now, as $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D) = (0)$, the sheaf $f_* \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is automatically locally free by [EGA III, Exp. *II*, Corollaire (7.9.10)] and by [Mum, Corollary, page 47] its formation is compatible with arbitrary change of base, so necessarily of rank 3. For (b) let *u* be the natural map $f^*f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) \xrightarrow{u} \mathcal{O}_X(D)$. Take $c \in C$ then by Lemma 3.1.12(b) the map $u \otimes k_c$ is surjective, therefore by Nakayama's lemma *u* is surjective at *c* and hence everywhere. By Lemma 3.1.12(b) the sheaf of \mathcal{O}_C algebras $\bigoplus_{m\geq 0} f_*\mathcal{O}_X(mD)$ is generated in degree 1 meaning that the map

$$\bigoplus_{m\geq 0} \left(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) \right)^{\otimes m} \to \bigoplus_{m\geq 0} f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X(D)^{\otimes m} \right)$$

is surjective.

Let $[(g : Y \longrightarrow C, D)] \in \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. By Proposition 3.1.14 the sheaf $g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D)$ is locally free of rank 3 on *C*. Moreover it has a non-trivial global section since $H^0(C, g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D)) = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(D))$ and *D* is an effective Cartier divisor.

Let us denote the vector bundle $g_* \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$ by *E*. Let P_E denote the scheme

$$P_E = \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(E)) \longrightarrow C.$$

Observe, that the equivalence class of the pair $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$ does not determine the vector bundle *E* uniquely, this is because the rational equivalence class of the divisor *D* is only well defined up to adding multiples of fibers. Therefore *E* is well defined up to twist with any line bundle from *C*.

Proposition 3.1.15. Let $(g : Y \to C, D)$ and let $E = g_* \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$. The scheme P_E is up to isomorphism independent of the choice of $(g : Y \to C, D)$ in its equivalence class.

Proof. Let $(g' : Y' \to C, D')$ be another representative in the equivalence class of $(g : Y \longrightarrow C, D)$. The condition (3.1) implies, that there exists an isomorphism $\psi : Y \to Y'$ over *C* such that,

$$\mathcal{O}_Y(\psi^*D') \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(D) \otimes g^*L$$

for some $L \in Pic(C)$. Hence we have an isomorphism

$$g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong g_*\left(\mathcal{O}_Y(\psi^*D') \otimes g^*L^{-1}\right) \cong (g' \circ \psi)_*\left(\mathcal{O}_Y(\psi^*D')\right) \otimes L^{-1} \cong g'_*\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \otimes L^{-1}$$

of vector bundles on *C*. Therefore $E \cong E' \otimes L$ and hence $P_E \cong P_{E'}$.

Lemma 3.1.16. Let d be a non-negative integer and let ω be a line bundle on C of degree d. Let E be a rank 3 vector bundle on C and let P be the projective scheme

$$\pi: P = P_E := \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(E)) \longrightarrow C$$

with $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_P(1) = E$. Assume Y is a subscheme of P so that the pair $(g : Y \longrightarrow C, D)$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ where $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$. Then

$$g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D)=\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1).$$

Proof. Let $i : Y \rightarrow P$ be the inclusion. The sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_P(-Y) \to \mathcal{O}_P \to i_*\mathcal{O}_Y \to 0$$

is exact. By twisting with $\mathcal{O}_P(1)$ and applying π_* we get an exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1)) \to \pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) \to \pi_*(i_*\mathcal{O}_Y) \otimes \mathcal{O}_P(1) \to R^1\pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1)) \to \dots.$$

We have

$$\pi_*(i_*\mathcal{O}_Y \otimes \mathcal{O}_P(1)) = \pi_*(i_*(\mathcal{O}_Y \otimes i^*\mathcal{O}_P(1))) = g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D).$$

Therefore to prove that $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_P$ and $g_* \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$ are isomorphic it is enough to show that the sheaf $R^i \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1))$ vanishes for all $i \ge 0$. As *Y* has dimension 2 it is true for all $i \ge 3$. Assume, that for some i + 1 we have

$$R^{i+1}\pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1)) = (0).$$

Then by [Mum, Corollary page 47] the formation of $R^i \pi_* (\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1))$ is compatible with arbitrary change of base. Hence for each $c \in C$ we have

$$R^{i}\pi_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{P}(-Y)(1))\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{C_{c}}}k_{c}=H^{i}(P_{c},\mathcal{O}_{P}(-Y)(1)\otimes k(c)).$$

Observe, that by Lemma 3.1.20 we have $\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1) \otimes k(c) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3+1)$ and hence

$$R^{i}\pi_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{P}(-Y)(1))\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{C,c}}k_{c}=H^{i}(\mathbb{P}^{2}_{k(c)},\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}(-2))=0.$$

The sheaf $R^i \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(-Y)(1))$ is therefore a coherent sheaf with all fibers 0 and hence it vanishes by Nakayama's lemma. This finishes the proof of the lemma.

Definition 3.1.17. Let *E* and *E'* be vector bundles on *C*. We say that *E* and *E'* are twist equivalent and write $E \sim_{\otimes} E'$ if

$$\exists L \in \operatorname{Pic}(C) \text{ such that } E' \cong E \otimes L. \tag{3.4}$$

Remark 3.1.18. By Proposition 3.1.15 and Lemma 3.1.16 the set $A_{C,\omega}$ can be written in a natural way as a disjoint union

$$\bigsqcup_{[E]_{\otimes}} \{ \text{ non-degenerate pairs } (g: Y \to C, D) \text{ occurring in } P_E \}$$
(3.5)

where $[E]_{\otimes}$ runs through all twist-equivalence classes of rank 3 vector bundles on *C* and a non-degenerate pair $(g : Y \to C, D)$ "occurs in P_E " if the morphism *g* factors over a closed immersion $i : Y \to P_E$ such that $i^* \mathcal{O}_{P_E}(1) \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$.

Proposition 3.1.19. *The degree of each E is bounded by* $0 \le \deg(E) \le 2d$ *and for a fixed degree there is only finitely many of equivalence classes* $[E]_{\otimes}$.

Proof. The proof is given in Sections 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3.

Now we will show, that for a fixed equivalence class $[E]_{\otimes}$ there is only finite number of $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$ occurring in P_E and the number of automorphisms Aut $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$ of each pair $(g : Y \rightarrow C, D)$ is finite.

Lemma 3.1.20. Let d be a non-negative integer and let ω be a line bundle on C of degree d. Let E be a rank 3 vector bundle on C. Consider the projective scheme

$$\pi: P = P_E := \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(E)) \longrightarrow C$$

and let $\mathcal{O}_P(1)$ be the invertible sheaf on P such that $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) = E$. Let $Y \subset P$ be a closed subscheme of P, let $i : Y \to P$ be the inclusion and $g = \pi \circ i$ the structure morphism of Y to C. Assume that $(g : Y \longrightarrow C, D)$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ where $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$. Then there is a nonzero section s of

$$\Gamma(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(\omega \otimes \det(E)^{\vee}))$$

such that Y is the zero scheme of s: Y = V(s).

Proof. Observe, that *P* is a smooth projective threefold, therefore Weil and Cartier divisors agree on *P*. Moreover as *C* is smooth

$$\operatorname{Pic}(P) = \mathbb{Z} \oplus \pi^* \operatorname{Pic}(C).$$

Every *Y* (as above) has dimension 2 hence it is a divisor on *P* and we have

$$\mathcal{O}_P(Y) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(n) \otimes \pi^* M$$

for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and a line bundle $M \in Pic(C)$. We determine *n* and *M*. We have the diagram



and for all $c \in C$



Observe that for each $c \in C$

$$\mathcal{O}_P(Y) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{C,c}} k(c) = \mathcal{O}_{P_c}(Y_c) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{k(c)}}(n).$$

By Definition 3.1.1 (*d*) the intersection number of each Y_c with the hyperplane defined by the divisor D is 3 ($\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong i^* \mathcal{O}_P(1)$), therefore Bézout Theorem implies n = 3. Consider the following exact sequence

$$0 \to \Omega_{P/C} \to \pi^* E(-1) \to \mathcal{O}_P \to 0.$$

Taking determinants we get

$$\omega_{P/C} = \bigwedge^3 \pi^* E(-1) \otimes \mathcal{O}_P.$$

Consequently

$$\omega_{P/C} = \bigwedge^{3} \pi^{*} E(-1)$$

= $\bigwedge^{3} \left(\pi^{*}(E) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{P}(-1) \right)$
= $\left(\bigwedge^{3} \pi^{*} E \right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{P}(-3)$
= $\pi^{*} \det(E) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{P}(-3)$

The morphism $\pi : P \to C$ is proper, flat and all of its fibers are smooth. Therefore π is a Cohen-Macaulay morphism. The morphism g is C-flat and for all $c \in C$ the fiber morphisms $Y_c \to \mathbb{P}^2_{k(c)}$ are (local) complete intersections, and hence (by definition) the closed immersion $i : Y \to P$ is transversally regular over C ([Co00, Notation and Terminology, Page 7]). By adjunction for i (see: [Co00, (2.2.1)]) we obtain

$$\omega_{Y/C} = (\omega_{P/C} \otimes \mathcal{O}_P(Y))|_Y$$

$$\cong \pi^* (\det(E) \otimes M)|_Y$$

$$= g^* (\det(E) \otimes M).$$

On the other hand, by Definition 3.1.1 (*c*) we have $\omega_{Y/C} \cong g^* \omega$ hence

 $g^*(\det(E) \otimes M) \cong g^*\omega$

and therefore

$$g^*(\det(E) \otimes M \otimes \omega^{\vee}) \cong \mathcal{O}_Y$$

Applying g_* and using the assumption (*b*) we get

$$g_*g^*(\det(E)\otimes M\otimes\omega^{\vee})\cong g_*\mathcal{O}_Y=\mathcal{O}_C$$

Consequently by the projection formula

 $M \cong \det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega$

and the result follows.

Let G_E = Aut (*E*) be the automorphism group of the sheaf *E* over *C*. The group $k^* \,\subset G_E$ is a central subgroup and we set $PG_E = G_E/k^*$. We have the natural action of the group G_E on the pair (*P*, $\mathcal{O}_P(1)$) and therefore also on the vector space

$$V_E \coloneqq \Gamma\left(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(\omega \otimes \det(E)^{\vee})\right). \tag{3.6}$$

The action of the subgroup $k^* \subset G_E$ is by scalars, hence the group PG_E acts on the projective space $\mathbb{P}(V_E)$ of lines in V_E .

Lemma 3.1.21. Let *d* be a non-negative integer and let ω be a line bundle on *C* of degree *d*. Let *Y* and *Y'* be two subschemes of *P* with divisors *D* and *D'* such that $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_{Y'}$. Suppose moreover that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D')$ are representatives of classes in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}}\left((Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D_Y), (Y' \xrightarrow{g'} C, D_{Y'})\right) = \{v \in PG_E \mid v(Y) \subset Y'\}.$$
(3.7)

Proof. First we construct a map from the RHS to the LHS. Let $v \in PG_E$ be such that $v(Y) \subset Y'$. Then v induces an automorphism $\psi_v : P \to P$ of the projective bundle P such that $\psi_v^* \mathcal{O}_P(1) = \mathcal{O}_P(1)$. Then ψ_v restricts to a closed immersion $\psi_v|_Y : Y \to Y'$ between integral closed subschemes of the same dimension and hence is an isomorphism (see Remark 3.1.2(i)). Moreover $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_{Y'}$ hence ψ_v gives an equivalence of $(g : Y \to C, D)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ This gives the first map. Now we construct a map in the other direction. Let $\psi : Y \to Y'$ be an isomorphism over C with $\mathcal{O}_Y(\psi^*D') \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(D) \otimes g^*L$ and $L \in \text{Pic}(C)$. The isomorphism ψ induces a map $\mathcal{O}_{Y'} \to \psi_*\mathcal{O}_Y$ and by twisting it with $\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D')$ we obtain a map

$$\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \to \psi_*(\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \otimes g^*L) = \psi_*(\mathcal{O}_Y(D)) \otimes g'^*L.$$
(3.8)

The subscheme Y' is embedded in P via the relatively very ample sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_{Y'}$. Identifying P with $\operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) \otimes L))$ we see, that Y is embedded in P via $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \otimes g^*L$. Thus the map $\psi : Y \to Y'$ is compatible with embeddings into P and hance has to be a closed immersion. This implies, that $\mathcal{O}_{Y'} \to \psi_*\mathcal{O}_Y$ is surjective and hence so is the map (3.8). Applying g'_* to (3.8) and using Lemma 3.1.16 for the pair $(g' : Y' \to C, D')$ we obtain a surjective map

$$\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) \twoheadrightarrow \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_P(1)) \otimes L$$

which induces a closed immersion

$$P = \operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{C}}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(\pi_{*}\mathcal{O}_{P}(1) \otimes L)) \hookrightarrow P = \operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{C}}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(\pi_{*}\mathcal{O}_{P}(1))).$$
(3.9)

For dimensions reasons (3.9) is an isomorphism over *C*. Therefore the map ψ induces an element in Aut($\pi_* \mathcal{O}_P(1)$). This gives a map from the LHS to the RHS. By construction those maps are inverse to each other and hence the lemma follows.

Lemma 3.1.22. Let *d* be a non-negative integer and let ω be a line bundle on *C* of degree *d*. Let *Y* and *Y'* be two subschemes of *P* with divisors *D* and *D'* such that $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $\mathcal{O}_{Y'}(D') \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_{Y'}$. Suppose moreover $(g : Y \to C, D)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D')$ are representatives of classes in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Let *s*, *s'* be the associated sections *s*, *s'* $\in V_E$ from Lemma 3.1.20 and let [*s*] and [*s'*] be the associated lines in $\mathbb{P}(V_E)$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}}\left((Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D_Y), (Y' \xrightarrow{g'} C, D_{Y'})\right) = \{v \in PG_E \mid v([s]) = [s']\}.$$
(3.10)

Proof. The inclusion "⊆" is clear. For the other inclusion observe, that Lemma 3.1.21 implies that if ψ is an equivalence of $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ then the induced map $v : V(s) \to V(s')$ with $v \in PG_E$ is a closed immersion. By Remark 3.1.5 (*b*) the inverse morphism ψ^{-1} is an equivalence of $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ and $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$ which by Lemma 3.1.21 induces a closed immersion $v^{-1} = v : V(s') \to V(s)$ of integral schemes of the same dimension, hence an isomorphism and the lemma follows.

Theorem 3.1.23. Let $d \ge 0$ and let ω be an element of $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Then

$$A_{C,\omega} \le \sum_{[E]_{\infty}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}$$
(3.11)

where the sum is taken over twist equivalence classes (Definition **3.1.17***) of rank* **3** *vector bundles on C.*

Proof. Let $[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)]$ be an element of $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then *Y* is embedded in P_E with $E = g_*\mathcal{O}_Y(D)$. Moreover by Lemma 3.1.20 *Y* is given by an element $[s] \in \mathbb{P}(V_E)$, Y = V(s). Let $[s] \in \mathbb{P}(V_E)$ and let Stab([s]) denote the stabilizer of [s] under the action of PG_E

$$Stab([s]) = \{v \in PG_E \mid v([s]) = [s]\}.$$

Then by Lemma 3.1.22 we have

$$\operatorname{Aut}(g: Y \to C, D) = \operatorname{Stab}([s])$$

and therefore

$$\sum_{\substack{(g:Y \to C,D) \in P_E \\ (g:Y \to C,D) \in \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}}} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Aut}(g:Y \to C,D)} \leq \sum_{[s] \in \mathbb{P}(V_E) / PG_E} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Stab}([s])} = \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}.$$

Hence it follows from Proposition 3.1.15 and Lemma 3.1.16 (see Remark 3.1.18) that we have

$$A_{C,\omega} = \sum_{[E]_{\otimes}} \sum_{\substack{(g:Y \to C,D) \in P_E \\ (g:Y \to C,D) \in \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}}} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Aut}(g:Y \to C,D)} \leq \sum_{[E]_{\otimes}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}.$$

3.2 Counting elements of the set $A_{C,\omega}$

In Theorem 3.1.23 we showed that for $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ the following bound holds

$$A_{C,\omega} \le \sum_{[E]_{\otimes}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}$$
(3.12)

where \otimes denotes the twist equivalence relation from Definition 3.1.17. The goal of this section is to show, that only finitely many of twist equivalence classes of vector bundles *E* contribute to this sum.

Let *E* be a rank 3 vector bundle on *C*. First of all depending on the length of the Harder-Narasihman filtration only the following cases occur.

- (I) $0 = E_0 \subset E_1 = E$ if *E* is semi-stable. This case is treated in Paragraph 3.2.1
- (II) $0 = E_0 \subset E_1 \subset E_2 = E$ if *E* is not semi-stable, but the first quotient E_2/E_1 is semi-stable. Discussed in Paragraph 3.2.2.
- (III) $0 = E_0 \subset E_1 \subset E_2 \subset E_3 = E$ if nor *E* neither the first quotient E/E_1 is semistable. The case argued in Paragraph 3.2.3.

Proposition 3.2.1. Let E be a vector bundle on an elliptic curve. Let

$$0=E_0 \subsetneqq E_1 \subset \ldots \subset E_n=E$$

be its Harder-Narasihman filtration. Then

$$E \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^n E_i / E_{i-1}$$

Proof. For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ the quotient E_i / E_{i-1} is semi-stable and the sequence

$$0 \rightarrow E_i/_{E_{i-1}} \rightarrow E/_{E_{i-1}} \rightarrow E/_{E_i} \rightarrow 0$$
(3.13)

is exact with

$$\mu\left(\frac{E_i}{E_{i-1}}\right) > \mu\left(\frac{E_{i+1}}{E_i}\right) \tag{3.14}$$

(see: proof of Lemma 1.3.8 in [HN74]). As C is an elliptic curve we have

Therefore for each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ we have a splitting of (3.13) and as $E_0 = 0$ the Lemma follows.

Now we will shortly recall some results on moduli spaces of geometrically indecomposable vector bundles on an elliptic curve. An indecomposable vector bundle need not be indecomposable any more after an extension of the base field. This phenomenon was studied in [ArEl92] and motivates the following definition

Definition 3.2.2. A vector bundle E on C over k is called geometrically indecomposable if after any field extension K the vector bundle $E_K = E \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} \mathcal{O}_{C_K}$ is indecomposable, where $C_K = C \times_k K$.

and recall the following properties

Lemma 3.2.3. [*HP05*, Lemma 1] Let E be a vector bundle on C of rank r and degree e defined over k. Then we have the implications $(i) \implies (ii) \implies (iii) \implies (iv)$ with

- (i) E is stable over k
- (ii) E is simple over k
- *(iii) E is indecomposable over k*
- *(iv) E is semi-stable over k*

If moreover r and e are coprime, then we also have $(iv) \implies (i)$ *so that all four properties are equivalent.*

In [At57] Atiyah classified vector bundles on an elliptic curve *C* over an algebraically closed field *k* later A.Tillmann [Til83] showed, that Atiyah's classification holds for geometrically indecomposable vector bundles on *C* over nonalgebraically closed fields and S.Pumplün analyzed it for genus 1 curves over perfect fields of arbitrary index. As Tillman's work is unpublished, we refer to the paper [Pum04] of S.Pumplün.

We define the following sets of isomorphism classes of indecomposable vector bundles of rank *r* and degree *e*:

$$\Omega_C(r,e) = \Omega(r,e)$$

= { iso. classes of indecomposable vector bundles *E* on *C* with deg *E* = e and rk*E* = r}

$$\overline{\Omega}_{C}(r,e) = \overline{\Omega}(r,e)$$

= { iso. classes of geom. indecomposable vector bundles *E* on *C* with deg *E* = *e* and rkE = r}

It is clear, that

$$\overline{\Omega}(r,e) \subset \Omega(r,e).$$

Theorem 3.2.4. [*Pum04*, Theorem 4.4] Let C be an elliptic curve over k. Let $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $e \in \mathbb{Z}$. There is a canonical bijection between the set $\overline{\Omega}(r, e)$ and the set C(k) of k-rational points on C. Via this bijection, $\overline{\Omega}(r, e)$ and C(k) are identified in such a way that, the map

$$\overline{\Omega}(r,e) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{e}(C)$$

 $E \mapsto \det E$

corresponds to isogeny "multiplication by h"

$$[h]:C(k)\to C(k),$$

$$P \mapsto [h]P = P + P + \dots + P$$

where h = (r, e) is the highest common divisor of r and e.

We moreover have the following description of vector bundles of degree zero.

Theorem 3.2.5. [*Pum04*, *Theorem 3.12*, *3.13*]Let C be an elliptic curve over k

(i) For each $r \ge 1$ there exists a vector bundle $F_r \in \overline{\Omega}_C(r, 0)$ that is unique up to isomorphism, such that $H^0(C, F_r) \ne 0$. Moreover there exists an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \to F_r \to F_{r-1} \to 0. \tag{3.15}$$

(ii) Let $E \in \overline{\Omega}_C(r, 0)$ then there is a line bundle *S* of degree 0 on *C* which is unique up to isomorphism, such that $E \cong S \otimes F_r$. In particular, *E* contains *S* as a subbundle and det $E \cong S^r$.

Remark 3.2.6. We have $F_1 = \mathcal{O}_C$.

Proposition 3.2.7. [*Pum04*, Corollary 3.16] Let C be an elliptic curve over k

- (i) The vector bundle F_r from Theorem 3.2.5 is self-dual.
- (ii) For all $r, s \ge 1$ and s < r we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to F_s \to F_r \to F_{r-s} \to 0. \tag{3.16}$$

The embedding of F_s in F_r as a subbundle is uniquely determined up to isomorphisms of F_r .

(iii)

$$\dim_k H^0(C, F_r \otimes F_s) = \min(r, s).$$

Assume we have a vector bundle *E* over *C* that is indecomposable over *C* but splits over \overline{C} . It is clear that *E* will split over some $C^n = C \times_k k^n$ where k^n is the degree *n* extension of *k*. We will show, that in fact for rk(E) = 3 we have n = 3 and if rk(E) = 2 then n = 2.

Remark 3.2.8. Let *C* be a smooth projective curve. Let *E* be a rank *r* vector bundle on *C* and $A_{ij} \in GL(r, \mathcal{O}_{U_j \cap U_i})$ its transition matrix in standard basis, meaning the matrix expression of the composite of the two isomorphisms $\mathcal{O}_{U_j}^{\oplus r} \simeq E|_{U_j}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{U_i}^{\oplus r} \simeq$ $E|_{U_i}$ over $U_j \cap U_i$. The collection $\{A_{i,j}\}$ of all such matrix functions is a 1-cocycle with coefficients in the sheaf $GL(r, \mathcal{O}_C)$. Hence rank *r* vector bundles on *C* are parameterized by the first cohomology set $H^1(C, GL(r, \mathcal{O}_C))$.

Proposition 3.2.9. Let C be an elliptic curve over a finite field k. Let E be a rank 3 indecomposable vector bundle on C that is not geometrically indecomposable. Then E splits into a direct sum of line bundles over $C^3 = C \times_k k^3$ that are not isomorphic to each other and do not descend to C.

Proof. By assumption there exists a finite field extension k' of k^3 such that if we denote by $\pi : C' = C \times k' \to C$ the projection, then π^*E splits as $L' \oplus F'$ where L' is a line bundle on C' and F' is a rank 2 vector bundle on C'. The Galois group G(k'/k) acts naturally on π^*E . Let $\sigma \in G(k'/k)$ be a generator and suppose, that the composition

$$L' \hookrightarrow L' \oplus F' \cong \pi^* E \xrightarrow{\sigma} \pi^* E \cong L' \oplus F' \twoheadrightarrow L'$$
(3.17)

is not zero. If we denote by [L'] the class of L' in $H^1(C', \mathbb{G}_m)$ then σ maps [L'] to itself and hence $[L'] \in H^1(C', \mathbb{G}_m)^{G(k'/k)}$. As k' is a finite field and as $H^0(C', \mathbb{G}_m) = (k')^*$ we have the vanishing of

$$H^{1}(G(k'/k), H^{0}(C', \mathbb{G}_{m})) = 0$$

as well as of the Brauer group of k'

$$H^{2}(G(k'/k), H^{0}(C', \mathbb{G}_{m})) = 0.$$

The sheaf \mathbb{G}_m is an étale sheaf on *C* therefore we can use the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence

$$H^{i}(G(k'/k), H^{j}(C', \mathbb{G}_{m})) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(C, \mathbb{G}_{m})$$

[Mil, Theorem 2.20, Chapter 3] to deduce, that

$$H^1(C',\mathbb{G}_m)^{G(k'/k)} = H^1(C,\mathbb{G}_m).$$

Thus

$$[L'] \in H^1(C', \mathbb{G}_m)^{G(k'/k)} = H^1(C, \mathbb{G}_m)$$

which implies that L' descends to a line bundle on C. It means, that there exists a line bundle L on C with $L' \cong \pi^* L$. This gives an isomorphism $\pi^* E \cong \pi^* L \oplus F'$ and by applying π_* on both sides we obtain an isomorphism

$$E^{\oplus[k':k]} \cong L^{\oplus[k':k]} \oplus \pi_* F'$$

which contradicts the indecomposability assumption on *E*. Hence we have proved, that the map (3.17) is zero. Therefore *L'* maps under σ to *F'* and since $\sigma(L')$ is a direct summand of π^*E it has to be a direct summand of *F'* i.e. π^*E is a direct sum of line bundles $L'_1 \oplus L'_2 \oplus L'_3$, $L'_i \in \text{Pic}(C')$ non of which descends to *C* (by the above). Also σ maps L'_i isomorphically to $\sigma(L'_j)$ for some *j* such that $j \neq i$ but $\sigma(L_j) \ncong L_i$ and therefore permutes their classes in $H^1(C', \mathbb{G}_m)$. It follows, that these classes live in $H^1(C', \mathbb{G}_m)^{G(k'/k^3)}$ and hence L_i 's descend to line bundles M_i on C^3 . Furthermore if $\tau \in G(k^3/k)$ is a generator then by the same argument as above we have $M_2 \cong \tau^i M_1$ and $M_3 \cong \tau^j M_1$ with $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$ and M_i cannot be isomorphic to M_j . Denote by $\rho : C' \to C^3$ the projection and by E^3 the pullback of *E* to C^3 . Then we have an isomorphism $\rho^* E^3 \cong \rho^*(M_1 \oplus M_2 \oplus M_3)$. Thus E^3 is a twisted-form of $M := M_1 \oplus M_2 \oplus M_3$ and hence defines an element in

$$\check{H}^{1}(C'/C^{3}, \underline{\operatorname{Aut}}(M)) = H^{1}(G(k'/k^{3}), \operatorname{Aut}_{C'}(\rho^{*}M)).$$
(3.18)

We have

$$\operatorname{End}_{C'}(\rho^*M) = \bigoplus_{i,j} H^0(C', \rho^*M_i \otimes \rho^*M_j^{-1}).$$

But $G(k^3/k)$ acts as a 3-cycle permutation on the set $\{[M_1], [M_2], [M_3]\}$. Furthermore since the degree on $Pic(C^3)$ commutes with the Galois action, the line bundles M_i have the same degree and therefore $\rho^* M_i \otimes \rho^* M_j^{-1}$ for $i \neq j$ are degree-zero line bundles that are all non-trivial. Thus $End_{C'}(\rho^*M)$ equals to Diag(3,k') and hence

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\rho^* M) = \operatorname{Diag}(3, k'^*).$$

Hence (3.18) vanishes by Hibert 90. This implies that any twisted-form of *M* on *C*' is isomorphic to *M*, in particular $E^3 = M$ on C^3 .

Using the same argument as in Proposition 3.2.9 one shows:

Proposition 3.2.10. Let C be an elliptic curve over a finite field k. Let E be a rank 2 indecomposable vector bundle on C that is not geometrically indecomposable. Then E splits into a direct sum of line bundles over $C^2 = C \times_k k^2$ that are not isomorphic to each other and do not descend to C.

Corollary 3.2.11. Let *E* be a vector bundle of rank 3 on an elliptic curve *C*. Let $E = E_1 \oplus ... \oplus E_s$ be the indecomposable decomposition of *E*. We have the following cases

(1) s = 1 then

- (*a*) *E* is geometrically indecomposable;
- (b) or E is indecomposable over C but splits as a direct sum of line bundles over $C^3 = C \times_k k^3$ that have the same degree, but are not isomorphic and do not descend to C.

- (2) s = 2 then $E = E_1 \oplus E_2$ with $\operatorname{rk} E_i = i$ with $i \in \{1, 2\}$ and
 - (*a*) *E*₂ is geometrically indecomposable;
 - (b) or E_2 is indecomposable over C but splits as a direct sum of line bundles over $C^2 = C \times_k k^2$ that have the same degree, but are not isomorphic and do not descend to C;
 - (c) or E_2 decomposes over C.
- (3) s = 3 then $E = E_1 \oplus E_2 \oplus E_3$ with $\operatorname{rk} E_i = 1$ for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$.

We wish to evaluate the sum

$$\sum_{[E]_{\otimes}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}.$$

In order to do that in each equivalence class $[E]_{\otimes}$ we are allowed to choose a representative E'. This representative has to satisfy $H^0(C, E') \neq 0$ and for computational reasons we wish to minimize its degree.

Remark 3.2.12. Observe, that if *E* is a vector bundle of rank *r* on *C* then fo any $L \in Pic(C)$

$$\deg(E \otimes L) = \deg E + r \cdot \deg L$$

In this way, when considering vector bundles of rank r it is enough to consider vector bundles of degree 0, 1, ..., r - 1 then by twisting with a line bundle of appropriate degree we get all other degrees.

Proposition 3.2.13. Let *E* be a vector bundle of rank 3 on an elliptic curve *C*. Assume moreover, that *E* is not as in Proposition 3.2.9. Then in the twist equivalence class $[E]_{\otimes} = \{E \otimes L, L \in \text{Pic}(C)\}$ of *E* we can always find a vector bundle *E'* such that it has a minimal non-negative slope $\mu(E') \in [0,1)$ and satisfies $H^0(C, E') \neq 0$. Furthermore if *E* satisfies assumptions of Proposition 3.2.9 then *E'* can be chosen so that $\mu(E') = 1$.

Proof. Let *E* be a rank 3 vector bundle on *C*. Assume that *E* is not as in Proposition 3.2.9. Let

$$0 = E_0 \subsetneqq E_1 \subset \dots \subset E_n = E$$

be the Harder Narasimhan filtration of E. By Lemma 3.2.1 we have

$$E \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i / E_{i-1} \tag{3.19}$$

and by Theorem 1.1.9 the slopes of the semi-stable summands of (3.19) satisfy

$$\mu(E_1) > \mu(E_2/E_1) > \dots > \mu(E_n/E_{n-1}).$$

Let *p* be a *k*-rational point on *C* then using the Remark 3.2.12 we can always find $m_E \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\mu(E \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(m_E p)) = \frac{m_E \mathbf{r} \mathbf{k} E + \deg E}{\mathbf{r} \mathbf{k} E} \in [0, 1).$$

Therefore without loss of generality we may assume $\mu(E) \in [0, 1)$. The proposition is clear for $n \ge 2$ as then *E* is not semi-stable and E_1 is a semi-stable sub-bundle with $\mu(E_1) > \mu(E) \ge 0$ implying $H^0(C, E_1) \ne 0$ and consequently $H^0(C, E) \ne 0$. If n = 1 and $\mu(E) > 0$ then we are also done. It remains to prove the case n = 1 and $\mu(E) = 0$. Meaning, that *E* is semi-stable of slope zero. If *E* is decomposable, then semi-stability implies, that all the summands have degree 0 in particular *E* has a line bundle *L* of degree 0 as a direct summand and we can take $E' = E \otimes L^{\vee}$. If *E* is geometrically indecomposable, then $E \cong F_3 \otimes L$ for some line bundle *L* of degree 0 and we again take $E' = E \otimes L^{\vee}$. If *E* is indecomposable but not geometrically, then by Proposition 3.2.9 π^*E is a sum of three line bundles; here $\pi : C \times_k k^3 \to C$ is the projection. These line bundles are non-trivial and of the same degree, hence of degree 0 since $\mu(E) = \mu(\pi^*E) = 0$. Thus we can take $E' = E \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(p)$ for some $p \in C(k)$. This finishes the proof.

3.2.1 Semistable case

Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. First of all we treat the case that *E* is semi-stable. By minimizing the slope of *E* as in Proposition 3.2.13 we have the following cases

- If *E* does not satisfy assumptions of Proposition 3.2.9, then $\mu(E) = \frac{1}{3}$ or $\mu(E) = \frac{2}{3}$ or $\mu(E) = \frac{0}{3} = 0$.
- If *E* satisfies assumptions of Proposition 3.2.9 then $\mu(E) = \frac{3}{3} = 1$.

Remark 3.2.14. For computing automorphism groups of some vector bundles on *C* we will use the following fact.

Let *K* be a Galois extension of *k* and consider the following diagram



where E a vector bundle on C. Then from Galois-Descent follows, that

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^* E)^{\operatorname{Gal}(K/k)}$$

0 1/1/11

gcd(3,2)=gcd(3,1)=1

If the degree of *E* is 1 or 2 then gcd(3,1) = gcd(3,2) = 1 and hence by Lemma 3.2.3 *E* is stable. The degree and the rank are preserved under base extension (see Section 1.1) therefore the vector bundle *E* is geometrically stable and by Lemma 3.2.3 *E* is geometrically indecomposable. The number of isomorphism classes of geometrically indecomposable vector bundles with (r, e) = (3, 2) or (r, e) = (3, 1) is by Lemma 3.2.4 equal to #C(k). Furthermore the automorphism group of a geometrically stable vector bundle is the multiplicative group G_m/k .

gcd(3,0)=gcd(3,3)=3

We now assume $\mu(E) = 0$.

Lemma 3.2.15. Let *E* be a semi-stable vector bundle of rank 3 and degree deg(E) = 0. Assume that if *E* is indecomposable, then it is geometrically indecomposable. Up to twist with a line bundle we have the following possible different structures on *E*.

(R3a) The vector bundle E is geometrically indecomposable, $E = F_3 \in \overline{\Omega}_C(3,0)$. It is unique up to isomorphism and has the automorphism group $\#Aut(F_3) = q^2(q-1)$.

(R3b) The vector bundle E has the decomposition $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G$, with $G \in \overline{\Omega}_C(2,0)$. The number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles E of the type $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G$, with $G \in \overline{\Omega}_C(2,0)$ is #C(k). Furthermore

$$#Aut(E) = \begin{cases} (q-1)^2 q^3, & \text{if } G \cong F_2, \\ (q-1)^2 q, & \text{if } G \notin F_2. \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

(R3c) The vector bundle E has the decomposition $E = O_C \oplus G$, where G is a rank 2 vector bundle that is indecomposable over C but splits over $C^2 = C \times_k k^2$. The number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles E of the above type is at most

$$\#C(k^2) - \#C(k) - 1.$$

Furthermore

$$#\operatorname{Aut}(E) = (q-1)(q^2-1),$$

R3d) The vector bundle E is a direct sum of line bundles, $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ with $L_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(C)$. The number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles E of the above type is at most $\#C(k)^2$. Furthermore

$$#Aut(E) = \begin{cases} (q^{3}-1)(q^{3}-q)(q^{3}-q^{2}), & \text{if } L_{1} \cong L_{2} \cong \mathcal{O}_{C}, \\ (q-1)^{3}(q+1)q, & \text{if } L_{1} \cong L_{2} \notin \mathcal{O}_{C}, \\ (q-1)^{2}q^{3}, & \text{if } L_{1} \notin L_{2} \cong \mathcal{O}_{C} \\ (q-1)^{3}, & \text{if } \mathcal{O}_{C} \notin L_{1} \notin L_{2} \notin \mathcal{O}_{C}. \end{cases}$$
(3.21)

- *Proof.* The classification (R3a)-(R3d) follows from Corollary 3.2.11.
- R3a) Assume *E* is geometrically indecomposable. By Theorem 3.2.5(ii) up to twist with a line bundle we have $E = F_3$. Furthermore by Theorem 3.2.5(i) the vector bundle F_3 is unique up to isomorphism.

Take $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ an open cover of *C* such that there exist isomorphisms $F_3|_{U_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_{U_i}^{\oplus 3}$. The vector bundle F_3 fits into the exact sequence (3.16)

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \xrightarrow{\gamma} F_3 \xrightarrow{\delta} F_2 \to 0. \tag{3.22}$$

Let $\{f_1^i, f_2^i\}$ be a basis of $F_2|_{U_i}$ such that $\alpha(1) = f_1^i$ and $\beta(f_2^i) = 1$ under the maps

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \xrightarrow{\alpha} F_2 \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$$

Then a transition matrix of F_2 with respect to this basis has the form

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}1&\beta_{i,j}\\0&1\end{array}\right)\in \mathrm{GL}(2,\mathcal{O}(U_i\cap U_j)).$$

Let $\{e_1^i, e_2^i, e_3^i\}$ be a basis of $F_3|_{U_i}$ such that $1 \mapsto e_1^i$ under the map γ and $e_k^i \mapsto f_{k-1}^i$ under the map δ for $k \in \{2, 3\}$. Then the transition matrix on $U_i \cap U_j$ of F_3 is given by

$$\eta_{i,j} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \gamma_{i,j} & \alpha_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}(3, \mathcal{O}(U_i \cap U_j))$$

We will show, that $\eta_{i,j}$ is symmetric, i.e $\beta_{i,j} = \gamma_{i,j}$. The dual of the sequence (3.22) is the sequence

$$0 \to F_2^{\vee} \to F_3^{\vee} \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$$

Furthermore as $F_2^{\vee} \cong F_2$ (By Proposition 3.2.7(i)) we can find a local basis for F_3^{\vee} such that the gluing over $U_i \cap U_j$ is given by

$$\overline{\eta}_{i,j} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \beta_{i,j} & \delta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 & \tau_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}(3, \mathcal{O}(U_i \cap U_j))$$

The existence of the isomorphism $F_3^{\vee} \cong F_3$ (Proposition 3.2.7(i)) implies that, there is a transformation $h_i \in GL(3, \mathcal{O}_{U_i})$ such that $h_i \bar{\eta}_{i,j} h_j^{-1} = \eta_{i,j}$. Furthermore by Proposition 3.2.7 for every $s, r \ge 1$ and s < r we have the diagram



where the bottom exact sequence is the dual of the sequence $0 \rightarrow F_{r-s} \rightarrow F_r \rightarrow F_s \rightarrow 0$. Now, since for each s < r the embedding of F_s in F_r as a subbundle is unique up to isomorphisms of F_r (see Proposition 3.2.7(ii)) the above diagram commutes. Furthermore its commutativity implies, that we can find a local basis $\{a_1^i, a_2^i, a_3^i\}$ of $F_3|_{U_i}$ and a local basis $\{\bar{a}_1^i, \bar{a}_2^i, \bar{a}_3^i\}$ of $F_3|_{U_i}$ such that $\bar{\eta}_{i,j} = \eta_{i,j}$ hence the gluing matrix is symmetric given by

$$\eta_{i,j} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \beta_{i,j} & \alpha_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}(3, \mathcal{O}(U_i \cap U_j)).$$

This proves the claim. Now using the gluing matrix we will describe automorphisms of F_3 . First of all the collection $\eta_{i,j}$ satisfy the cocycle condition, therefore the functions $\beta_{i,j}$ must form a cocycle $\beta = {\beta_{i,j}}$ in $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. It can not be 0 as F_2 is a non-trivial extension. An automorphism ϕ of F_3 is locally given by a matrix $\phi(U_i) = (A_i) \in GL(3, \mathcal{O}_{U_i})$ that commutes with the gluing data

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{A_{i}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

$$\downarrow^{\eta_{i,j}} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\eta_{i,j}}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{A_{j}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

meaning

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_i & b_i & c_i \\ d_i & e_i & f_i \\ g_i & h_i & k_i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \beta_{i,j} & \alpha_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \beta_{i,j} & \alpha_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_j & b_j & c_j \\ d_j & e_j & f_j \\ g_j & h_j & k_j \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore we obtain the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases} g_i = g_j \\ h_i - h_j = -g_i\beta_{i,j} \\ d_i - d_j = g_j\beta_{i,j} \\ e_i - e_j = (h_j - d_i)\beta_{i,j} \\ k_i - k_j = -g_i\alpha_{i,j} - h_i\beta_{i,j} \\ a_i - a_j = d_j\beta_{i,j} + g_j\alpha_{i,j} \\ b_i - b_j = (e_j - a_i)\beta_{i,j} + h_j\beta_{i,j} \\ f_i - f_j = (k_j - e_i)\beta_{i,j} - d_i\alpha_{i,j} \\ c_i - c_j = (f_j - b_i)\beta_{i,j} + (k_j - a_i)\alpha_{i,j} \end{cases}$$

The condition $g_i = g_j$ implies that the collection $\{g_i\}$ form a global section $g \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. Moreover we must have g = 0 if not $\beta_{i,j} = \frac{h_i - h_j}{g}$ which would imply, that $\beta_{i,j}$ is a coboundary and contradict indecomposability of F_2 . Consequently it follows, that $\{h_i\}$ and $\{d_i\}$ form global sections of $h, d \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. From the equality $e_i - e_j = (h_j - d_i)\beta_{i,j}$ follows, that h = d and therefore the collection $\{e_i\}$ form a global section $e \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. Moreover as g = 0 we have $k_i - k_j = -h\beta_{i,j}$ hence h = 0 and the elements $\{k_i\}$ form a global section $k \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. From d = g = 0 we deduce, that $a_i = a_j$ and therefore $\{a_i\}$ form a global section $a \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. Now as e, a and k, e are global sections of \mathcal{O}_C and h = d = 0 we have $b_i - b_j = (e - a)\beta_{i,j} = 0$ and k = e otherwise $\frac{f_i - f_j}{(k - e)} = \beta_{i,j}$. Then $f = \{f_i\} \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$ and also $b = \{b_i\} \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. As k = e = a the last equation implies f = b and $c = \{c_i\} \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. All in all we conclude, that automorphism group of F_3 is the group of 3×3 invertible matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}
a & b & c \\
0 & a & b \\
0 & 0 & a
\end{array}\right)$$

with $a, b, c \in k$ that is a semidirect product of the group of strictly upper triangular matrices

1	1	b	С	
	0	1	b	
l	0	0	1)

and the group of invertible diagonal matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}a&0&0\\0&a&0\\0&0&a\end{array}\right).$$

Consequently using the natural isomorphisms $\operatorname{Aut}(F_3) = (\mathbb{G}_a(k) \times \mathbb{G}_a(k)) \rtimes \mathbb{G}_m(k)$.

R3b) Assume *E* is a direct sum $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G$ with $G \in \overline{\Omega}_C(2,0)$. By Theorem 3.2.5(ii) there exists a unique line bundle $L \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$ such that $G = L \otimes F_2$. Furthermore it is clear, that if $E' = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G'$ is another vector bundle of this type, then $E \cong E'$ if and only if $G \cong G'$ hence the isomorphism class of *E* depends only on *G* which is determined by *L*. Therefore the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles *E* of the type $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G$, with $G \in \overline{\Omega}_C(2,0)$ is #C(k).

First we will describe automorphisms of F_2 and later compute automorphisms of $\mathcal{O}_C \oplus L \otimes F_2$. Take $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ an open cover of *C* such that there exist isomorphisms $F_2|_{U_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_{U_i}^{\oplus 2}$. Let $\{f_1^i, f_2^i\}$ be a local basis of $F_2|_{U_i}$ such that $\alpha(1) = f_1^i$ and $\beta(f_2^i) = 1$ under the maps (see:(3.16))

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \xrightarrow{\alpha} F_2 \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$$
 (3.23)

Then a transition matrix of F_2 with respect to this basis has the form

$$\delta_{i,j} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}\right)$$

The cocycle condition for $\{\delta_{i,j}\}$ implies, that the elements $\{\beta_{ij}\}$ form a cocycle, $\beta = \{\beta_{i,j}\} \in \text{Ext}^1(\mathcal{O}_C, \mathcal{O}_C) \cong H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. It is clear, that $\beta \neq 0$ as F_2 is a non-trivial extension. An automorphism φ of F_2 is locally given by a matrix $\varphi(U_i) = (A_i)_{1 \le i \le 2} \in \text{GL}(2, \mathcal{O}_{U_i})$ that commutes with the gluing data

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 2}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{A_{i}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 2}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

$$\downarrow^{\delta_{i,j}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\eta_{i,j}}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 2}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{A_{j}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{j}}^{\oplus 2}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

meaning

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a_i & b_i\\c_i & d_i\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{cc}1 & \beta_{i,j}\\0 & 1\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc}1 & \beta_{i,j}\\0 & 1\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{cc}a_j & b_j\\c_j & d_j\end{array}\right).$$

From the diagram above we obtain the following system of equalities

$$\begin{cases} c_i = c_j \\ a_i - a_j = c_j \beta_{i,j} \\ d_i - d_j = c_i \beta_{i,j} \\ b_i - b_j = (d_j + a_i) \beta_{i,j} \end{cases}$$

The condition $c_i = c_j$ implies that the c_i 's glue to a global section $c \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. Moreover we must have c = 0 otherwise the equality

$$\beta_{i,j} = \frac{a_i}{c} - \frac{a_j}{c}$$

is satisfied, which implies that $\beta_{i,j}$ is a coboundary and the exact sequence (3.23) splits. Hence c = 0 which consequently imply, that $a_i = a_j$ and $d_i = d_j$ and therefore a_i 's and d_i 's glue to give global sections $a, d \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. By applying the same argument as for c to the equation $b_i - b_j = (d - a)\beta_{i,j}$ we obtain a = d and hence a global section $b \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. Therefore the automorphism group of F_2 is the group of 2×2 matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}
a & b\\
0 & a
\end{array}\right)$$

with $a, b \in k$ and $a \neq 0$. This group is a direct product of the group of strictly upper triangular matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}1&b\\0&1\end{array}\right)$$

and the group of invertible diagonal matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a&0\\0&a\end{array}\right).$$

Therefore

$$\operatorname{Aut}(F_2) = \mathbb{G}_a(k) \rtimes \mathbb{G}_m(k). \tag{3.24}$$

Let us now describe automorphisms of $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F_2$. Again we take a covering $\{U_i\}_i$ of *C* such that $E|_{U_i} = (\mathcal{O}_C \oplus F_2)|_{U_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_{U_i} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{U_i} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{U_i}$. Take the basis $\{f_1^i, f_2^i\}$ of F_2 and complete it to the basis $\{1, f_1^i, f_2^i\}$ of $\mathcal{O}_C \oplus F_2$. As we have the direct decomposition of *E* a gluing on $U_i \cap U_j$ with respect to the basis $\{1, f_1^i, f_2^i\}$ and $\{1, f_1^j, f_2^j\}$ is given by

$$\zeta_{i,j} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array} \right),$$

where

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}1&\beta_{i,j}\\0&1\end{array}\right)$$

is a transition matrix of F_2 . Automorphisms of E are locally given by 3×3 matrices $(B_i) \in GL(3, \mathcal{O}_{U_i})$ that commute with the gluing data

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{B_{i}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

$$\downarrow^{\zeta_{i,j}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\zeta_{i,j}}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{U_{i}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}} \xrightarrow{B_{j}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{j}}^{\oplus 3}|_{U_{i}\cap U_{j}}$$

meaning

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_i & b_i & c_i \\ d_i & e_i & f_i \\ g_i & h_i & k_i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \beta_{i,j} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_j & b_j & c_j \\ d_j & e_j & f_j \\ g_j & h_j & k_j \end{pmatrix}$$

Therefore

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} a_i &= a_j \\ b_i &= b_j \\ g_i &= g_j \\ h_i &= h_j \\ c_j - c_i &= b_i \beta_{i,j} \\ k_j - k_i &= h_i \beta_{i,j} \\ e_j - e_i &= h_j \beta_{i,j} \\ d_j - d_i &= g_j \beta_{i,j} \\ f_j - f_i &= (e_i - k_j) \beta_{i,j} \end{array} \right.$$

The first four equalities imply, that the collections $\{a_i\}, \{b_i\}, \{g_i\}, \{h_i\}$ glue to global sections $a, b, g, h \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. The four next equalities imply, that b = h = g = 0 (otherwise $\beta_{i,j}$ would be a coboundary) which consequently leads to $\{c_i\}, \{k_i\}, \{e_i\}, \{g_i\}$ forming global sections $c, k, e, d \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$. The last equality proves, that e = k and that the collection $\{f_i\}$ gives a global section f of \mathcal{O}_C . We therefore conclude, that every automorphism of E is given by an invertible matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}
a & 0 & c \\
d & e & f \\
0 & 0 & e
\end{array}\right)$$

with $a, c, d, e, f \in k$. Therefore

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{ccc} a & 0 & c \\ d & e & f \\ 0 & 0 & e \end{array} \right) \text{ with } a, e \in k^* \text{ and } c, d, f \in k \right\}.$$

Assume now that $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L \otimes F_2$ with $L \notin \mathcal{O}_C$. Twisting the exact sequence (3.16) with *L* we obtain $H^0(C, L \otimes F_2) = 0$ and therefore there is no cross homomorphisms Hom $(L, F_2 \otimes L) = \text{Hom}(L, F_2 \otimes L) = 0$ (here we use Proposition 3.2.7(i)) which gives the direct decomposition

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{O} \oplus L \otimes F_2) = \mathbb{G}_m(k) \times \operatorname{Aut}(F_2).$$

R3c) Assume *E* is a direct sum $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G$, where *G* has rank 2 is indecomposable over *C* but not geometrically indecomposable. By Proposition 3.2.10 $\pi^*E = L_1 \oplus L_2$ with deg $(L_i) = 0$, $L_1 \notin L_2$ and $L_i \notin \mathcal{O}_{C^2}$, where $\pi : C^2 := C^2 \times_k k^2 \rightarrow C$ is the projection. Lemma 3.2.16 implies that the isomorphism class of *G* determines the isomorphism class of *E*. Furthermore if we fix L_1 then the line bundle L_2 is determined by L_1 namely $L_2 = \sigma(L_1)$, where $\sigma \in G(k^2/k)$ is a generator. Now as $\operatorname{Pic}^0(C^2) \cong C^2$ the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles *G* as above is at most

$$\#C(k^2) - \#C(k) - 1.$$

To describe the automorphism group of each *E* we use the Remark 3.2.14. Let $\pi : C^2 := C \times_k k^2 \to C$ be the projection, then by Proposition 3.2.9 $\pi^* G = M_1 \oplus M_2$, where $M_i \in \text{Pic}^0(C^2)$ with $M_1 \notin M_2$ and $M_i \notin \mathcal{O}_{C^2}$ for i = 1, 2. Using properties of M_i 's for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}, M_i) = \operatorname{Hom}(M_i, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}) = \operatorname{Hom}(M_i, M_i) = 0.$$

Therefore the \mathcal{O}_{C^2} -linear automorphisms of $\pi^* E$ are given by invertible matrices

(а	0	0	
[0	d	0	
l	0	0	е	J

with $a, d, e \in k^2$. Furthermore the Galois group acts on $\pi^* E$ by fixing \mathcal{O}_{C^2} and permuting M_1 and M_2 . Its corresponding matrix representation is

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & 0\end{array}\right)$$

and the Gal(k^2/k)-invariant automorphisms of $\pi^* E$ are those, that satisfy the relation

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & 0\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}a & 0 & 0\\ 0 & d & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & 0\end{array}\right)^{-1}=\left(\begin{array}{rrr}\overline{a} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \overline{d} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \overline{e}\end{array}\right),$$

where \overline{a} denotes the conjugation of *a*. We have

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & 0\end{array}\right)^{-1} = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & 0\end{array}\right).$$

Consequently automorphisms of E are invertible matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}a&0&0\\0&d&0\\0&0&\overline{d}\end{array}\right)$$

with $a, d \in k^2$ and hence

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \mathbb{G}_m(k) \times \operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m(k),$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m$ denotes the Weil restriction of \mathbb{G}_m .

R3e) Assume *E* is a direct sum of three line bundles of degree 0 defined over *C*. Therefore up to twist we have $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ with $L_i \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$. The number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles *E* of $\mu(E) = 0$ and $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ with $L_i \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$ is at most $\#C(k)^2$.

Assume now that $E = \mathcal{O} \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ and let us write $L_0 := \mathcal{O}_C$, then every \mathcal{O}_C -linear endomorphism of *E* is given by a matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccc}a_{11}&a_{12}&a_{13}\\a_{21}&a_{22}&a_{33}\\a_{31}&a_{32}&a_{33}\end{array}\right)$$

with $a_{i,j} \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}}(L_i, L_j)$ for $0 \le i \le 2$ and $0 \le j \le 2$ and for i = j we have $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}}(L_i, L_j) = k$. First of all only the following cases occur

$$\begin{cases} L_1 \cong L_2 \cong \mathcal{O}_C \\ L_1 \cong L_2 \notin \mathcal{O}_C \\ L_1 \notin L_2 \cong \mathcal{O}_C \\ \mathcal{O}_C \notin L_1 \notin L_2 \cong \mathcal{O}_C \end{cases}$$

It is clear, that the case $E = \mathcal{O}_C^{\oplus 3}$ brings

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \operatorname{GL}_3(k).$$

The second condition $L_1 \cong L_2$ but $L_i \notin \mathcal{O}_C$ implies $\text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_i) = \text{Hom}(L_i, \mathcal{O}_C) = 0$ and $\text{Hom}(L_1, L_2) = \text{Hom}(L_2, L_1) = k$ and therefore

Aut(
$$\mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_1$$
) = $\mathbb{G}_m(k) \times \mathrm{GL}_2(k)$.

Suppose $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ with $L_1 \notin L_2 \cong \mathcal{O}_C$. That gives $\text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_1) = \text{Hom}(L_1, \mathcal{O}_C) = 0$ and $\text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_2) = \text{Hom}(L_2, \mathcal{O}_C) = k$. Moreover as $L_1 \notin L_2$ we have $\text{Hom}(L_1, L_2) = \text{Hom}(L_2, L_1) = 0$ and therefore

$$#Aut(E) = (q-1)^3 q^2$$

In the last case $\mathcal{O}_C \notin L_1 \notin L_2 \notin \mathcal{O}_C$ we have $\text{Hom}(L_i, L_j) = 0$ for $i \neq j$ and $\text{Hom}(L_i, L_i) = k$. Therefore in this case, the automorphism group is

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \operatorname{Diag}(3, k).$$

Lemma 3.2.16. Let E, E' be rank 3 vector bundles on C such $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G, E' = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus G'$, where G, G' are indecomposable over C but not geometrically indecomposable. Then

$$E \cong E' \Longleftrightarrow \pi^* E \cong \pi^* E',$$

where $\pi : C^2 := C \times_k k^2 \to C$ is the projection.

Proof. The implication " \Rightarrow " is clear. To prove the implication " \Leftarrow " we must show that $H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(k^2/k), \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{C}^2}(\pi^*E)) = 1$. By Proposition 3.2.9 $\pi^*G = M_1 \oplus M_2$, where $M_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(\mathbb{C}^2)$ for some $d \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $M_1 \notin M_2$ and $M_i \notin \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ for i = 1, 2. Assume that d is positive (the case d < 0 is symmetric and d = 0 will follow from this case). Then the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ -linear automorphisms of π^*E are given by invertible matrices

with $a, d, e \in k^2$ and $b, c \in (k^2)^d$. Therefore Aut $(\pi^* E) = (\mathbb{G}_a^d \times \mathbb{G}_a^d) \rtimes (\mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m)$ and we have the exact sequence of groups

$$1 \to \mathbb{G}_a^d \times \mathbb{G}_a^d \to \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^* E) \to \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \to 1.$$
(3.25)

which induces the long exact cohomology sequence

$$1 \to H^{0}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \mathbb{G}_{a}^{d} \times \mathbb{G}_{a}^{d}) \to H^{0}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^{*}E)) \to H^{0}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \mathbb{G}_{m} \times \mathbb{G}_{m} \times \mathbb{G}_{m})$$
$$\to H^{1}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \mathbb{G}_{a}^{d} \times \mathbb{G}_{a}^{d}) \to H^{1}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^{*}E)) \to H^{1}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{2}/k), \mathbb{G}_{m} \times \mathbb{G}_{m} \times \mathbb{G}_{m}).$$

By Hilbert's 90 we have $H^1(\text{Gal}(k^2/k), \mathbb{G}_a^d \times \mathbb{G}_a^d) = H^1(\text{Gal}(k^2/k), \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m) =$ 1. Consequently from the above long exact sequence follows

$$H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(k^2/k), \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^*E)) = 1$$

which proves the statement. For d < 0 the automorphism group does not change and for d = 0 we have $\operatorname{Aut}(\pi^* E) = \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m$. This finishes the proof.

Corollary 3.2.17. *Let* G, G' *be rank* 2 *vector bundles on* C *that are indecomposable over* C *but not geometrically indecomposable. Then*

$$G \cong G' \Longleftrightarrow \pi^* G \cong \pi^* G',$$

where $\pi: C^2 := C \times_k k^2 \to C$ is the projection.

Proof. Following the proof of Proposition 3.2.16 we observe, that $\operatorname{Aut}(\pi^*G) = \mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m$, which by Hilbert 90 leads to $H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(k^2/k), \operatorname{Aut}(\pi^*G)) = 1$.

Now we will treat the case of vector bundles that are indecomposable over *C* but not geometrically.

Lemma 3.2.18. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Let *E* be a semi-stable vector bundle on *C* of slope $\mu(E) = \frac{3}{3} = 1$ that is indecomposable on *C* but not geometrically indecomposable. Then the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles of this type is at most

$$\#C(k^3) - \#C(k) - 1$$

and $\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \operatorname{Res}_{k^3/k} \mathbb{G}_m(k)$.

Proof. Let $\pi : C^3 = C \times_k k^3 \to C$ be the projection. By Proposition 3.2.9 we have $\pi^* E = M_1 \oplus M_2 \oplus M_3$, with $M_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(C)$ and $M_i \notin M_j$ for $i \neq j$ and such that $M'_i s$ do not descend to *C*. It is clear, that the isomorphism class of *E* is determined by the $M'_i s$ up to isomorphism. If we fix M_1 , then M_2 and M_3 are determined by M_1 , namely $M_2 = \sigma(M_1)$ and $M_3 = \sigma^2(M_1)$, where $\sigma \in G(k^3/k)$ is a generator. Now as $\operatorname{Pic}^0(C^2) \cong C^2$ the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles *E* as above is at most $\#C(k^3) - \#C(k) - 1$. To describe automorphisms of *E* we use the Remark

3.2.14. First of all we have $\text{Hom}(M_i, M_j) = k^3$ if i = j and $\text{Hom}(M_i, M_j) = 0$ if $i \neq j$. Hence automorphisms of $\pi^* E$ that are \mathcal{O}_{C^3} -linear are given by 3×3 invertible matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} a & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{array}\right)$$

with $a, b, c \in k^3$. The Galois group $G(k^3/k)$ acts by a 3-cycle permutation. Its corresponding matrix representation is given by

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{array}\right) \text{ or } \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right)$$

however

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right)^{-1} = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$$

and therefore it is enough to consider only one of them. Automorphisms of *E* are those invertible matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr}
a & 0 & 0 \\
0 & b & 0 \\
0 & 0 & c
\end{array}\right)$$

with coefficients

$$a, b, c \in k^3$$

that satisfy

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{ccc} a & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right)^{-1} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \overline{a} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \overline{b} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \overline{c} \end{array}\right),$$

where \overline{a} denotes the conjugate of *a*. Therefore

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & c & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \overline{a} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \overline{b} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \overline{c} \end{array}\right)$$

and hence $b = c = \bar{a}$, which implies that $\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \operatorname{Res}_{k^3/k} \mathbb{G}_m(k)$.

Proposition 3.2.19. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ and let *E* be a rank 3 semi-stable vector bundle of degree 0, then the dimension of the vector space

$$V_E = H^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes \det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega)$$

is bounded by

$$\begin{cases} \dim_k V_E \le 10, & \text{if } d = 0, \\ \dim_k V_E = 10d, & \text{if } d \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.26)$$

Proof. Let $d \ge 0$ and let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ we will bound the dimension of the vector space $V_E := H^0(C, \text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E)$ for a semi-stable vector bundle *E* of degree 0. There are two cases to consider. Assume d = 0, then by Theorem 1.2.4 the vector bundle $\text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E$ is semi-stable. We have

$$\mu(\text{Sym}^{3}(E)) = 3\mu(E) = \frac{3 \deg(E)}{3} = \deg(E),$$

and therefore

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E)) + \mu(M_{E}) = \operatorname{deg}(E) - \operatorname{deg}(E) + d = 0$$

Hence by Proposition 1.3.2

$$h^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E) \le 10.$$

In the case $d \ge 1$ the slope $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E) = 10d \ge 10$ and as $\text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E$ is semi-stable with positive degree hence

$$h^0(C,\operatorname{Sym}^3(E)\otimes M_E)=10d.$$

Remark 3.2.20. All in all for the cases (R3a)-(R3d) we have

$$\begin{cases} \#\mathbb{P}(V_E)(k) \le \frac{q^{10}-1}{q-1} & \text{if } d = 0 \\ \\ \#\mathbb{P}(V_E)(k) = \frac{q^{10d}-1}{q-1} & \text{if } d \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.27)

3.2.2 Unstable case

Let $d \ge 0$ let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Let *E* be an unstable vector bundle of rank 3 on *C* with the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of the type

$$0 \subset E_{\max} \subset E_{\lambda}$$

where E_{max} is the maximal destabilizing subbundle of E (we also used the notation E_1 in Section 3.2) and let Q denote the quotient E/E_{max} . By Proposition 3.2.1 we have $E \cong E_{\text{max}} \oplus Q$. For convenience we assume here that $\text{rk}(E_{\text{max}}) = 2$ however the below construction work as well for the case $\text{rk}(E_{\text{max}}) = 1$. We would like to point out here that over an elliptic curve the tensor product of semi-stable vector bundles is semi-stable (see: Theorem 1.2.3) as well as are the symmetric powers of a semi-stable vector bundle (see: Theorem 1.2.4). Consider the smooth projective threefold

$$\pi: P := \operatorname{Proj}_{C}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(E)) \longrightarrow C.$$

and let $\mathcal{O}_P(1)$ be the invertible sheaf on *P* such that $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_P(1) = E$. We have surjective maps $E \longrightarrow E_{\text{max}}$ and $E \longrightarrow Q$ which give us the following commutative diagram



The scheme $P_{E_{\max}} := \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(E_{\max}))$ is a ruled surface and the scheme $P_Q := \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^*(Q))$ is isomorphic to the base curve *C*. Denote by M_E the line bundle $\det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega$. We are interested in bounding the dimension of

$$H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Every such a global section defines a family of degree three curves $Y \rightarrow C$ inside *P*. We are not interested in all sections but in those whose zero sets lie in $A_{C,\omega}$. To

bound this dimension we proceed as follows. First note, that we have the projection formula

$$H^0(P,\mathcal{O}_P(3)\otimes\pi^*(M_E))=H^0(C,\operatorname{Sym}^3(E)\otimes M_E).$$

The vector bundle $\text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E$ is a rank 10 vector bundle of slope

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E)) + \mu(M_{E})$$

$$= 3\mu(E) + \mu(M_{E}) \qquad (3.28)$$

$$= d$$

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E} =$$

$$\left[\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E_{\max}) \oplus \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max}) \otimes Q\right) \oplus \left(E_{\max} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(Q)\right) \oplus \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q)\right] \otimes M_{E}$$

where by Theorem 1.2.4 all the summands are semi-stable. The decomposition above gives us the decomposition of the cohomology groups

$$H^{i}\left(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E}\right) =$$
(3.29)

$$H^{i}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E_{\max}) \otimes M_{E}) \oplus H^{i}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_{E})$$
$$\oplus H^{i}(C, E_{\max} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(Q) \otimes M_{E}) \oplus H^{i}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q) \otimes M_{E}).$$

If we bound the h^1 - dimensions of the summands, we will get a bound of the dimension of

$$H^1(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E) = H^1(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$$

and consequently using Riemann-Roch a bound of the dimension of

$$H^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E) = H^1(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Observe, that

$$\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_{E}\right) = \mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max})\right) + \mu(Q) + \mu(M_{E})$$
$$= 2\mu(E_{\max}) + \deg(Q) - \deg(E) + d \qquad (3.30)$$
$$= d \ge 0.$$

Proposition 3.2.21. Let $d \ge 0$ and let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^d(C)$. Assume furthermore that E is an unstable vector bundle on C with the maximal destabilizing subbundle E_{max} of rank 2. Let Q denote the quotient $Q := E/E_{\text{max}}$. Let $\pi : P = \text{Proj}_C(\text{Sym}^*E) \to C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)),$$

where $M_E = \det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega$. Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and let $i: Y \rightarrow P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g: Y \rightarrow C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

- (a) $\mu(E_{\max}) \mu(Q) > 0$,
- (b) $\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E_{\max})\otimes M_{E}\right)\geq 0,$
- (c) If $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E) < 0$, then C is a section of the surface Y

(d) If $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E) < 0$, then $\mu(\text{Sym}^2(Q) \otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_E) \ge 0$;

(e) $\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^2(Q) \otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_E) \ge 0.$

Proof. (a) This is a property of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration.

(b) Assume μ (Sym³(E_{max}) \otimes M_E) < 0. We have the restriction map

$$\left[\mathcal{O}_{P}(3)\otimes\pi^{*}(M_{E})\right]|_{P_{E_{\max}}}=\mathcal{O}_{P_{E_{\max}}}(3)\otimes\pi^{*}_{E_{\max}}(M_{E})$$

and by assumption

$$H^0\left(P_{E_{\max}}, \mathcal{O}_{P_{E_{\max}}}(3) \otimes \pi^*_{E_{\max}}(M_E)\right) = H^0\left(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E_{\max}) \otimes M_E\right) = 0.$$

Take

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$$

Let *Y* be the zero scheme of *s*. By the above, the restriction of *s* to $P_{E_{\text{max}}}$ is zero, hence *Y* contains the ruled surface $P_{E_{\text{max}}}$. This means that the generic fiber of $Y \rightarrow C$ contains a \mathbb{P}^1 which contradicts the assumption that the generic fiber is a smooth connected projective curve with trivial canonical sheaf.

(c) The surjection *E* → *Q* defines the inclusion of *C* in *P* and the ideal sheaf of *C* inside *P* is the ideal *I*_{*C*/*P*} = *I*, where *I* is generated by the kernel *E*_{max} ⊆ Sym¹(*E*). Let

$$s \in H^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E)$$

Now as we assume $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E) < 0$ semistability of $\text{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E$ give us vanishing of

$$H^0(\operatorname{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E) = 0$$

and hence

$$H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E}) = H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E_{\max}) \otimes M_{E}) \oplus$$
$$H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_{E}) \oplus H^{0}(C, E_{\max} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(Q) \otimes M_{E}).$$

The section *s* generates a homogeneous ideal *J* in Sym^{*}(*E*) \otimes *M*_{*E*}. Let *Y* be the closed subscheme defined by the sheaf of ideals $\mathcal{J}_{Y/P} = \tilde{J}$. By the above the surjective map

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E} \to \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q) \otimes M_{E}$$

sends *s* to zero, hence we have an inclusion of ideals $J \subseteq I$. Since the statement is local, we conclude that *C* is a section of the surface *Y*.

(d) By assumption $Y \to C$ is generically smooth and therefore $C \hookrightarrow Y$ is generically a regular embedding. Let $\mathcal{J}_{Y/P} = \tilde{J}$ be the ideal sheaf of Y in $P, J \subset$ Sym^{*}(E) $\otimes M_E$ it is a homogeneous ideal generated by the section s. Let $\mathcal{I}_{C/P} = \tilde{I}$ be the ideal sheaf of C inside P i.e. I is generated by the kernel $E_{\max} \subseteq$ Sym¹(E). Assume $\mu($ Sym³(Q) $\otimes M_E$) < 0 and $\mu($ Sym²(Q) $\otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_E$) < 0, then we have the decomposition

$$H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes M_{E}) = H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E_{\max}) \otimes M_{E}) \oplus H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Sym}^{2}(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_{E})$$

Furthermore the above decomposition implies that the inclusion $J \subseteq I^2$ holds. We claim that then Y is singular along the section C. According to [EGA IV, Exp. *IV*, Proposition 16.2.7] locally on *C* the conormal bundle $\mathcal{N}_{C/Y}$ of *C* inside *Y* is given by

$$I/(I^2+J)$$
.

If *Y* were smooth along *C* [SGA I, Corollaire 4.11] then at every point $x \in C$ the dimension of \mathcal{N}_{C/Y_x} would be equal the codimension of *C* in *Y* which is 1. Using $J \subseteq I^2$ and the fact that *C* is smooth in *P* we get

$$\dim \mathcal{N}_{C/Y_{r}} = \dim \mathcal{N}_{C/P_{r}} = 2.$$

This implies that Y is singular along C which is a contradiction

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q) \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q)) + \mu(M_{E})$$

= $3\mu(Q) - \deg(E) + d$
= $3\deg(Q) - \deg(Q) - \deg(E_{\max}) + d$
= $2\deg(Q) - \deg(E_{\max}) + d$.

and

$$\mu(\text{Sym}^{2}(Q) \otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\text{Sym}^{2}(Q)) + \mu(E_{\max}) + \mu(M_{E})$$

= $2\mu(Q) + \mu(E_{\max}) + \mu(M_{E})$
= $2 \deg(Q) + \mu(E_{\max}) - \deg(E) + d$
= $\frac{1}{2} \Big(4 \deg(Q) + \deg(E_{\max}) - 2 \deg(E) + 2d \Big)$
= $\frac{1}{2} \Big(2 \deg(Q) - \deg(E_{\max}) + 2d \Big).$

Therefore if $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(Q) \otimes M_E) \ge 0$ so is $\mu(\text{Sym}^2(Q) \otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_E) \ge 0$ which together with (d) gives that the slope

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^2(Q) \otimes E_{\max} \otimes M_E) \ge 0.$$

is always non-negative.

By the above we can conclude, that if *E* is a vector bundle on *C* such that *E* is not semi-stable and the maximal destabilizing subbundle E_{max} of *E* is of rank 2 then *E* gives a contribution to the sum from Theorem 3.1.23 if the slope inequalities from Proposition 3.2.21 are satisfied. We will analyze those inequalities in the next subsection.

We also have a similar statement, when $rk(E_{max}) = 1$.

Proposition 3.2.22. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Assume, E is an unstable vector bundle on C with the maximal destabilizing subbundle E_{\max} of rank 1. Let Q denote the quotient $Q := E/E_{\max}$. Let $\pi : P = \text{Proj}_{C}(\text{Sym}^{*}E) \to C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and let $i : Y \hookrightarrow P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

- (a) $\mu(E_{\max}) \mu(Q) > 0$
- (b) $\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(Q)\otimes M_{E}\right)\geq 0;$
- (c) If $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(E_{\text{max}}) \otimes M_E) < 0$, then C is a section of the surface Y
- (d) If $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(E_{\max}) \otimes M_E) < 0$ then $\mu(\text{Sym}^2(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_E) \ge 0$.
- (e) $\mu(\text{Sym}^2(E_{\max}) \otimes Q \otimes M_E) \ge 0.$

Proof. Follow the proof of Proposition 3.2.21 with E_{max} replaced with Q and Q replaced with E_{max} .

Remark 3.2.23. Notice, that we can as well apply the whole construction to a twist of *E* then we get a bound for slopes of twisted summands.

Unstable case with the maximal destabilizing subbundle of rank 2

Let *E* be an unstable vector bundle on *C* with $rk(E_{max}) = 2$ and the quotient $Q := E/E_{max} \in Pic(C)$. Then by Proposition 3.2.1 we have $E \cong E_{max} \oplus Q$ and up to twist with a line bundle

$$E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F,$$

where *F* is a semi-stable rank 2 vector bundle of degree $deg(F) > deg(\mathcal{O}_C) = 0$.

Lemma 3.2.24. Consider a vector bundle $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$, such that F is semi-stable with $\operatorname{rk}(F) = 2$ and $\mu(F) > \mu(\mathcal{O}_C) = 0$. Then we have the following cases.

(L2a) $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$, with gcd(2, deg(F)) = 1 and hence F is geometrically stable,

- (L2b) or $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$, with gcd(2, deg(F)) = 2 and F is geometrically indecomposable
- (L2c) or $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$, with gcd(2, deg(F)) = 2 where F is indecomposable over C but splits over $C^2 := C \times_k k^2$.
- (L2d) $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$, with gcd(2, deg(F)) = 2 where $F = L_1 \oplus L_2$ with $L_1, L_2 \in Pic^l(C)$ and l > 0.

Furthermore let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ and let $\pi : P = \text{Proj}_{C}(\text{Sym}^{*}E) \rightarrow C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)),$$

where $M_E = \det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega$. Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and $i : Y \to P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

- (a) The degree of E is bounded by $0 < \deg E \le 2d$.
- (b) Let $V_E = H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$ then

$$\dim_k V_E = \begin{cases} 11d + 2 & \text{if } \deg E = 2d \\ 10d & \text{if } 0 < \deg E < d \\ \le 10d + 1 & \text{if } \deg E = d \\ 9d + \deg E & \text{if } d < \deg E < 2d \end{cases}$$

(c) The number of automorphisms of E in the respective cases is as follows

$$#Aut(E) = \begin{cases} (q-1)^2 q^{\deg E}, & in \ the \ case \ (L2a);\\ \geq (q-1)^2 q^{\deg E}, & in \ the \ case \ (L2b);\\ (q-1)^2 (q+1) q^{\deg E}, & in \ the \ case \ (L2c);\\ (q-1)^3 (q+1) q^{\deg E+1}, & in \ the \ case \ (L2d) \ with \ L_1 \cong L_2;\\ (q-1)^3 q^{\deg E}, & in \ the \ case \ (L2d) \ with \ L_1 \ncong L_2. \end{cases}$$

(d) For a fixed degree of E, deg $(E) \in (0, 2d]$ the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$ in the respective cases is

$$\begin{cases} \#C(k), & in \ the \ case \ (L2a); \\ \leq \#C(k), & in \ the \ case \ (L2b); \\ \leq \#C(k^2) - \#C(k) - 1, & in \ the \ case \ (L2c); \\ \leq \#C(k)^2, & in \ the \ case \ (L2d); \end{cases}$$

Proof. We know, that *F* is semi-stable, therefore if gcd(deg(F), 2) = 1 then *F* is geometrically stable. If gcd(deg(F), 2) = 2 then there are three possible cases *F* might be geometrically indecomposable, or might be indecomposable over *C* but not geometrically indecomposable or *E* is a sum of two line bundles defined over *C*.

For (a) it is clear, that deg(E) > 0. Furthermore observe that by Proposition 3.2.21(d) we have

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(\mathcal{O}_{C}) \otimes F \otimes M_{E}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(2 \operatorname{deg} \mathcal{O}_{C} - \operatorname{deg}(F) + 2d \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\operatorname{deg}(F) + 2d \right) \ge 0$$

hence $\deg F = \deg E$ which leads to

$$0 < \deg E \le 2d.$$

To prove (b) recall that we have the splitting (3.29). The slope $\mu(\text{Sym}^3(\mathcal{O}_C) \otimes M_E) = d - \text{deg}(E)$ can be negative. The slopes of the other summands

$$\begin{cases} \mu \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(F) \otimes M_{E} \right) = 3\mu(F) + \mu(M_{E}) = \frac{\operatorname{deg} E + 2d}{2} > 0\\ \mu \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(\mathcal{O}_{C}) \otimes F \otimes M_{E} \right) = \mu(F) + \mu(M_{E}) = \frac{-\operatorname{deg} E + 2d}{2} \ge 0\\ \mu \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(F) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{C} \otimes M_{E} \right) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(F)) + \mu(M_{E}) = d > 0 \end{cases}$$

Therefore by Riemann-Roch, Proposition 1.1.10 and Proposition 1.3.2 the dimension of $V_E := H^0(\text{Sym}^3(E) \otimes M_E)$ is a follows

$$\dim_k V_E = \begin{cases} 11d + 2 & \text{if } \deg E = 2d \\ 10d & \text{if } 0 < \deg E < d \\ \le 10d + 1 & \text{if } \deg E = d \\ 10d + \deg E - d & \text{if } d < \deg E < 2d \end{cases}$$

(c)To count automorphisms of *E* we use its direct decomposition. The fact, that $\mu(F) > 0$ and semi-stability of *F* imply Hom $(F, \mathcal{O}_C) = 0$. Furthermore Hom $(\mathcal{O}_C, F) = H^0(C, F)$ and as *F* is semi-stable with positive slope dim_k $H^0(C, F) = \deg(F)$. Hence End $(E) = k \oplus \text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, F) \oplus \text{End}(F)$ and therefore

$$#\operatorname{Aut}(E) = (q-1)q^{\operatorname{deg}(F)} #\operatorname{Aut}(F).$$

Furthermore if *F* is geometrically stable, then $\operatorname{Aut}(F) = \mathbb{G}_m(k)$. If *F* is geometrically indecomposable, then $\mathbb{G}_m(k) \subset \operatorname{Aut}(F)$ and hence $\#\operatorname{Aut}(E) \ge q - 1$. Assume

that *F* is indecomposable over *C* but not geometrically indecomposable, then by Proposition 3.2.10 $\pi^*F = M_1 \oplus M_2$ where $\pi : C^2 := C \times_k k^2 \to C$ is the projection and $M_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C^2)$ are such that $M_1 \notin M_2$, $M_i \notin \mathcal{O}_C$ and d > 0. Furthermore as $M_1 \oplus M_2$ is semi-stable, so is by Proposition 1.1.4 the vector bundle *F*. Automorphisms of π^*F are therefore invertible 2 × 2 matrices

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a&0\\0&b\end{array}\right)$$

with $a, b \in k^2$. The Galois group $G(k^2/k)$ acts on F by permuting M_1 and M_2 . It naturally acts on $End(\pi^*F)$ by conjugation and $Aut(G) = Aut(\pi^*F)^{G(k^2/k)}$. Therefore automorphisms of F must satisfy

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)^{-1} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \bar{a} & 0 \\ 0 & \bar{b} \end{array}\right),$$

where \bar{a} denotes the conjugation of the element *a* of k^2 . Consequently

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} b & 0\\ 0 & a \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \bar{a} & 0\\ 0 & \bar{b} \end{array}\right).$$

Therefore $b = \bar{a}$ and hence $\operatorname{Aut}(F) = \operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m(k)$, where $\operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m$ is the Weil restriction of \mathbb{G}_m . For the last case suppose, that $F = L_1 \oplus L_2$ then semi-stability implies, that $\deg(L_1) = \deg(L_2)$. Therefore we have two cases $L_1 \cong L_2$ or $L_1 \not\cong L_2$. Then automorphism group is as follows

$$\operatorname{Aut}(F) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{GL}(2,k), & \text{if } L_1 \cong L_2; \\ \operatorname{G}_m(k) \times \operatorname{G}_m(k), & \text{if } L_1 \notin L_2. \end{cases}$$

To prove the last statement fix the degree of *E*, $deg(E) \in (0, 2d]$. The vector bundle F is semi-stable, therefore if gcd(2, deg(F)) = 1 then F is geometrically stable. The number geometrically stable vector bundles of fixed degree is #C(k). By the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration the vector bundle E is up to isomorphism uniquely determined by *F*. If gcd(2, deg(F)) = 2 then we have three cases: F is geometrically indecomposable or F splits into a sum of line bundles after degree two extension of k or F is a direct sum of two line bundles defined over k. If F is geometrically indecomposable, then the number of isomorphism classes of geometrically indecomposable vector bundles of rank 2 and degree deg(F) is by Theorem 3.2.4 equal to #C(k). Here again by the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration E is up to isomorphism uniquely determined by F. Assume now, that F is indecomposable over C but not geometrically indecomposable, then by Proposition 3.2.10 $\pi^*F = M_1 \oplus M_2$ where $\pi : C^2 := C \times_k k^2 \to C$ is the projection and $M_i \in \text{Pic}^d(\mathbb{C}^2)$ are such that $M_1 \notin M_2$, $M_i \notin \mathcal{O}_C$ and d > 0. Furthermore by Lemma 3.2.16 the vector bundle *E* is up to isomorphism uniquely determined by the pair (M_1, M_2) . The number of possible pairs (M_1, M_2) is at most $\#C(k^2) - \#C(k) - 1$ (see: proof of Lemma 3.2.15(R3c)). For the last case assume, that *F* is a direct sum of two line bundles $L_1 \oplus L_2$, $L_1, L_2 \in Pic(C)$. By the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration the vector bundle $E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus F$ is up to isomorphism uniquely determined by the pair (L_1, L_2) and the number of possible choices of (L_1, L_2) is at most $\#C(k)^2$.

Unstable case with the maximal destabilizing subbundle of rank 1

Assume *E* is an unstable vector bundle on *C* with the maximal destabilizing subbundle E_{max} of rank $\text{rk}(E_{\text{max}}) = 1$ and let $Q := \frac{E}{E_{\text{max}}}$ be the quotient. As $\text{rk}(Q) = \frac{E}{E_{\text{max}}}$ 2 depending on whether the degree of *Q* is even or odd, we can twist *Q* with a line bundle such that we make its degree 0 or 1.

deg(Q)=1

Assume we can normalize *E* such that $E = L \oplus G$, where *L* is a line bundle, *G* is a rank 2 vector bundle and $\mu(L) > \mu(G) = \frac{1}{2}$.

Lemma 3.2.25. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Consider a vector bundle $E = L \oplus G$, where L is a line bundle, G is a rank 2 vector bundle and $\mu(L) > \mu(G) = \frac{1}{2}$. Let $\pi : P = \operatorname{Proj}_{C}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*} E) \to C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and $i : Y \hookrightarrow P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

(a) The degree of E is bounded by

$$1 < \deg E \le d + 1$$

- (b) For $V_E = H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$ we have dim_k $V_E = 10d$.
- (c) Moreover

$$#Aut(E) = (q-1)^2 q^{2 \deg L - 1}$$

(d) Fix the degree of E, deg(E) ∈ (1, d + 1] then the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles E as above is at most #C(k)².

Proof. For (a) by Proposition 3.2.22(b) we have

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^3(G) \otimes M_E) = \frac{1}{2} (3 \deg G - 2 \deg E + 2d) \ge 0.$$

Therefore $2 \deg L \le 2d + \deg G = 2d + 1$ and hence

$$1 < \deg(L) \le d + 1 \iff 2 < \deg E \le d + 2. \tag{3.31}$$

To show (b) we use (3.31) it gives

$$\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(L) \otimes M_{E}\right) = 2 \deg L + d > 0$$

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(L) \otimes G \otimes M_{E}) = 2 \deg L - \frac{1}{2} + 2d > 0$$

$$\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(G) \otimes L \otimes M_{E}\right) = d > 0$$
(3.32)

and therefore

$$\dim_k V_E = 10d.$$

To prove (c) observe, that the vector bundles *L* and *G* are geometrically stable with $\mu(L) > \mu(G) = 1$ hence Hom(*G*, *G*) = *k* and Hom(*L*, *G*) = 0 and therefore Hom(*E*, *E*) = $k \oplus k \oplus$ Hom(*G*, *L*) which implies

$$#Aut(E) = (q-1)^2 q^{2 \deg L - 1}$$

To show (d) observe that from the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration follows, that up to isomorphism *E* is uniquely determined by *L* and *G*. As the degree of *G* is 1 hence gcd(2,1) = 1 which means that *G* is geometrically stable, moreover any line bundle on *C* is geometrically stable. Therefore for a fixed degree of *E* (which is deg *E* = deg *L* + 1) the number of isomorphism classes of such vector bundles is at most $\#C(k)^2$.

deg(Q) = 0

We normalize *E* such that $E = L \oplus G$, where *L* is a line bundle, *G* is a rank 2 vector bundle of slope $\mu(G) = 0$ and $\mu(L) > \mu(G) = 0$.

Lemma 3.2.26. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Consider a vector bundle $E = L \oplus G$, such that L is a line bundle, G is a rank 2 vector bundle and $\mu(L) > \mu(G) = 0$. Then up to a twist with a degree 0 line bundle we have the following cases.

- (R2a) $E = L \oplus G$ where $G \cong F_2$ i.e. G is geometrically indecomposable;
- (R2b) or $E = L \oplus G$ with G is an indecomposable vector bundle of rank 2 over C but splits into a direct sum of line bundles over $C^2 = C \times_k k^2$.
- (R2c) or $E = L \oplus G$ where G is a sum of line bundles over C and hence $G = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus M$ with $M \in \text{Pic}^0(C)$.

Furthermore, let π : $P = \operatorname{Proj}_{C}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*} E) \rightarrow C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and $i : Y \hookrightarrow P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$. Then

(a) The degree of E is bounded by

$$1 \leq \deg(E) \leq d$$

- (b) For the vector space $V_E = H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$ we have dim_k $V_G = 10d$.
- (c) The number of automorphisms of E in the respective cases is as follows

$$#\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \begin{cases} (q-1)q^{\deg L+1} & \text{in the case (R2a)} \\ (q-1)(q^2-1)q^{\deg L} & \text{in the case (R2b)} \\ (q-1)q(q^2-1)q^{\deg L} & \text{in the case (R2c) with } M \cong \mathcal{O}_C \\ (q-1)^2 q^{\deg L} & \text{in the case (R2c) with } M \notin \mathcal{O}_C \end{cases}$$

(d) Fix the degree of E, deg $(E) \in (1, d]$ then the number of isomorphism classes of E is as follows

$$#E = \begin{cases} #C(k) & in \ the \ case \ (R2a) \\ \leq #C(k)(#C(k^2) - #C(k) - 1) & in \ the \ case \ (R2b) \\ \leq #C(k)^2 & in \ the \ case \ (R2c) \end{cases}$$

Proof. For (a) observe, that as rkG = 2 the possible structures on *G* are (R2a-R2c). By Proposition 3.2.22(b) we have

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(G) \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(G)) + \mu(M_{E})$$
$$= 3\mu(G) + \operatorname{deg}(M_{E})$$
$$= 3\frac{1}{2} - \operatorname{deg} L - 1 + d$$
$$= d + \frac{1}{2} - \operatorname{deg} L \ge 0.$$

We therefore get deg $L \le d + \frac{1}{2}$ which as deg $L \in \mathbb{Z}$ leads to

$$1 \leq \deg(L) \leq d.$$

Then we also have

$$\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(L) \otimes M_{E}\right) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(L)) + \mu(E) = 2 \deg L + d - 1 > 0$$

$$\mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(L) \otimes G \otimes M_{E}) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(L) \otimes M_{E}) + \mu(G) = 2 \deg L + 2d - \frac{3}{2} > 0$$

$$\mu\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(G) \otimes L \otimes M_{E}\right) = \mu(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}(G)) + \mu(L \otimes M_{E}) = 2\mu(G) - 1 + d = d > 0$$

and hence

$$\dim_k V_E = 10d$$

To prove (c) we first describe automorphisms of G the respective cases are

(R2a) The case treated in Section 3.2.1, Case (R3c), (3.24). We have

$$\operatorname{Aut}(F_2) = \mathbb{G}_m(k) \times \mathbb{G}_a(k).$$

- (R2b) Here we have $\operatorname{Aut}(G) = \operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m$, where $\operatorname{Res}_{k^2/k} \mathbb{G}_m$ is the Weil restriction of \mathbb{G}_m . The proof the reader may find in the proof of Lemma 3.2.24.
- (R2c) In the last case we have

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus M) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{GL}_{2}(k) & \text{if } M \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}} \\ \operatorname{G}_{m}(k) \times \operatorname{G}_{m}(k) & \text{if } M \notin \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}} \end{cases}$$

To describe automorphisms of *E* observe that as *L* and *G* are semi-stable with $\mu(L) > \mu(G)$ hence there are no non-trivial morphisms $L \rightarrow G$. Therefore

$$\operatorname{End}(E) = k \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(G, L) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(G, G)$$

Furthermore as the vector bundle $G^{\vee} \otimes L$ is semi-stable with slope $\mu(L) - \mu(G) > 0$ we have dim_k $H^0(C, G^{\vee} \otimes L) = \deg(G^{\vee} \otimes L) = \deg L$. Then we have the following list

$$#\operatorname{Aut}(E) = \begin{cases} (q-1)^2 q^{\deg L+1} & \text{in the case (R2a)} \\ (q-1)(q^2-1)q^{\deg L} & \text{in the case (R2b)} \\ (q-1)^3(q+1)q^{\deg L+1} & \text{in the case (R2c) with } M \cong \mathcal{O}_C \\ (q-1)^3 q^{\deg L} & \text{in the case (R2c) with } M \notin \mathcal{O}_C \end{cases}$$

For (d) fix the degree of E, deg $E \in (1, d]$ then the respective numbers of isomorphism classes of E's are

- R2a) The vector bundle F_2 is unique up to isomorphism. Furthermore by the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration *E* is up to isomorphism uniquely determined by *L*. As the number of isomorphism classes of line bundles of given degree is #C(k) so is the number of isomorphism classes of *E*'s.
- R2b) The number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles *G* of the type (R2b) is at most (see: proof of Lemma 3.2.15(R3c)) ($\#C(k^2) - \#C(k) - 1$). By the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration up to isomorphism *E* is determined uniquely by *L* and *G*. Therefore for a fixed degree the number of isomorphism classes of $E = L \oplus G$ is at most

$$#C(k)(#C(k^2) - #C(k) - 1).$$

(R2c) By the uniqueness of the Harder-Narasimhan filtration the isomorphism class of *E* depends only on *L* and *M*. Furthermore by the uniqueness of the JOrdan Hölder filtration of a semi-stable vector bundle the vector bundle $\mathcal{O}_C \oplus M$ is uniquely determined by *M*. Therefore the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles $E = L \oplus M \oplus \mathcal{O}_C$ is at most $\#C(k)^2$.

3.2.3 Sum of three line bundles

Let $d \ge 0$, let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Assume, that neither *E* nor the first quotient *Q* in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of *E* are semi-stable, then *E* is a sum of three line bundles and we can always normalize *E* such that

$$E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$$

with

$$0 < \deg L_1 < \deg L_2.$$

We follow here the argument of J.A. de Jong, the author uses in Section 7 of [deJ02].

Lemma 3.2.27. Consider a vector bundle

$$E = \mathcal{O}_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$$

with deg(L_i) = l_i such that $0 < l_1 < l_2$. Let $\pi : P = \operatorname{Proj}_C(\operatorname{Sym}^* E) \to C$ and

$$s \in H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E)).$$

Moreover let Y = V(s) be a closed subscheme of P and $i : Y \hookrightarrow P$ be the inclusion. Assume that $(g : Y \to C, D)$ with $\mathcal{O}_Y(D) \cong \mathcal{O}_P(1)|_Y$ and $g = \pi \circ i$ is a representative of a class in $\mathcal{A}_{C\omega}$. Then

(a) The degrees of the summands of E are bounded by

$$\left\{\begin{array}{l} 0 < l_1 < l_2 \\ l_1 \le d \\ l_2 \le d + l_1 \end{array}\right.$$

(b) For $V_E = H^0(P, \mathcal{O}_P(3) \otimes \pi^*(M_E))$ we have

$$\dim_k V_E = \begin{cases} 10d & \text{if } l_1 + l_2 < d \\ \leq 10d + 1 & \text{if } l_1 + l_2 = d \\ 10d + (l_1 + l_2 - d) & \text{if } l_1 + l_2 > d \text{ and } l_2 < d \\ \leq 9d + (l_1 + l_2 + 1) & \text{if } l_1 + l_2 > d \text{ and } l_2 = d \\ 10d + (l_1 + l_2 - d) + (l_2 - d) & \text{if } l_1 + l_2 > d \text{ and } l_2 > d \end{cases}$$

(c) Moreover

$$#\operatorname{Aut}(E) = (q-1)^3 q^{2l_2}.$$

(d) Fix the degree of E then for the fixed degree the number of isomorphism classes of vector bundles E as above is at most #C(k)².

Proof. We have

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{3}(E) \otimes \left((L_{1} \otimes L_{2})^{\vee} \otimes \omega \right) \\ = \left[\mathcal{O}_{C} \oplus L_{1} \oplus \left(L_{1}^{\otimes 2} \right) \oplus \left(L_{2} \otimes L_{2} \right) \oplus \left(L_{2}^{\otimes 2} \right) \oplus \left(L_{1}^{\otimes 2} \otimes L_{2} \right) \oplus \left(L_{2} \otimes L_{2} \right) \oplus \left(L_{2}^{\otimes 2} \right) \oplus$$

$$s = Ay^{3} + By^{2}x + Cy^{2}z + Dyx^{2} + Exyz + Fyz^{2} + Gx^{3} + Hx^{2}z + Ixz^{2} + Jz^{3},$$

with

$$A \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes (L_{1} \otimes L_{2})^{\vee}), B \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{2}^{\vee}), C \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1}^{\vee}),$$
$$D \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1} \otimes L_{2}^{\vee}), E \in H^{0}(C, \omega), F \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1}^{\vee} \otimes L_{2}), G \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1}^{\otimes 2} \otimes L_{2}^{\vee}),$$
$$H \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1}), I \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{2}), J \in H^{0}(C, \omega \otimes L_{1}^{\vee} \otimes L_{2}^{\otimes 2}).$$

Observe that

- (a) If $l_1 + l_2 > d$ then A = 0 hence the point "(0:1:0)" defines a section σ of Y over C.
- (b) If l₁ > d then A, B and C are all zero (recall that l₂ > l₁ > 0). Thus Y is singular along σ which is a contradiction, since Y is generically smooth over C and hence σ is generically a regular embedding.
- (c) If $d + l_1 l_2 < 0$ then A = 0, B = 0 and D = 0. This means that σ is a flex point of the generic fiber of $Y \rightarrow C$. (The ex line is z = 0.) This contradicts the non-degeneracy assumption for elements of $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$.

By the above we see that the pairs (l_1, l_2) that will occur are subject to the following system of inequalities:

$$\begin{cases}
0 < l_1 < l_2 \\
l_1 \le d \\
l_2 \le d + l_1
\end{cases}$$
(3.33)

For (*b*) we have $0 < l_1 < l_2$ and hence $l_2 - l_1 > 0$ moreover by the inequalities (3.33) the inequality $d + l_1 - l_2 \ge 0$ hold, therefore

$$\begin{split} & \deg(\omega \otimes (L_1 \otimes L_2)^{\vee}) &= d - l_1 - l_2 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_2^{\vee}) &= d - l_2 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1^{\vee}) &= d - l_1 &\geq 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1 \otimes L_2^{\vee}) &= d + l_1 - l_2 &\geq 0 \\ & \deg(\omega) &= d &> 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1^{\vee} \otimes L_2) &= d - l_1 + l_2 &> 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1^{\otimes 2} \otimes L_2^{\vee}) &= d + 2l_1 - l_2 &> 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1) &= d + l_1 &> 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_2) &= d + l_2 &> 0 \\ & \deg(\omega \otimes L_1^{\vee} \otimes L_2^{\otimes 2}) &= d - l_1 + 2l_2 &> 0. \end{split}$$
If $l_1 + l_2 < d$ then all of the slopes above are positive and hence $\dim_k V_E = 10d$. If $d = l_1 + l_2$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 = 0$ and the rest of the slopes are positive, hence $\dim_k V_E \le 10d + 1$. If $l_1 + l_2 > d$ and $l_2 < d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and the rest of the slopes are positive therefore $\dim_k V_E = 10d + (l_1 + l_2 - d)$. If $l_1 + l_2 > d$ and $l_2 = d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and $l_2 = d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and $l_2 = d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and $l_2 = d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and $l_2 = d$ then $d - l_1 - l_2 < 0$ and $l_2 - d = 0$ hence $\dim_k V_E \le 9d + (l_1 + l_2 + 1)$. Let now $l_2 > d$ then

$$\begin{cases} d-l_1-l_2 &< 0\\ d-l_2 &< 0 \end{cases}$$

and hence $\dim_k V_E = 10d + (l_1 + l_2 - d) + (l_2 - d)$. For (*c*) observe, that as $0 < l_1 < l_2$ we have $\operatorname{Hom}(L_1, \mathcal{O}_C) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_2, \mathcal{O}_C) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_2, \mathcal{O}_C) = 0$. Then every endomorphism of *E* is given by a matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}a&b&c\\0&d&e\\0&0&f\end{array}\right).$$

with $a, s, f \in \text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, \mathcal{O}_C), b \in \text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_1), c \in \text{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_1) \text{ and } e \in \text{Hom}(L_1, L_2).$ Therefore

 $\operatorname{End}(E) = k \oplus k \oplus k \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_1) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}_C, L_1) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(L_1, L_2).$

By dimension counting

$$#Aut(E) = (q-1)^3 q^{l_2} q^{l_1} q^{l_2-l_1} = (q-1)^3 q^{2l_2}$$

		-

3.3 The asymptotic limit

Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q of characteristic $p \ge 5$. Recall that for a fixed line bundle ω on C of degree $d \ge 0$ by $A_{C,\omega}$ we denote the weighted number of elements in the set $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ (3.3).

Definition 3.3.1. Let $d \ge 0$, let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^d(C)$. Let *E* be a rank 3 vector bundle on *C*. We define the dimension of *E* with respect to ω , dim $_{\omega}(E)$ to be the highest exponent of *q* in the expression $\frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}$ (when written out as a Laurent series in *q*) with

$$V_E = H^0(C, \operatorname{Sym}^3(E) \otimes \det(E)^{\vee} \otimes \omega)$$

and

$$PG_E = \operatorname{Aut}(E) / \mathbb{F}_q^*$$
.

Let $d \ge 1$, then analyzing case by case one computes that the maximal dimension, in the sense of the Definition 3.3.1, is attained by geometrically stable vector bundles E from Section 3.2.1. It is equal to $\dim_{\omega}(E) = 10d - 1$. For those vector bundles we obtain $\dim_k V_E = 10d$ and they have the minimal number of automorphisms, namely q - 1.

The goal of this section is to bound the asymptotic limit

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \mathcal{A}_{C,d} \tag{3.34}$$

where $A_{C,d} = \sum_{\omega \in Pic^d(C)} A_{C,\omega}$. We will do it case by case counting the possible contributions from Section 3.2.1, Section 3.2.2 and Section 3.2.3.

We start with semi-stable vector bundles, Section 3.2.1, it gives the following contribution. **Lemma 3.3.2.** Let $d \ge 1$. Then

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{\substack{E \text{ semi-stable} \\ 0 \le \deg E \le 3}} \frac{\# \mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\# PG_E}$$

$$=q\left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q-1}+\frac{1}{(q-1)q^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2)}{(q-1)^3}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2}{(q-1)^3}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3}{(q-1)^3}\right).$$

Proof. Let

$$S := \sum_{\substack{E \text{ semi-stable} \\ 1 \le \deg E \le 2}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} + \sum_{\substack{E \text{ semi-stable} \\ \deg E = 0}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} + \sum_{\substack{E \text{ semi-stable} \\ \deg E = 3}} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E}$$

As $d \ge 1$ by Proposition 3.2.19 for each *E* we have $\#P(V_E)(k) = \frac{q^{10d-1}}{q-1}$. Then

$$S = (q^{-10d+1} - 1) \left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q - 1} + \frac{1}{(q - 1)q^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1}{(q - 1)^2} + \frac{1}{(q - 1)^2q^3} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2)}{(q - 1)(q^2 - 1)} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2)}{(q^3 - q^2)(q^3 - q)(q^3 - 1)} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)}{(q - 1)^3(q + 1)} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)}{(q - 1)^2q^2} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + 1)}{(q - 1)^3(q + 1)} \right)$$

$$+\frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})-\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})-1)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})-\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q})-2)}{(q^3-1)^3(q+1)}\bigg)$$

By simple algebraic computations follows

$$S \leq (q^{10d} - 1) \left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q - 1} + \frac{1}{(q - 1)q^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q - 1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2)}{(q - 1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2)^2}{(q - 1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q - 1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^3)^3}{(q - 1)^3} \right).$$

Therefore

$$q^{-10d+1}S \leq q^{-10d+1}(q^{10d}-1)\left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q-1} + \frac{1}{(q-1)q^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^3}{(q-1)^3}\right)$$

$$=q\left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q-1}+\frac{1}{(q-1)q^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2)}{(q-1)^3}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2}{(q-1)^3}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^2}+\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3}{(q-1)^3}\right)$$

$$+q^{-10d+1}\left(\frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{q-1} + \frac{1}{(q-1)q^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2}{(q-1)^3} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^2} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3}{(q-1)^3}\right)$$

As $\lim_{d\to\infty} q^{-10d+1} = 0$ the result follows.

Now we move to the Section 3.2.2. There are two possible cases, first, that the maximal destabilizing bundle is of rank 2, second, the maximal destabilizing bundle is of rank 1.

Lemma 3.3.3. Let $d \ge 1$ and let E be a vector bundle on C as in Lemma 3.2.24. Then

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.24)} \frac{\# \mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\# PG_E} \leq \frac{q^2}{q-1} \left(\frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \# C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + \# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^3} \right).$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.2.24 we have $0 \le \deg E \le 2d$. Let *M* be the following number

$$M \coloneqq \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2} + \frac{(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2)}{(q-1)^2(q+1)} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^3(q+1)q} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)}{(q-1)^3}.$$

Then

$$\sum_{E \in (3.2.24)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le M \left(\sum_{0 < \deg(E) < d} \frac{q^{10d} - 1}{q^{\deg(E)}} + \sum_{d \le \deg(E) \le 2d} \frac{q^{10d + \deg(E) - d + 2} - 1}{q^{\deg(E)}} \right).$$

By multiplying with q^{-10d+1} we obtain

$$q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.24)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le q^{-10d+1} M \left(\sum_{0 < \deg(E) < d} \frac{q^{10d} - 1}{q^{\deg(E)}} + \sum_{d \le \deg(E) \le 2d} \frac{q^{10d + \deg(E) - d + 2} - 1}{q^{\deg(E)}} \right)$$
$$= q M \left[\sum_{0 < \deg(E) < d} \left(q^{-\deg(E)} - q^{-\deg(E) - 10d} \right) + \sum_{d \le \deg(E) \le 2d} \left(q^{2-d} - q^{-\deg(E) - 10d} \right) \right].$$

For $0 < \deg(E) < d$ we have

$$q^{-\deg(E)-10d} \leq q^{-10d}$$

moreover for $d \leq \deg(E) \leq 2d$ we have

$$q^{2-d} - q^{-\deg(E)-10d} \le q^{2-d} - q^{-11d}.$$

And hence for large *d* those two terms vanish. Furthermore

$$\sum_{0 \le \deg(E) \le d} q^{-\deg(E)} = \frac{(q-q^{-d})}{(q-1)} = \frac{q}{(q-1)} \left(1 - q^{-d-1}\right)$$

1

and by simple algebraic computations one shows

$$M \leq \frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^3}.$$

Hence the limit is

$$\lim_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.24)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le \frac{q^2}{q-1} \cdot \frac{2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^2}.$$

Now we move to case of unstable vector bundles with the maximal destabilizing subbundle of rank 1.

Lemma 3.3.4.

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.25)} \frac{\# \mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\# P G_E} \le \# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^3}$$

Proof. It is clear, that the sum of isomorphism classes of vector bundles from Lemma 3.2.25 is at most

$$U_2 := \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \sum_{1 \le \deg(L) \le d} \frac{q^{10d} - 1}{(q-1)^2 q^{2\deg(L) - 1}}$$

Then

If $0 \le \deg(L) \le d$, then

$$\frac{q^{-10d+1}}{(q-1)^2q^{\deg(L)}} \leq \frac{q^{-10d+1}}{(q-1)^2}.$$

Moreover

$$\sum_{0 \le \deg(L) \le d-1} \frac{1}{(q-1)^2 q^2 \deg(L)} = \frac{1}{(q-1)^2} \frac{1-q^{-(2(d-1)+2)}}{1-q^2} = \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^2 (q^2-1)} \left(1-q^{-2d}\right)$$

And therefore by passing to the limit, we have

$$\lim_{d\to\infty} q^{-10d+1} U_2 \le \# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^3(q+1)} \le \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^2}.$$

Lemma 3.3.5.

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.26)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le \frac{q}{(q-1)} \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})}{(q-1)^2}.$$

Proof. Let

$$\begin{split} N &\coloneqq \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)q} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q^2) - \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2)}{(q-1)^2(q+1)} \\ &+ \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)}{(q-1)^2(q+1)q} + \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 1)}{(q-1)^2}. \end{split}$$

Then

$$\sum_{E \in (3.2.26)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le N \sum_{\deg(L)=1}^d \frac{q^{10d} - 1}{(q-1)^2 q^{2\deg(L)+1}}$$

By the same methods we use above

$$q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.26)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le Nq^{-10d+1} \sum_{\deg(L)=1}^d (q^{10d} - 1)q^{-\deg(L)}$$
$$= Nq \sum_{\deg(L)=1}^d (1 - q^{-10d})q^{-\deg(L)}.$$

Moreover for $1 \le \deg(L) \le d$

$$q^{-10d-\deg(L)} \le q^{-10d}.$$

Therefore by passing to the limit, we have

$$\lim_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.26)} \frac{\#\mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\#PG_E} \le qN \limsup_{d \to \infty} \sum_{\deg(L)=1}^d q^{-\deg(L)}$$
$$= qN \limsup_{d \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{q-1} + \frac{q^{-d}}{q-1}\right)$$
$$= \frac{qN}{q-1}.$$

Furthermore by simple algebraic computations one shows

$$N \leq \frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})}{(q-1)^2}$$

and hence the result follows.

The last case is the case of a direct sum of line bundles.

Lemma 3.3.6.

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{E \in (3.2.27)} \frac{\# \mathbb{P}(V_E)}{\# P G_E} \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 q}{(q-1)^3 (q^2-1)^2}$$

Proof. Let *E* be a sum of line bundles, $E = O_C \oplus L_1 \oplus L_2$ and the inequalities (3.33) are satisfied.

First of all suppose that $l_1 + l_2 > d$ and $l_2 \le d$, then for fixed l_1, l_2 the contribution of such a term is at most

$$\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 q^{-10d+1} \frac{q^{10d+1+l_1+l_2-d}-1}{(q-1)^3 q^{2l_2}} \le \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \frac{q^{1-d}}{(q-1)^3}$$

as $l_1 < l_2$ also $9d + (l_1 + l_2 - d + 1) \le 10d + (l_1 + l_2 - d)$. The number of pairs (l_1, l_2) like this is at most d^2 , therefore the contribution is vanishingly small and can be disregarded from the limit. Similarly for the case $0 < l_1 < l_2$ and $l_2 > d$ we have

$$\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)q^{-10d+1}\frac{q^{10d+(l_1+l_2-d)+(l_2-d)}-1}{(q-1)q^{2l_2}} \le \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2\frac{q^{1-d}}{(q-1)^3},$$

as $l_1 \leq d$. Now only the case $l_1 + l_2 \leq d$ is left. Here for every fixed $l_2 \geq 2$ the pairs (l_1, l_2) with $0 \leq l_1 \leq l_2$ contribute to the limit the quantity

$$\lim_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \sum_{l_2=2}^d \# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \frac{(l_2-1)(q^{10d}-1)}{(q-1)^3 q^{2l_2}} = \lim_{d \to \infty} \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 q}{(q-1)^3} \left[\sum_{l_2=2}^d \frac{l_2-1}{q^{2l_2}} \right],$$

(as $l_2 \ge 2$ we have $9d + 1 \le 10d$). Furthermore

$$\sum_{l_2=2}^{d} \frac{l_2 - 1}{q^{2l_2}} = \frac{1}{(q^2 - 1)^2} - \frac{q^{-2d}(1 - d + dq^2)}{(q^2 - 1)^2}.$$

and hence the contribution of this term is

$$\frac{\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2}{(q-1)^3}\frac{q}{(q^2-1)^2}.$$

Proposition 3.3.7. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field $k = \mathbb{F}_q$ with q elements and of characteristic p > 7. Let $\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^n})$ denote the number of \mathbb{F}_{q^n} -rational points of C. Then

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \mathbf{A}_{C,d} \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) A}{(q-1)^5 (q+1)^2 q},$$

where A is given by

$$A = 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)q^8 + (2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2)q^7$$

$$\begin{split} + \big(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 + 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 \big) q^6 + \big(-2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 - 4\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 \big) q^5 \\ + \big(-2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 - 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) \big) q^4 \\ + \big(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + 4 \big) q^3 \\ + \big(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 - 1 + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) \big) q^2 - 2q + 1 \end{split}$$

Proof. As we are interested in the asymptotic limit we may assume $d \ge 1$. The number of isomorphism classes of line bundles of given degree on *C* is equal to $\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)$, hence for a given *d* we have

$$\mathbf{A}_{C,d} = \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} \mathbf{A}_{C,\omega} \leq \#C(\mathbb{F}_q) \mathbf{A}_{C,\omega}.$$

Then the above bound is a result of summing up all possible cases from Lemma 3.3.2, 3.3.3, 3.3.5 and Lemma 3.3.6. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 3.3.8. The assumption that p > 7 is made for computational reasons.

Chapter 4

Three kinds of sets

In this section we do not claim any originality. The idea of the presented construction is taken from [deJ02, Section 5], however in [deJ02, Section 5] the author considers only elliptic surfaces over \mathbb{P}_k^1 and in our case the base curve is an elliptic curve. It is not a trivial matter, that the construction works for the elliptic case as well. The main difference, as we will see later, is that over \mathbb{P}_k^1 up to an isomorphism there is only one line bundle of a given degree, whereas over an elliptic we have as many line bundles as its *k*-rational points.

Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{F}_q . The aim of this section is to obtain the following inequality (see Theorem 4.5.10).

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \left(\sum_{[(E,O)],h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)} - 1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \right) \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) A}{(q-1)^5 (q+1)^2 q^{2/3}}$$

where the sum is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height *d*, r(E) is the Mordell-Weil rank of an elliptic curve (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ and *A* is a polynomial of degree 8 in *q* (see also Section 3.3). To prove this fact we introduce three finite sets, whose elements are families of elliptic curves. We show inclusions between them and bound the number of elements of the largest set, which together with results from the previous section will implicate the bound.

4.1 The set $A_{C,\omega}$

For convenience we recall the construction of the set $A_{C,\omega}$ however all necessary facts about this set are proven in Section 3.1 and we do not repeat them here.

Definition 4.1.1. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Let \mathcal{A} denote the set whose elements are pairs $(g: Y \rightarrow C, D)$ with the following properties:

- (a) the morphism $Y \xrightarrow{g} C$ is flat, proper and its generic fibre is a smooth curve,
- (b) the equality $g_*\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_C$ holds universally,
- (c) the fibres of g are Gorenstein and $\omega_{Y/C} \cong g^* \omega$,
- (d) D ⊂ Y is an effective Cartier divisor, flat over C such that D.F = 3, where F is a fibre of g,
- (e) the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{Y}(D)$ is relatively very ample for g, i.e. we obtain a canonical closed immersion

 $Y \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Proj}_{C}(\operatorname{Sym}^{*}(g_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(D))).$

Definition 4.1.2. Two elements $(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)$ and $(Y' \xrightarrow{g'} C, D')$ of \mathcal{A} are called equivalent if and only if there exists an isomorphism $\psi : Y \to Y'$ over C such that we have the following rational equivalence relation of divisors on Y

$$\psi^* D' \sim D + g^* D_C$$

for some $D_C \in Div(C)$.

Definition 4.1.3. An element $(g : Y \to C, D)$ of the set A is called degenerate if there exists a divisor D' of degree 1 on the generic fiber Y_{η} such that $D_{\eta} \sim 3D'$ (rational equivalence).

Definition 4.1.4. Let $d \ge 0$ and for $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ let $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ be the set

$$\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega} = \begin{cases} equivalence \ classes \left[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \right] \ (Definition \ 4.1.2) \\ of \ non-degenerate \ (Definition \ 4.1.3) \\ pairs \ (Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \ satisfying \ properties \ (a)-(e) \ (Definition \ 4.1.1) \end{cases}$$

Definition 4.1.5. The automorphism group $Aut(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)$ of a pair $(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D) \in \mathcal{A}$ (Definition 4.1.1) we define as the set of automorphisms $\psi : Y \longrightarrow Y$ over C such that

 $\psi^* D \sim D + g^* D_C$ (rational equivalence)

for some $D_C \in Div(C)$.

In Chapter 3.2 we proved, that the set $A_{C,\omega}$ is finite. We set

$$A_{C,\omega} \coloneqq \sum_{[(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)] \in \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D)}$$
(4.1)

for the weighted number of elements of $A_{C,\omega}$.

4.2 The set $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$

Definition 4.2.1. Let $d \ge 0$ and $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$. Let \mathcal{B} denote the set whose elements are pairs $(f : X \to C, D)$ with the following properties:

- (a) $f: X \rightarrow C$ is a relatively minimal elliptic surface,
- (b) the equality $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_C$ holds universally,
- (c) $\omega_{X/C} \cong f^* \omega$,
- (d) $D \subset X$ is an effective Cartier divisor, flat over C such that D.F = 3, where F is a fibre of f.

The concept of equivalence, automorphisms and degeneracy is the same as for the set $A_{C,\omega}$, Section 4.1.

Definition 4.2.2. Let $d \ge 0$ and for $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ let $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ be the set

$$\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega} = \begin{cases} equivalence \ classes\left[(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)\right] \ (Definition \ 4.1.2) \\ of \ non-degenerate \ (Definition \ 4.1.3) \\ pairs \ (X \xrightarrow{f} C, D) \ satisfying \ properties \ (a)-(d) \ (Definition \ 4.2.1) \end{cases}$$

In Section 4.4 we will show, that $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ is a "weighted" subset of $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ and therefore finite. We set

$$B_{C,\omega} \coloneqq \sum_{[(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)] \in \mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)}$$
(4.2)

for weighted number of elements of $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$.

4.3 The set $C_{C,\omega}$

Definition 4.3.1. *Let* $d \ge 0$ *and* $\omega \in Pic(C)$ *. Let* C *denote the set whose elements are triples* $(f : X \rightarrow C, \sigma, \tau)$ *with the following properties:*

- (a) $f: X \to C$ is a relatively minimal elliptic surface,
- (b) $f_*\omega_{X/C} \cong \omega$,
- (c) (σ, τ) is a pair of sections of f.

For any triple $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ satisfying properties (a), (b) and (c) we denote by $(E, O) = (X_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta))$ the associated elliptic curve over k(C) (see: Remark 2.1.12).

Definition 4.3.2. Two elements $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, \sigma', \tau')$ of C are called equivalent if and only if there exists an isomorphism $\varphi : X \longrightarrow X'$ over C and a section $\rho : C \to X'$ such that

- (a) $\varphi \circ \sigma = \sigma'$,
- (b) on the generic fibre $(E', O') = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ we have $3\rho = \tau' \varphi \circ \tau$ (addition in the group law of (E', O')),
- (c) for every closed point $c \in C$ the sections ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of X'_c .

Remark 4.3.3. The relation above is an equivalence relation on the set of all triples $(f : X \rightarrow C, \sigma, \tau)$.

1. It is easy to check, that it is reflexive.

2. It is symmetric: assume we are given $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, \sigma, \tau) \in C$ and $(X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, \sigma', \tau') \in C$, that are equivalent. The inverse $\varphi^{-1} : X' \to X$ of φ (φ as in Definition 4.3.2) is an isomorphism over *C*, moreover by (*a*) we have $\varphi^{-1} \circ \sigma' = \varphi^{-1} \circ \varphi \circ \sigma = \sigma$. Using (*b*) on the generic fibre $(X_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta))$ we obtain an equality

$$\tau-\varphi^{-1}\circ\tau'=\tau-\varphi^{-1}(\varphi\circ\tau+3\rho)=\tau-\tau-3\varphi^{-1}\circ\rho=-3\varphi^{-1}\circ\rho.$$

To complete the proof we need to show that for every $c \in C$ the sections σ and $-\varphi^{-1} \circ \rho$ meet the same irreducible component of X_c . By Proposition 2.1.7 the Néron model \mathcal{N} of $X \to C$ is the open subscheme of $X \to C$ made up of the points that are smooth over C. It is unique up to isomorphism and by Proposition 2.1.8(*iv*) the algebraic group structure of X_{η} extends in a unique way to the structure of a smooth group scheme on $\mathcal{N} \to C$. As X is a minimal elliptic surface with a section there are no multiple fibers (see: Section 2.2, discussion before Lemma 2.2.2) therefore \mathcal{N}_c is obtained from X_c by removing singular points. We respectively consider the Néron model $\mathcal{N}' \to C$ of $X' \to C$. The map φ^{-1} is an isomorphism and maps σ' to σ therefore it maps the identity component of each \mathcal{N}'_c to the identity component of \mathcal{N}_c . By assumption the sections ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of each X'_c hence ρ meets the identity component of each \mathcal{N}_c . This implies, that for every closed point $c \in C$ the sections σ and $-\varphi^{-1} \circ \rho$ meet the same irreducible component of X_c .

3. To see transitivity, take $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ equivalent to $(f' : X' \to C, \sigma', \tau')$ and $(f'' : X'' \to C, \sigma'', \tau'')$ such that $(f' : X' \to C, \sigma', \tau')$ is equivalent to $(f'' : X'' \to C, \sigma'', \tau'')$. By definition we have isomorphisms $\psi : X \to X'$ and $\varphi : X' \to X''$ over *C* with relations

$$\psi \circ \sigma = \sigma'$$
 and $\varphi \circ \sigma' = \sigma''$.

Therefore $\varphi \circ \psi : X \to X''$ is an isomorphism over *C* satisfying

$$\varphi \circ \psi \circ \sigma = \varphi \circ \sigma' = \sigma''$$

which gives the condition (*a*) of an equivalence between $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(f'' : X'' \to C, \sigma'', \tau'')$. Furthermore by definition there exist sections $\rho : C \to X'$ and $\varrho : C \to X''$ such that on $(E', O') = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ we have

 $3\rho = \tau' - \psi \circ \tau$

and on $(E'', O'') = (X''_{\eta}, \sigma''(\eta))$ we have

$$3\varrho = \tau'' - \varphi \circ \tau'.$$

Hence

$$\tau'' - \varphi \circ \psi \circ \tau = \tau'' - \varphi \circ (\tau' - 3\rho)$$
$$= \tau'' - (\tau'' - 3\varrho - 3\varphi \circ \rho)$$
$$= 3(\varrho + \varphi \circ \rho)$$

and therefore the section $\rho + \varphi \circ \rho : C \to X''$ satisfies the requirement (*b*) of an equivalence between $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(f'' : X'' \to C, \sigma'', \tau'')$. To finish the proof of transitivity we need to show that the requirement (*c*) holds, i.e. for all closed points $c \in C$ the sections $\rho + \varphi \circ \rho$ and σ'' meet the same irreducible components of each fiber X''_c . Again we will use the Néron model $\mathcal{N} \to C$ (resp. $\mathcal{N}' \to C$ and $\mathcal{N}'' \to C$) of $X \to C$ (resp. $X' \to C$ and $X'' \to C$ *C*). By assumption $\varphi : X' \to X''$ is an isomorphism over *C* such that $\varphi \circ$ $\sigma' = \sigma''$ which means that φ maps the identity component of each \mathcal{N}'_c to the identity component of \mathcal{N}_c'' . Furthermore by assumption the sections ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of each \mathcal{N}'_c which means that ρ meets the identity component of each \mathcal{N}'_c . It therefore follows, that $\varphi \circ \rho$ meets the identity component of each \mathcal{N}''_c . Furthermore by assumption ϱ meets the identity component of each $\mathcal{N}_{c}^{\prime\prime\prime}$ and hence translation by ϱ maps each irreducible component of \mathcal{N}_c'' to itself and hence $\varphi \circ \rho + \varrho$ meets the identity component of each \mathcal{N}_c'' . Consequently the property (c) of an equivalence between $(f: X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(f'': X'' \to C, \sigma'', \tau'')$ is proven and hence the transitivity of the relation from Definition 4.3.1 follows.

Definition 4.3.4. We say that an element $(X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ of C is degenerate if τ is divisible *by* 3 *in the Mordell-Weil group of* $(E, O) = (X_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta))$ *.*

Definition 4.3.5. Let $d \ge 0$ and for $\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$ let $\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}$ be the set

$$C_{C,\omega} = \begin{cases} equivalence \ classes \left[(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau) \right] \ (Definition \ 4.3.2) \\ of \ non-degenerate \ (Definition \ 4.3.4) \\ triples \ (f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau) \ satisfying \ properties \ (a)-(b) \ (Definition \ 4.3.1) \end{cases}$$

Definition 4.3.6. The automorphism group $Aut(f : X \rightarrow C, \sigma, \tau)$ of an element $(f : X \rightarrow C, \sigma, \tau)$ (C, σ, τ) of C is the set of pairs (ϕ, ρ) with $\phi : X \to X$ and $\rho : C \to X$ a section satisfying *the requirements* (*a*) (*b*) *and* (*c*) *of Definition* **4***.***3***.***2***.*

Remark 4.3.7. Observe that the group operation on Aut($f : X \rightarrow C, \sigma, \tau$) is defined by

$$(\varphi_1, \rho_1) \star (\varphi_2, \rho_2) \coloneqq (\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1, \rho_2 + \varphi_2 \circ \rho_1)$$

and the neutral element of the group $\operatorname{Aut}(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ is the pair $(\operatorname{id}_X, \sigma)$.

In Section 4.4 we will show that $C_{C,\omega}$ is a "weighted" subset of $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ and therfore finite. We denote by $C_{\mathcal{C},\omega}$ the weighted number of equivalence classes in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{C},\omega}$

$$C_{C,\omega} \coloneqq \sum_{[(f:X \to C,\sigma,\tau)] \in \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:X \to C,\sigma,\tau)}.$$
(4.3)

4.4 Maps between the three sets

In this section we construct maps between the three sets defined in Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3, namely

$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{C},\omega} \to \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{C},\omega} \tag{4.4}$$

and

$$\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega} \to \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}.$$
 (4.5)

Moreover we will prove, that $C_{C,\omega} \subset B_{C,\omega} \subset A_{C,\omega}$. We start with the first map (4.5). We recall the following facts from [deJ02, Appendix A].

Lemma 4.4.1. [de]02, Lemma 8.4] Let X be a projective Gorenstein curve over a field k such that $\omega_{X/k} \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ and $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$. Let $D \subset X$ be an effective Cartier divisor.

- (a) If $\ell(D) \ge 2$ then $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is globally generated and $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = (0)$.
- (b) If $\ell(D) \ge 3$ then the graded k-algebra $R := \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D))$ is generated in degree 1.

Lemma 4.4.2. [*deJ02*, Lemma 8.5] In the situation described in (b) of lemma above, the scheme $Y = \operatorname{Proj}(R)$ is a Gorenstein curve with $\omega_{Y/k} \cong \mathcal{O}_Y$ and $H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = k$. The morphism $\varphi : X \to Y$ is dominant and induces an isomorphism of an open subscheme of X with a dense open subscheme of Y.

Remark 4.4.3. [deJ02, Remark 8.6] With notation as in Lemma 4.4.1 and Lemma 4.4.2. By Serre-Duality we have $\dim_k H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 1$. The relevant terms of the Leray spectral sequence for the map φ are

$$0 \to E_2^{10} \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to E_2^{01} \to E_2^{20}$$

which for us is

$$0 \to H^1(Y, \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to H^0(Y, R^1\varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \to H^2(Y, \varphi_*\mathcal{O}_X).$$

As $\mathcal{O}_Y = \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X$ we have $\dim_k H^1(Y, \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X) = \dim_k H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 1$, furthermore by Serre-Duality and the fact, that $\omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X$ we have $\dim_k H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 1$ and as *Y* is a curve the last term is zero. It follows, that $R^1 \varphi_* \mathcal{O}_X = (0)$ and the canonical map

$$H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

is an isomorphism. The dual of this map is the canonical isomorphism $\Gamma(X, \omega_X) = \Gamma(Y, \omega_Y)$.

Proposition 4.4.4. Let $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)$ be a representative of an equivalence class in $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ then

- (a) The sheaf $f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is locally free of rank three on C of formation compatible with arbitrary change of base, and $R^1f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) = (0)$.
- (b) The natural maps

$$f^*f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) \to \mathcal{O}_X(D)$$

and

$$\bigoplus_{m\geq 0} \left(f_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)\right)^{\otimes m} \to \bigoplus_{m\geq 0} f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X(D)^{\otimes m}\right)$$

are surjective.

Proof. The reader can find the proof in Chapter 3, Proposition 3.1.14. Notice, that the requirements we put on elements of the set $A_{C,\omega}$ are weaker, then the requirements on elements of $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$.

Proposition 4.4.5. Let $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, D)$ be a representative of an equivalence class in $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$. Let

$$Y := \operatorname{Proj}_{C} \left(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} f_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X}(mD) \right) \xrightarrow{g} C$$

and let $D_Y \subset Y$ be the divisor corresponding to the canonical section

$$1_D \in \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) = \Gamma(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(1))$$

Then

 $(Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D_Y)$

is a representative of an equivalence class in $A_{C,\omega}$ *.*

Proof. By Proposition 4.4.4 there is a morphism $\pi : X \to Y$. Lemma 4.4.2 implies that the morphism π is birational, fibres of $Y \xrightarrow{g} C$ are Gorenstein, $g_*(\mathcal{O}_Y) = \mathcal{O}_C$ holds universally and $g^*g_*\omega_{Y/C} = \omega_{Y/C}$. By the construction of Y the morphism $g: Y \to C$ is flat and proper, its generic fibre is a smooth curve. Furthermore by Lemma 4.4.1(b) the divisor $D|_{X_{\eta}}$ is very ample and hence $X_{\eta} \cong Y_{\eta}$. By Remark 4.4.3 there is a canonical isomorphism $g_*\omega_{Y/C} = f_*\omega_{X/C}$ and therefore

$$\omega_{Y/C} = g^* g_* \omega_{Y/C} = g^* f_* \omega_{X/C} = g^* \omega_{Y/C}$$

The morphism π is a resolution of singularities of Y in fact it is a minimal resolution, since $f : X \to C$ is a minimal surface. As the generic fibers $X_{\eta} \cong Y_{\eta}$ are isomorphic, we conclude, that $(f : X \to C, D)$ is non-degenerate if and only if $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$ is non-degenerate.

Proposition 4.4.6. Let $(f : X \to C, D)$, $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ be representatives of equivalence classes in $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ let $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$, $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ be the associated pairs from Proposition 4.4.5. Then

$$\operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}}\left((X \xrightarrow{f} C, D), (X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, D')\right)$$

$$= \operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}}\left((Y \xrightarrow{g} C, D_Y), (Y' \xrightarrow{g'} C, D_{Y'})\right).$$
(4.6)

Therefore $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ *is a "weighted" subset of* $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ *.*

Remark 4.4.7. Here the equality (4.6) means that whenever $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ are equivalent, the corresponding pairs $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ are equivalent and vice-versa.

Proof. Suppose $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ are equivalent. By definition there exists an isomorphism $\psi : X \to X'$ over *C* such that $\mathcal{O}_X(\psi^*(D')) \otimes f^*L \cong \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ for some $L = \mathcal{O}_C(D_C) \in \text{Pic}(C)$. Therefore

$$Y = \operatorname{Proj}_{C} \left(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} f_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X}(D)^{\otimes m} \right)$$

= $\operatorname{Proj}_{C} \left(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} f_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X}(\psi^{*}D')^{\otimes m} \otimes L^{\otimes m} \right)$ (by projection formula)
= $\operatorname{Proj}_{C} \left(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} (f' \circ \psi)_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X}(\psi^{*}D')^{\otimes m} \otimes L^{\otimes m} \right)$
= $\operatorname{Proj}_{C} \left(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} f'_{*} \mathcal{O}_{X'}(D')^{\otimes m} \otimes L^{\otimes m} \right)$
 $\cong Y'$

Moreover if α is an isomorphism from Y to Y' then $\alpha^* \mathcal{O}_{Y'}(1) \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(1) \otimes g^* L$ and therefore $(g: Y \to C, D_Y)$ and $(g': Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ are equivalent.

On the other hand assume, that $(g : Y \to C, D_Y)$ and $(g' : Y' \to C, D_{Y'})$ are equivalent as elements of A then as X and X' are the unique minimal models of Y and Y' hence they must be isomorphic over C. By the definition of D_Y and D'_Y the rational equivalence relation of D and D' holds. That proves the claim.

By Proposition 4.4.5 and Proposition 4.4.6 we have

$$B_{C,\omega} \le A_{C,\omega}.$$
(4.7)

Now we construct the map (4.18) $C_{C,\omega} \rightarrow B_{C,\omega}$.

Proposition 4.4.8. *Let* $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ *be a triple, that is a representative of an equivalence class in* $C_{C,\omega}$ *. Set*

$$D \coloneqq 2[\sigma] + [\tau],$$

where $[\sigma]$ denotes the effective Cartier divisor $\sigma(C)$ on X. Then

$$(f: X \rightarrow C, D)$$

is a representative of an equivalence class in $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ *.*

Proof. The surface $f : X \to C$ is a relatively minimal elliptic surface with a section, hence by [Liu, Section 9.3, Proposition 3.27] we have $\omega_{X/C} \cong f^* f_* \omega_{X/C} \cong f^* \omega$. For each closed point $c \in C$ the fiber X_c is a geometrically connected projective curve over k(c) and therefore $f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_C$ holds universally (see Section 2.2). Furthermore $D = 2[\sigma] + [\tau]$ is fibre-by-fibre of degree 3 so the pair $(f : X \to C, D)$ satisfies conditions (a) - (d) of the set $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$.

Proposition 4.4.9. Suppose we have given two triples $(X \xrightarrow{f} C, \sigma, \tau), (X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, \sigma', \tau')$ that are representatives of equivalence classes in $C_{C,\omega}$. Let $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ be the corresponding pairs from Proposition 4.4.8. Then

$$\operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}}\left((X \xrightarrow{f} C, \sigma, \tau), (X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, \sigma', \tau') \right)$$

$$= \operatorname{Equiv}_{\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}}\left((X \xrightarrow{f} C, D), (X' \xrightarrow{f'} C, D') \right).$$
(4.8)

Therefore $C_{C,\omega}$ *is a "weighted" subset of* $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$ *.*

Proof. " \subseteq " Let $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ be equivalent. There exists an isomorphism $\psi : X \to X'$ over *C* and a divisor $D_C \in \text{Div}(C)$ such that $\psi^*(D') \sim D + f^*D_C$. We set $\rho := \psi \circ \sigma$ and $\varphi := T_{-\rho} \circ \psi$, where $T_{-\rho}$ denotes translation by $-\rho$ on the generic fiber $(E', O) = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ that by the uniqueness of the relatively minimal models extends to an automorphism of X' [Liu, Proposition 3.13]. By definition we have

$$\psi^*(2[\sigma'] + [\tau']) \sim 2[\sigma] + [\tau] + f^*D_C$$

and this is equivalent to

$$\psi_*\left(\psi^*(2[\sigma']+[\tau'])\right) \sim \psi_*(2[\sigma]+[\tau]+f^*D_C)$$

that as $\psi_* \circ \psi^* = \text{id}$ and $f = f' \circ \psi$ is equivalent to

$$2[\sigma'] + [\tau'] \sim 2[\psi \circ \sigma] + [\psi \circ \tau] + f'^* D_C.$$

The way we have defined ρ and φ leads to

$$2[\rho] + [\varphi \circ \tau +_{E'} \rho] \sim 2[\sigma'] + [\tau'] - {f'}^* D_C$$
(4.9)

and by restricting it to the generic fibre $(E', O') = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ we obtain the equality

$$3\rho = -(\varphi \circ \tau) + \tau'$$

which is exactly the condition (*b*) for equivalence in $C_{C,\omega}$.

Now we claim, that ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of each fiber X'_c of f'. In a way of contradiction assume that Γ is an irreducible component of a fiber X'_c of f' such that ρ meets Γ and σ' does not meet Γ . Then we have

$$(2[\rho] + [\varphi \circ \tau +_{E'} \rho]).\Gamma \ge 2$$
 and $(2[\sigma'] + [\tau']).\Gamma \le 1$,

however this is a contradiction since the rational equivalence of divisors (4.9) holds. Therefore ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of each fiber.

We have proven, that (φ, ρ) satisfies properties (a), (b) and (c) of Definition 4.3.2 and hence is an equivalence between $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, \sigma', \tau')$.

" \supseteq " Suppose we are given an equivalence (φ, ρ) (Definition 4.3.2) between $(f : X \to C, \sigma, \tau)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, \sigma', \tau')$. By definition there exists an isomorphism $\psi : X \to X'$ over *C* and a section $\rho : C \to X'$ such that

(a) $\varphi \circ \sigma = \sigma'$

- (b) on the generic fibre $(E', O') = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ we have $3\rho = \tau' \varphi \circ \tau$ (addition in the group law of E')
- (c) for every closed point c ∈ C the sections ρ and σ' meet the same irreducible component of X'_c.

We set $\psi = T_{\rho} \circ \varphi$ and claim that this an equivalence between $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$. We need to show that there exists a divisor $D_C \in \text{Div}(C)$ such that

$$\psi^* D' \sim D + f^* D_C. \tag{4.10}$$

As $D = 2[\sigma] + [\tau]$ and $D' = 2[\sigma'] + [\tau]$ this is equivalent to

$$\psi^*(2[\sigma'] + [\tau']) \sim 2[\sigma] + [\tau] + f^*D_C$$

that by applying ψ_* is equivalent to

$$2[\sigma'] + [\tau'] \sim 2[\psi \circ \sigma] + [\psi \circ \tau] + f'^* D_C.$$

By condition (b) for an equivalence in $C_{C,\omega}$ on the generic fiber $(E', O') = (X'_{\eta}, \sigma'(\eta))$ we have

$$\tau' = 2\rho + \varphi \circ \tau + \rho.$$

therefore there is a divisor F' supported on fibers of the morphism $f' : X' \to C$ such that

$$2[\sigma'] + [\tau'] \sim 2[\sigma' +_{E'} \rho] + [\varphi \circ \tau +_{E'} \rho] + F'.$$
(4.11)

As $\psi = T_{\rho} \circ \varphi$ the divisor *F*' is our candidate for f'^*D_C .

First of all we claim that for any irreducible component Γ of a fiber X'_c the intersection number of Γ with either side of (4.11) is the same. By condition (*c*) of equivalence in $C_{C,\omega}$ the section ρ lies in the connected component of identity σ . Therefore translation by ρ maps the irreducible components of each reducible fibre of $f' : X' \to C$ to itself. Hence

$$\sigma' +_{F'} \rho$$
 and σ'

meet the same irreducible component and

$$\tau' = \varphi \circ \tau +_{E'} 2\rho$$
 and $\varphi \circ \tau +_{E'} \rho$

meet the same irreducible component, and so the claim ifollows.

This implies, that $F'^2 = 0$ and by [Sil2, Chapter III, Proposition 8.2(b)] there exist $a, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $aF' = mf'^*G_C$ for some $G_C \in \text{Div}(C)$. Furthermore as $f' : X' \to C$ does not have multiple fibers (it is a minimal elliptic surface with a section see: Chapter 2 Section 2.2) the equality a = 1 must hold. Hence there exists $D_C \in \text{Div}(C)$ such that the rational equivalence (4.10) holds. Consequently $(f : X \to C, D)$ and $(f' : X' \to C, D')$ are equivalent.

Using Proposition 4.4.8 and Proposition 4.4.9 we conclude that

$$C_{C,\omega} \le B_{C,\omega}.\tag{4.12}$$

4.5 $C_{C,\omega}$ and Mordell Weil groups

Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over $k = \mathbb{F}_q$ and let k(C) be the function field of C over k. For an elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) of height $d \ge 0$ we write E(k(C)) for the group of k(C)-rational points of E and we call E(k(C)) the Mordell-Weil group of (E, O) over k(C).

Néron proved [Ner] that the group E(k(C)) is a finitely generated abelian group. Let (Torsion) denotes the subgroup of E(k(C)) of elements that have finite order. Then any automorphism $\varphi \in Aut(E, O)$ induces an automorphism φ of E(k(C)) that fixes the subgroup (Torsion) and hence induces an automorphism

$$\overline{\varphi} \colon E(k(C))/(\text{Torsion}) \to E(k(C))/(\text{Torsion})$$

Furthermore the quotient

- (1 (-)) .

is a free \mathbb{Z} module of finite rank and therefore $\overline{\varphi}$ induces an automorphism $\overline{\varphi}_3$ of the free $\mathbb{Z}/_{3\mathbb{Z}}$ module

$$\overline{\varphi}_3: E(k(C))/(\text{Torsion}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/_{3\mathbb{Z}} \to E(k(C))/(\text{Torsion}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/_{3\mathbb{Z}}$$

In this way we obtain an action

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E, O) \times V_E \to V_E$$

by mapping

$$(\varphi, P) \longmapsto \overline{\varphi}_3(P). \tag{4.13}$$

where for an elliptic curve (E, O) over k(C) by V_E we denote the \mathbb{F}_3 vector space

$$V_E = E(k(C))/(\text{Torsion}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.14)

Moreover we denote by r(E) the rank of the \mathbb{Z} -module $\frac{E(k(C))}{(\text{Torsion})}$ and call it the rank of the Mordell-Weil group of (E, O) over k(C). Observe, that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{F}_3} V_E = r(E).$$

Let us fix an integer $d \ge 0$ and a line bundle $\omega \in \text{Pic}^d(C)$. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) of height d such that for its minimal model $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ we have $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = \omega$. Furthermore let r(E) denotes the rank of the Mordell-Weil group of (E, O) over k(C). For $v \in V_E \setminus \{0\}$ let $P_v \in E(k(C))$ be any lift of v and denote by τ_v the section of $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ corresponding to the k(C)-rational point P_v then the triple

$$\mathcal{E}_{v} \coloneqq (f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_{v}) \tag{4.15}$$

satisfies conditions (a),(b) and (c) of Definition 4.3.1 and as the point

$$\tau_{v}|_{(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))=(E,O)}=P_{\tau}$$

is not divisible by 3 in E(k(C)) hence \mathcal{E}_v is non-degenerate in the sense of Definition 4.3.4 and we denote by $[\mathcal{E}_v] = [(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_v)]$ the equivalence class of \mathcal{E}_v in $\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}$. *Remark* 4.5.1. The section τ_v obviously depends on the choice of P_v however as we will see later we are only interested in counting and results we prove are independent of which lift we choose.

Proposition 4.5.2. For $d \ge 0$ let $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ and let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) with the minimal model $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ such that $f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = \omega$. Furthermore consider the action of Aut(E, O) on V_E . We keep the notation as in (4.14) and (4.15).

- (i) The number of equivalence classes of E_v in C_{C,ω} is at least the number of orbits of Aut(E, O) on V_E \ {0}.
- (ii) For $d \ge 1$ the number $\#Aut(\mathcal{E}_v)$ of automorphisms of \mathcal{E}_v is at most the number of elements in the stabilizer Stab(v) of v under Aut(E, O).
- (iii) Assume that $d \ge 1$ then

$$\sum_{\substack{[\mathcal{E}_{v}]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_{E}\smallsetminus\{0\}}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{v})} \ge \frac{3^{r(E)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)}.$$
(4.16)

Proof. (i)For $v, w \in V_E$ such that $w \neq 0$ and $v \neq 0$ choose lifts P_v and P_w in E(k(C)). Let $\mathcal{E}_v = (f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_v)$ (resp. $\mathcal{E}_w = (f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_w)$) be the associated triple and $[(\mathcal{E}_v)]$ (resp $[(\mathcal{E}_w)]$) its equivalence class in $\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}$. Assume furthermore, that $[(\mathcal{E}_v)] = [(\mathcal{E}_w)]$ then by definition (see: Definition (4.3.2)) there exists an automorphism $\varphi \in Aut(\mathcal{E}, \sigma)$ and a section $\rho : C \to \mathcal{E}$ such that on the generic fiber $(\mathcal{E}_\eta, \sigma(\eta)) = (E, O)$ we have

$$3\rho = \tau_v - \varphi \circ \tau_w.$$

Then the identifications $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}, \sigma) = \operatorname{Aut}(E, O), \tau_v|_{(E,O)} = P_v \text{ and } \tau_w|_{(E,O)} = P_w \text{ lead}$ to the equality

$$\rho(P_v) = P_w + 3\rho.$$

It is clear then that under the given asction the pair (φ, v) is mapped to w. Hence $w \in Orb(v)$ which means that Orb(v) = Orb(w) and the first claim is proven.

Now we will prove the statement (ii). Let $v \in V_E$ be such that $v \neq 0$, let $P_v \in E(k(C))$ be a lift of v and let \mathcal{E}_v be the corresponding triple. Then

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{v}) = \left\{ (\varphi, \rho) \mid \varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}, \sigma), \rho \in \mathcal{E}(C) \text{ with } \varphi \circ \tau_{v} = \tau_{v} + 3\rho \text{ on } (\mathcal{E}_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta)) \text{ and } (*) \right\},\$$

where

(*)
$$\forall_{c \in |C|} \sigma$$
 and ρ meet the same irreducible component of each \mathcal{E}_c

Identify Aut(\mathcal{E}, σ) = Aut(E, O) and $\tau_v|_{(E,O)} = P_v$, then by forgetting (*) we obtain a map

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\overline{a}}) \to \{\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(E, O) \mid \varphi(P_v) = P_v + 3\rho \text{ for some } \rho \in E(k(C))\}$$
(4.17)

$$(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto \varphi.$$

Both sets in (4.17) form a group and the map (4.17) is a group homomorphism. The kernel of (4.17) is

 $\{(\varphi, \rho) \mid \varphi = id_{\mathcal{E}}, \ \beta \rho = \sigma \text{ on } (\mathcal{E}_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta)) \text{ and } \rho \text{ lies in the connected component of the identity } \sigma\}.$

From Lemma 4.5.3 below follows that the kernel is trivial and therefore the map (4.17) is injective. Furthermore it clear that

$$\{\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(E, O) \mid \varphi(P_v) = P_v + 3\rho \text{ for some } \rho \in E(k(C))\} \subseteq \operatorname{Stab}(v),$$

where $\operatorname{Stab}(v)$ denotes the stabilizer of v under the action of $\operatorname{Aut}(E, O)$. This proves the claim (*ii*).

For the last case (*iii*) observe, that

$$\sum_{v^*} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Stab}(v^*)} = \frac{3^{r(E)} - 1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E, O)}.$$

where the sum is taken over representatives v^* of orbits in the quotient

$$\left(V_E \smallsetminus \{0\}\right) / \operatorname{Aut}(E, O)$$

Furthermore by (i) and (ii) follows, that

$$\sum_{v^*} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Stab}(v^*)} \leq \sum_{\substack{[\mathcal{E}_v] \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{C}, \omega} \\ v \in V_E \smallsetminus \{0\}}} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_v)},$$

That proves the remaining statement.

Lemma 4.5.3. [*deJ02*, Lemma 5.15] Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over C. Let P be a rational torsion point of E which extends to a section of the connected component of the Néron model N of E. Then P = O or the height of E is d = 0.

Proof. The proof in [deJ02, Lemma 5.15] is stated only for elliptic curves over $k(\mathbb{P}^1)$ however it works word by word also for elliptic curves over k(C).

Remark 4.5.4. We will show, that for non-isomorphic elliptic curves equivalence classes of associated triples in $C_{C,\omega}$ are disjoint.

We keep the assumptions on (E, O) and let (E', O') be another elliptic curve over k(C) with the minimal model $(f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma')$ and $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}'/C} = \omega$ such that $(E', O') \notin (E, O)$. Let $v \in V_E$ and $v' \in V_{E'}$ be such that $v \neq 0$ and $v' \neq 0$ and let $P_v \in$ E(k(C)) be a lift of v and $P'_{v'} \in E'(k(C))$ a lift of v'. Then $\mathcal{E}'_{v'} := (f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \tau'_{v'})$ and $\mathcal{E}_v := (f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_v)$ can not be equivalent because $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ and $f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C$ are not isomorphic. Therefore they have disjoint equivalence classes in $\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}$.

Remark 4.5.5. Let (E, O) be an elliptic curve over k(C) and consider the action from (4.13). We will show, that the given action induces an action for each elliptic curve in the isomorphism class of (E, O) that these actions are compatible and furthermore that the weighted numbers of associated triples with respect to these actions are equal.

We keep the assumptions on (E, O) and let (E', O') be another elliptic curve over k(C) with the minimal model $(f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma')$ such that $f'_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}'/C} = \omega$. We assume furthermore, that they are isomorphic and let $\alpha : E \to E'$ be an isomorphism over k(C) such that $\alpha(O) = O'$ then α induces an isomorphism

$$\overline{\alpha}_3: V_E \to V_{E'}$$

(we keep the notation from (4.14)) and an isomorphism of automorphism groups

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E,O) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(E',O')$$
$$\varphi \longmapsto \varphi' \coloneqq \alpha \circ \varphi \circ \alpha^{-1}.$$

For $\varphi' = \alpha \circ \varphi \circ \alpha^{-1}$ and $v' = \overline{\alpha}_3(v)$ with $v \in V_E$ we have an induced action given by

$$\operatorname{Aut}(E,O) \times V_{E'} \longrightarrow V_{E'}$$
$$(\varphi',v') \longmapsto \overline{\varphi'}_3(v').$$

It is not hard to show, that these actions are compatible i.e. $\overline{\varphi'}_3(v') = \overline{\alpha}_3(\overline{\varphi}_3(v))$ (notation as in (4.13)).

Now we show, that the number

$$\sum_{\substack{[\mathcal{E}_v]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_E\smallsetminus\{0\}}}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_v)}$$

is well defined in the isomorphism class of $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$. For that we assume (E, O) to be an elliptic curve over k(C) with the minimal model $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ such that $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = \omega$. Recall that

$$[(f: \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)] = \{(f': \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma') \mid \exists \alpha : \mathcal{E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{E}' \text{ over } C \text{ with } \alpha \circ \sigma = \sigma'\}.$$

Let us choose P_v to be lifts of $v \in V_E \setminus \{0\}$ to E(k(C)) and let τ_v be sections of $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ such that $\tau_v|_{(E,O)} = P_v$. Consider the map

$$[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$$

given by

$$(f': \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma') \longmapsto \sum_{\substack{[(f': \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \alpha \circ \tau_{\mathcal{V}})] \in \mathcal{C}_{C, \omega} \\ v \in V_E \smallsetminus \{0\}}} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(f': \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \alpha \circ \tau_{\mathcal{V}})}.$$
(4.18)

where α is any isomorphism between $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ and $(f : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma')$.

First of all this map is well defined, indeed if $\beta : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}'$ is another isomorphism over *C* such that $\beta \circ \sigma = \sigma'$ then for every $v \in V_E \setminus \{0\}$ the pair $(\alpha^{-1} \circ \beta, \sigma')$ is an equivalence between $(f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \alpha \circ \tau_v)$ and $(f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \beta \circ \tau_v)$ in the sense of Definition 4.3.2 and therefore

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\alpha\circ\tau_v)]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_E\smallsetminus\{0\}}}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\alpha\circ\tau_v)} = \sum_{\substack{[(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\beta\circ\tau_v)]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_E\smallsetminus\{0\}}}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\beta\circ\tau_v)}.$$

Furthermore this map is constant. Indeed, for $v \in V_E \setminus \{0\}$ the pair (α, σ) is an equivalence between the triples $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma, \tau_v)$ and $(f' : \mathcal{E}' \to C, \sigma', \alpha \circ \tau_v)$ in the sense of Definition 4.3.2 hence

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\alpha\circ\tau_v)]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_E\smallsetminus\{0\}}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f':\mathcal{E}'\to C,\sigma',\alpha\circ\tau_v)} = \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_E\smallsetminus\{0\}}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)}$$

and the claim is proven.

Theorem 4.5.6. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q . Let $d \ge 1$ and let $C_{C,\omega}$ be the weighted number of elements of the set $C_{C,\omega}$ (see: Section 4.3). Then

$$\sum_{[(E,O)],h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \leq \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} C_{C,\omega},$$

where the sum is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height d and r(E) denotes the Mordell-Weil rank of (E,O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$.

Proof. By Chapter 2, Remark 2.1.12 and Proposition 2.1.6 we have

$$\sum_{\substack{[(E,O)];h(E)=d}} \frac{3^{r(E)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} = \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\\h(\mathcal{E})=d}} \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))},$$

where the sum on the LHS is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height d and the sum on the RHS is taken over isomorphism classes of minimal elliptic surfaces $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ over k of height d. Furthermore as a consequence of Lemma 4.5.7 below the RHS can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\\h(\mathcal{E})=d}} \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))} = \sum_{\omega\in\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)} \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\\f_{*}\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}\cong\omega}} \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))}.$$

where we first sum over isomorphism classes of line bundles on *C* of degree *d* and the index $[(f:\mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)]_{f*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega}$ will always mean that we sum over isomorphism classes of minimal elliptic surfaces $(f:\mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ over *k* with $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega$.

Fix an $\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$ and let $f : \mathcal{E} \to C$ be a minimal elliptic surface with a section σ such that $f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} = \omega$ and for each $v \in V_{\mathcal{E}_{\eta}} \setminus \{0\}$ choose a lift $P_v \in \mathcal{E}_{\eta}(k(C))$ (notation as in (4.14)). Proposition 4.5.2 imply, that

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)]\in \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_{\mathcal{E}_n}\smallsetminus \{0\}}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)} \geq \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))},$$

furthermore in Remark 4.5.5 we proved, that the number

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)]\in\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_{\mathcal{E}_n}\times\{0\}}}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)}$$

is well defined in the isomorphism class of $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ and therefore we can take the sum

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)] \\ f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}\cong\omega}}\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)]\in \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega} \\ v\in V_{\mathcal{E}_\eta}\smallsetminus \{0\}}}\frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)} \geq \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)] \\ f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}\cong\omega}}\frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_\eta)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_\eta,\sigma(\eta))}.$$

On the other hand recall (see: Definition 4.3) that

$$C_{C,\omega} \coloneqq \sum_{[(f:X \to C,\sigma,\tau)] \in \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(f:X \to C,\sigma,\tau)}$$

then Remark 4.5.4 gives

$$C_{C,\omega} \geq \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\\f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}\cong\omega}} \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)]\in \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega}\\v\in V_{\mathcal{E}_\eta}\smallsetminus \{0\}}} \frac{1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma,\tau_v)}.$$

4

And as a consequence of the above inequalities

$$\sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E}\to C,\sigma)]\\f_*\omega_{\mathcal{E}/C}\cong\omega}}\frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))}\leq C_{C,\omega}.$$

To finish the proof we sum over $\omega \in \text{Pic}^{d}(C)$ and obtain

$$\sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)} \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E} \to C,\sigma)]\\f_{\ast} \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega}} \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})} - 1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta}, \sigma(\eta))} \leq \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)} C_{C,\omega}$$

Hence

$$\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} = \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} \sum_{\substack{[(f:\mathcal{E} \to C,\sigma)] \\ f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega}} \frac{3^{r(\mathcal{E}_{\eta})}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta},\sigma(\eta))} \leq \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} C_{C,\omega}.$$

That finishes the proof of the theorem.

Lemma 4.5.7. If $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \text{Pic}^d(C)$ are such that $\omega_1 \notin \omega_2$, then $\mathcal{C}_{C,\omega_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{C,\omega_2} = \emptyset$.

Proof. To prove it we assume in a way of contradiction, that $C_{C,\omega_1} \cap C_{C,\omega_2} \neq \emptyset$, then there exists a pair $(f : \mathcal{E} \to C, \sigma)$ such that $\omega_1 \cong f_* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/C} \cong \omega_2$, which contradicts the assumption on ω_i 's.

Lemma 4.5.8. Assume ω_1, ω_2 are line bundles on C of degree d. Then

$$\omega_1 \notin \omega_2 \Longrightarrow \mathcal{B}_{C,\omega_1} \cap \mathcal{B}_{C,\omega_2} = \emptyset$$

and

$$\omega_1 \notin \omega_2 \Longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega_1} \cap \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega_2} = \emptyset.$$

Proof. Assume $A_{C,\omega_1} \cap A_{C,\omega_2} \neq \emptyset$. Then there exists a pair $(g : Y \to C, D)$ (see Definition 4.1.1), such that

$$g^*\omega_1 \cong g^*\omega_2.$$

However, then

$$g_*g^*\omega_1 \cong g_*g^*\omega_2$$

$$\Rightarrow g_*(g^*\omega_1 \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y) \cong g_*(g^*\omega_2 \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y)$$

$$\Rightarrow \omega_1 \otimes g_*\mathcal{O}_Y \cong \omega_2 \otimes g_*\mathcal{O}_Y \text{ (by projection formula)}$$

$$\Rightarrow \omega_1 \cong \omega_2 \text{ (as } g_*\mathcal{O}_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_C)$$

that contradicts the assumption on ω_i 's and proves the claim. The same argument works for elements of $\mathcal{B}_{C,\omega}$.

Using Lemma 4.5.8 for $d \ge 0$ we define

$$\mathcal{A}_{C,d} \coloneqq \bigsqcup_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)} \mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$$
(4.19)

and denote by $A_{C,d}$ its number of elements. Then

$$A_{C,d} = \sum_{\omega \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)} A_{C,\omega},$$

where $A_{C,\omega}$ is the weighted number of elements in $\mathcal{A}_{C,\omega}$ (see Section 4.1)

Theorem 4.5.9. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q . Let $d \ge 1$ and let $A_{C,d}$ be the weighted number of elements in $\mathcal{A}_{C,d}$ (as in (4.19)). Then

$$\sum_{[(E,O)],h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)}-1}{\#\operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \leq A_{C,d},$$

where the sum is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height d and r(E) denotes the Mordell-Weil rank of (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$.

Proof. The bound is a consequence of Theorem 4.5.6 and the inequalities

$$C_{C,\omega} \leq B_{C,\omega} \leq A_{C,\omega},$$

obtained in Section 4.4; (4.7) and (4.12).

Theorem 4.5.10. Let (C, O) be an elliptic curve over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q of characteristic p > 7. Let $\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^n})$ denote the number of \mathbb{F}_{q^n} -rational points of C. Then

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \left(\sum_{[(E,O)];h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)} - 1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \right) \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) A}{(q-1)^5 (q+1)^2 q},$$

where the sum is taken over isomorphism classes of elliptic curves (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$ of height d and r(E) denotes the Mordell-Weil rank of (E, O) over $\mathbb{F}_q(C)$, furthermore A is given by

$$\begin{split} A &= 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)q^8 + \left(2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2\right)q^7 \\ &+ \left(\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 + 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2\right)q^6 + \left(-2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 - 4\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2\right)q^5 \\ &+ \left(-2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 - 1 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 - 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})\right)q^4 \\ &+ \left(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 + 4\right)q^3 \\ &+ \left(\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^3})^3 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})^2 + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)^2 - 1 + 2\#C(\mathbb{F}_q) + \#C(\mathbb{F}_q)\#C(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})\right)q^2 - 2q + 1 \end{split}$$

Proof. As we are interested only in the asymptotic limit we may assume that $d \ge 1$. Then the proof of the above bound follows from the inequality

$$\limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \left(\sum_{[(E,O)]; h(E)=d} \frac{3^{r(E)} - 1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(E,O)} \right) \le \limsup_{d \to \infty} q^{-10d+1} \operatorname{A}_{C,d} \le \frac{\# C(\mathbb{F}_q) A}{(q-1)^5 (q+1)^2 q},$$

which is a consequence of Theorem 4.5.9 and Proposition 3.3.7 from Section 3.3. \Box

Remark 4.5.11. The assumption that p > 7 is made for computational reasons for the bound from Proposition 3.3.7 to hold.

Bibliography

- [ArEl92] J. Kr. Arason, R. Elman, B. Jacob "On indecomposable vector bundles." Comm. Algebra 20 (1992), no. 5, 1323 – 1351.
- [At57] M. F. Atiyah, "Vector bundles over an elliptic curve." Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 7 1957, 414 – 452.
- [BS10] M. Bhargava, A. Shankar, "Binary quartic forms having bounded invariants, and the boundedness of the average rank of elliptic curves", June 9, 2010. Preprint, http://arxiv.org/pdf/1006.1002.pdf, to appear in Annals of Math.
- [Con] B. Conrad, "Grothendieck duality and base change." Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1750. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000. vi+296 pp. ISBN: 3 540 41134 8.
- [Co00] B. Conrad, "More examples", an addendum to Chapter 5 of "Grothendieck duality and base change", Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1750, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000. See http://math.stanford.edu/~conrad/ papers/moreexample.pdf
- [CD] F. R. Cossec, I. V. Dolgachev "Enriques surfaces. I." Progress in Mathematics, 76. Birkhauser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1989. x+397 pp. ISBN: 0-8176-3417-7
- [Fal86] G. Faltings "Finiteness theorems for abelian varieties over number fields." Arithmetic Geometry (Storrs, CT, 1984), Springer, New York, 1986; translated from the German original [Invent. Math. 73 (1983), no. 3, 349 366; ibid. 75 (1984), no. 2, 381] by Edward Shipz, pp. 9 27.
- [EGA III] A. Grothendieck "Éléments de géométrie algébrique (rédigés avec la collaboration de Jean Dieudonné) : III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents", Seconde partie p.5 – 91
- [EGA IV] A. Grothendieck "Éléments de géométrie algébrique (rédigés avec la collaboration de Jean Dieudonné) : IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas", Quatrieme partie p.5-361
- [SGA I], A. Grothendieck; M. Raynaud "Revetements étales et groupe fondamental (SGA 1)." Documents Mathématiques (Paris) [Mathematical Documents (Paris)], 3, Paris: Société Mathématique de France, arXiv:math/0206203, ISBN:978 – 2 – 85629 – 141 – 2, MR2017446
- [HN74] G. Harder, M. S. Narasimhan "On the cohomology groups of moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves." Math. Ann. 212 (1974/75), 215 – 248.
- [Har] R. Hartshorne "Algebraic geometry." Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977. xvi+496 pp. ISBN: 0-387-90244-9

- [Hei10] G. Hein "Faltings construction of the moduli space of vector bundles on a smooth projective curve.", Affine Flag Manifolds and Prinicipal bundles, Trends in Mathematics, Springer Basel 2010, 91 – 122
- [HP05] G. Hein, D. Ploog "Fourier-Mukai transforms and stable bundles on elliptic curves." Beiträge Algebra Geom. 46, (2005), no. 2, 423 434.
- [HL] D. Huybrechts, M. Lehn "The geometry of moduli spaces of sheaves." Aspects of Mathematics, E31. Friedr. Vieweg and Sohn, Braunschweig, 1997. xiv+269 pp. ISBN: 3 – 528 – 06907 – 4
- [IMP03] S. Ilangovan, V. B. Mehta, A. J. Parameswaran, "Semistability and semisimplicity in representations of low height in positive characteristic." A tribute to C. S. Seshadri (Chennai, 2002), 271 – 282, Trends Math., Birkhauser, Basel, 2003.
- [deJ02] A. J. de Jong, "Counting elliptic surfaces over finite fields." Dedicated to Yuri I. Manin on the occasion of his 65th birthday. Mosc. Math. J. 2 (2002), no. 2, 281 – 311.
- [KM] N. Katz; B. Mazur: "Arithmetic moduli of elliptic curves." Annals of Mathematics Studies, 108. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1985. xiv+514 pp. ISBN: 0 – 691 – 08349 – 5; 0 – 691 – 08352 – 5
- [K111] R. Kloosterman "The average rank of elliptic n-folds." Indiana University Mathematics Journal 61:131 – 146 (2012) (see also: arXiv:1010.0152v2)
- [Lan75] S. G. Langton "Valuative criteria for families of vector bundles on algebraic varieties." Ann. of Math. (2) 101 (1975), 88 110.
- [LeP] Le Potier "Lectures on vector bundles." Translated by A. Maciocia. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 54. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997. viii+251 pp. ISBN: 0 – 521 – 48182 – 1
- [Liu] Q. Liu: "Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves." Translated from the French by Reinie Erné. Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 6. Oxford Science Publications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002. xvi+576 pp. ISBN: 0 – 19 – 850284 – 2
- [Maz78] B. Mazur "Modular curves and the Eisenstein ideal." Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 47 (1977), 33 – 186 (1978). MR488287
- [Mil] J. S. Milne: "Etale cohomology." Princeton Mathematical Series, 33. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980. xiii+323 pp. ISBN: 0 – 691 – 08238 – 3
- [Mil75] J. S. Milne "On a conjecture of Artin and Tate." Ann. of Math. (2) 102 (1975), 517 533.
- [Mir89] R. Miranda "The basic theory of elliptic surfaces.", Dottorato di Ricerca in Matematica, Dipartimento di Matematica dell' Universita di Pisa, ETS Editrice Pisa 1989
- [Mor22] L. J. Mordell "On the rational solutions of the indeterminate equations of the third and fourth degrees." Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 21 (1922), 179 192.
- [Mum] D. Mumford "Abelian varieties." With appendices by C. P. Ramanujam and Yuri Manin. Corrected reprint of the second (1974) edition. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Mathematics, 5. Published for the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay; by Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2008. xii+263 pp. ISBN: 978 – 81 – 85931 – 86 – 9;

- [MS52] D. Mumford, K. Suominen "Introduction to the theory of moduli." Algebraic geometry, Oslo 1970 (Proc. Fifth Nordic Summer-School in Math.), pp. 171 – 222. Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen, 1972.
- [Ner] A. Néron, "Problèmes arithmètiques et géométriques rattachés la notion de rang d'une courbe algébrique dans un corps." Bull. Soc. Math. France 80, (1952), 101 – 166.
- [Poi01] H. Poincaré, "Sur les propriétés arithmétiques des courbes algébriques," J. Pures Appl. Math. (5) 7 (1901), 161 – 234.
- [Pol] A. Polishchuk "Abelian varieties, theta functions and the Fourier transform." Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 153. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003. xvi+292 pp. ISBN: 0 – 521 – 80804 – 9
- [Poo12] B. Ponnen, "Average ranks of elliptic curves [after Manjul Bhargava and Arul Shankar]" http://www-math.mit.edu/~poonen/papers/ Expl049.pdf
- [Pum04] S. Pumplün "Vector bundles and symmetric bilinear forms over curves of genus one and arbitrary index." Math. Z. 246 (2004), no. 3, 563 – 602.
- [SS] M. Schütt, T. Shioda: "Elliptic surfaces." Algebraic geometry in East Asia, Seoul 2008, 51 – 160, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 60, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2010.
- [Sil1] J. H. Silverman " The arithmetic of elliptic curves." Second edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 106. Springer, Dordrecht, 2009.
- [Sil2] J. H. Silverman "Advanced topics in the arithmetic of elliptic curves." Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 151. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994.
- [Sun99] X. Sun "*Remarks on semistability of G-bundles in positive characteristic.*" Compositio Math. 119 (1999), no. 1, 41 52.
- [Tat72] J. T. Tate "Algorithm for determining the type of a singular fibre in an elliptic pencil." in: Modular functions of one variable IV (Antwerpen 1972), Lect. Notes in Math. 476 (1975), 33 – 52.
- [Tat66] J. T. Tate "On the conjectures of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer and a geometric analog." Seminaire bourbaki, vol. 9, 1966, pp. Exp. No. 306, 415 440.
- [Til83] A. Tillmann, "Unzerlegbare Vektorbündel über algebraischen Kurven." Thesis at the Fernuniversität in Hagen, 1983 (unpublished).
- [Ulm] D. Ulmer "Elliptic curves over function fields." Arithmetic of L-functions, 211 – 280, IAS/Park City Math. Ser., 18, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011.(see also http://arxiv.org/pdf/1101.1939v1.pdf)
- [Ulm04] D. Ulmer "Elliptic curves and analogies between number fields and function fields." Heegner points and Rankin L-series, 285 – 315, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 49, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2004.

Der Lebenslauf ist in der Online-Version aus Gründen des Datenschutzes nicht enthalten.

Der Lebenslauf ist in der Online-Version aus Gründen des Datenschutzes nicht enthalten.

Zusammenfassung

Die rationalen Punkte auf elliptischen Kurven gehören zu den wichtigsten Objekten der arithmetischen Theorie. Ein Messwert für die Größe der Gruppe der rationalen Punkte einer elliptischen Kurve ist ihr Rang. Dieser ist definiert, als die minimale Anzahl an rationalen Punkten auf der gegebenen elliptischen Kurve, die benötigt werden, um all solche Punkte zu erzeugen.

Es gibt bereits viele Heuristiken und Vermutungen bezüglich des Ranges, doch es ist keine allgemeine Methode bekannt, ihn zu bestimmen. Um das Problem zu vereinfachen, stellt man sich folgende Frage: Wie verhält sich der Rang im Durchschnitt? Ordnet man die über den rationalen Zahlen definierten elliptischen Kurven nach ihrer Höhe, so besagt ein erst kürzlich erzieltes Resultat von Bhargava und Shankar [BS10], dass der Rang nach oben durch 1,5 beschränkt ist.

Selbstverständlich würde man auch gerne in anderen Fällen eine ähnliche Aussage erlangen, zum Beispiel im Falle eines Funktionenkörpers. Man betrachte eine glatte, geometrisch zusammenhängende, projektive Kurve über einem endlichen Körper und ordne die elliptischen Kurven über dem Funktionenkörper dieser gegebenen Kurve nach ihrer Höhe. In [deJ02] gibt de Jong eine obere Schranke für den durchschnittlichen Rang elliptischer Kurven über dem Funktionenkörper der projektiven Geraden an. Für die Berechnung dieser Schranke, zählt er integre Modelle geometrischer Objekte, denn diese repräsentieren Elemente gewisser Gruppen.

In erster Linie beschäftigt sich diese Dissertation mit elliptischen Kurven über Funktionenkörpern elliptischer Kurven und liefert Fortschritte über Schranken für den durchschnittlichen Rang solcher Kurven. Dabei wird hauptsächlich de Jongs Methode verwendet.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst zu haben. Alle verwendeten Hilfsmittel sind aufgeführt. Des Weiteren versichere ich, dass diese Arbeit nicht in dieser oder ähnlicher Form an einer weiteren Universität im Rahmen eines Prüfungsverfahrens eingereicht wurde.

Anna Fluder